
 
 

 
 

AGENDA PAPERS FOR 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE MEETING 

 

Date: Thursday, 13 September 2018 
 

Time:  6.30 pm 
 

Place:  Committee Suite, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, Manchester 
M32 0TH 

 
 

AGENDA    ITEM 
 

1.  ATTENDANCES   
 
To note attendances, including Officers and any apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.  MINUTES   
 
To receive and, if so determined, to approve as a correct record the Minutes 
of the meeting held on 9th August, 2018.  
 

 
 
 

2 

3.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT   
 
To consider a report of the Head of Planning and Development, to be tabled 
at the meeting.  
 

 

4.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC   
 
To consider the attached reports of the Head of Planning and Development, 
for the following applications.  
 

Application Site Address/Location of Development 

93960 16 Station Bridge, Station Road, Urmston, M41 9SB 

94004 

Land To The Rear Of 3 And 4 Grange Road, 
Bowdon, WA14 3EB 

94048 

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, 
WA13 9TW 

94049 

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, 
WA13 9TW 

 
 
 

4 

Public Document Pack

https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5HF2IQLHF300
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5OWI7QLHJ300
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5XNPRQLHMU00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5XNQOQLHMV00


Planning and Development Management Committee - Thursday, 13 September 
2018 

   
 

94128 42 Brook Avenue, Timperley, WA15 6SJ 

94206 11 Lyndhurst Avenue, Davyhulme 

94601 

Land Known As Carrington Village On Land Off 
Manchester Road, Carrington 

94632 Bay Malton Hotel, Seamons Road, Altrincham 
 

5.  REVISION OF APPLICATION VALIDATION CHECKLIST   
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning and Development.  
 

 
 

5 

6.  PROPOSED STOPPING UP OF HIGHWAY AT THOMAS STREET AND 
ADJOINING FOOTWAY, OAKFIELD ROAD CAR PARK, ALTRINCHAM 
WA15 8EP   
 
To consider the attached report.  
 

 
 
 
 

6 

7.  URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)   
 
Any other item or items which by reason of special circumstances (to be 
specified) the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion should be considered 
at this meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
JIM TAYLOR 
Interim Chief Executive 
 
Membership of the Committee 
 
Councillors L. Walsh (Chairman), A.J. Williams (Vice-Chairman), Dr. K. Barclay, 
D. Bunting, T. Carey, G. Coggins, N. Evans, D. Hopps, S. Longden, E. Malik, E. Patel, 
E.W. Stennett and M. Whetton 
 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 
 
Michelle Cody, Democratic & Scrutiny Officer 
Tel: 0161 912 2775 
Email: michelle.cody@trafford.gov.uk  
 
This agenda was issued on 4th September, 2018 by the Legal and Democratic 
Services Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford           
M32 0TH.  
 
Any person wishing to photograph, film or audio-record a public meeting is requested to 
inform Democratic Services in order that necessary arrangements can be made for the 
meeting. 
 
Please contact the Democratic Services Officer 48 hours in advance of the meeting if 
you intend to do this or have any queries. 
 

https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P6B0DKQLHUC00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P6WYLKQLI4A00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P8X3UHQLJ4W00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P94GEGQL01T00


 PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
 9th AUGUST, 2018 
 
 PRESENT:  
 
 Councillor Walsh (In the Chair),  
 Councillors Dr. Barclay, Bunting, Chilton (Substitute), N. Evans, Hopps, 

Jerrome (Substitute), Malik, Patel, Stennett MBE, Whetton and Williams.  
 
 In attendance:  Head of Planning and Development (Mrs. R. Coley),  
 Planning and Development Manager – East Area (Mr. S. Day),   
 Major Project Planning Officer (Ms. D. Harrison),  
 Principal Highways & Traffic Engineer (Amey) (Mr. G. Evenson), 
 Principal Solicitor (Mr. T. Rhodes),  
 Solicitor (Ms. J. Cobern),  
 Democratic & Scrutiny Officer (Miss M. Cody).  
 
 Also present: Councillors Bowker MBE, Cordingley, Mrs. L. Evans, Mitchell and 

Mrs. Young.  
 
 APOLOGIES 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Carey, Coggins and Longden.  
   
17.  MINUTES  
 
    RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12th July, 2018, be approved 

as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 
18. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report informing Members of 

additional information received regarding applications for planning permission to be 
determined by the Committee.  

 
   RESOLVED:  That the report be received and noted.  
 
19.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC 
 
 (a) Permission granted subject to standard conditions prescribed by statute, if any, and 

to any other conditions now determined  
 

 Application No., Address or Site 
 

 Description 

 93987/FUL/18 – Library, 405 
Stockport Road, Timperley.  

 Proposed demolition of existing library 
building and construction of a ground floor 
medical practice (D1) and retail unit (A1), a 
first floor library with community rooms, and 
4no flats (C3) on the second floor. To the rear 

Agenda Item 2



Planning and Development Management Committee 

9th August, 2018  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

of the site, a reconfiguration of the car park to 
allow construction of a block of 25 no. 
apartments with first floor deck parking with 
hard and soft landscape works. 
 

 93998/FUL/18 – Bowdon Lawn 
Tennis Club, Elcho Road, Bowdon.  

 Erection of 17no. floodlighting columns with a 
maximum height of 7 metres supporting 26no. 
luminaires with LED lamps to provide lighting 
to courts 6-9. 
 

 94319/FUL/18 – 199 Ashley Road, 
Hale.  

 Change of use from a Bank (Use Class A2) to 
a Restaurant (Use Class A3). Erection of a 
part single/part two storey rear extension 
following demolition of the existing brick store. 
Creation of an external seating area to the 
front with planters and awnings. Creation of a 
first floor front terrace area (with glass 
balustrade) for staff use only. External 
alterations to include new windows alongside 
new ventilation and condenser units. 
 

 94416/HHA/18 – 11 Haydock Drive, 
Timperley.  

 Erection of a side extension and roof 
alterations to include a dormer and new first 
floor for extra living space. 
 

 94747/FUL/18 – Former Kellogg’s 
Building, Talbot Road, Stretford.  

 Full planning permission for change of use to 
part educational use (Use Class D1) and part 
office space (Use Class B1), together with 
ancillary IT demonstration/experience centre 
(Use Class D1), cafe (Use Class A3) and 
external alterations including selective 
demolition to facilitate conversion, 
landscaping, public realm and other 
associated works. 
 

 [Note: In respect of Application 94747/FUL/18 Councillor Jerrome stated that although 
he attended the meeting at which the Green Party objection to the development was 
approved that he was approaching the application with an open mind and with no 
preconceptions and that he would listen fully to the debate and carefully weigh up all 
the relevant planning considerations before making a decision on the matter.  Also the 
Chair, on behalf of all Members of the Committee, declared a Personal Interest in 
Application 94747/FUL/18 as the Council were joint Applicants.]  
 

 (b)  Permission refused for the reasons now determined  
 

 Application No., Address or Site 
 

 Description 

 94257/FUL/18 – 211 Dane Road, 
Sale.  

 Change of use from a residential dwelling 
(Use Class C3) to a childrens day nursery 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

9th August, 2018  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

(Use Class D1) for up to 30 children. 
 

 
 The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and concluded at 8.10 pm.  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 13th SEPTEMBER 2018   
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
 

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP, ETC.  
 

PURPOSE 
To consider applications for planning permission and related matters to be 
determined by the Committee.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
As set out in the individual reports attached. Planning conditions referenced in reports 
are substantially in the form in which they will appear in the decision notice. Correction 
of typographical errors and minor drafting revisions which do not alter the thrust or 
purpose of the condition may take place before the decision notice is issued. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 
PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

Further information from: Planning Services  
Proper Officer for the purposes of the L.G.A. 1972, s.100D (Background papers): 
Head of Planning and Development  
 

Background Papers:  
In preparing the reports on this agenda the following documents have been used:  

1. The Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy. 
2. The GM Joint Waste Development Plan Document. 
3. The GM Joint Minerals Development Plan Document. 
4. The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (2006). 
5. Supplementary Planning Documents specifically referred to in the reports.  
6. Government advice (National Planning Policy Framework, Circulars, practice guidance 

etc.).  
7. The application file (as per the number at the head of each report).  
8. The forms, plans, committee reports and decisions as appropriate for the historic 

applications specifically referred to in the reports.  
9. Any additional information specifically referred to in each report.   

 
These Background Documents are available for inspection at Planning Services, 1st Floor, 
Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, Manchester M32 0TH.  

Agenda Item 4



  
TRAFFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 13th September 2018  

 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development  

 
INDEX OF APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP etc. PLACED ON 
THE AGENDA FOR DECISION BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

Applications for Planning Permission  

Application 
Site Address/Location of 
Development 

Ward Page Recommendation 

93960 

16 Station Bridge, Station 
Road, Urmston, M41 9SB 

Urmston 1 Grant 

94004 

Land To The Rear Of 3 And 4 
Grange Road, Bowdon, WA14 
3EB 

Bowdon 11 Grant 

94048 

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, 
Warburton, WA13 9TW 

Bowdon 44 Refusal 

94049 

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, 
Warburton, WA13 9TW 

Bowdon 68 Grant 

94128 

42 Brook Avenue, Timperley 
WA15 6SJ 

Broadheath 78 Grant 

94206 

11 Lyndhurst Avenue, 
Davyhulme 

Davyhulme 
East 

94 Grant 

94601 

Land Known As Carrington 
Village On Land Off 
Manchester Road, Carrington 

Bucklow St 
Martins 

110 Grant 

94632 

Bay Malton Hotel, Seamons 
Road, Altrincham 

Broadheath 142 Grant 

 

https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5HF2IQLHF300
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5OWI7QLHJ300
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5XNPRQLHMU00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P5XNQOQLHMV00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P6B0DKQLHUC00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P6WYLKQLI4A00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P8X3UHQLJ4W00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P94GEGQL01T00


 

 
 

WARD: Urmston 
 

93960/FUL/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Creation of a rear beer garden with enclosed fencing. 

 
16 Station Bridge, Station Road, Urmston, M41 9SB 
 

APPLICANT:  Mrs Foster 
AGENT:    

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to No. 16 Station Bridge, a public house sited to the western 
side of Station Road, Urmston. Situated within the Urmston Town Centre, the 
application site is bound to its north by the train line, with commercial units sited beyond 
that. To its south and east lie commercial units, with some having residential uses 
above. To the site’s west lie residential dwellings fronting onto Walmsley Grove. A car 
park is also located to the rear of the properties on Walmsley Grove, on the southern 
boundary of the application site. It is owned and managed by Network Rail but is 
available for use by customers of the public house.   
 
The application site consists of the main public house, a part two storey detached 
building with a pitched roof design, with a large rear yard, this shares a boundary with 
21 Walmsley Grove, and contains a single storey flat roofed outbuilding directly 
adjacent to the train line. This area is currently in use as storage, in association with the 
public house.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application proposes the formation of an external beer garden within the existing 
rear yard, sited to the west of the application site. This would be bound by 2m acoustic 
fencing to its western side and would feature a small area of artificial lawn. The beer 
garden would be accessed from the main public house as well as the site’s car park via 
the site’s existing access gates. It is proposed to be in use until 21:00 hours.  
 
The storage area, existing outbuilding and wooden shed would be retained on site. The 
closest point of the beer garden to the rear boundary with 21 Walmsley Grove would be 
4m extending to 6m at the furthest point. The proposed 2m high acoustic fence and 
gates would separate the beer garden from the retained storage area. There would also 
be direct access from the car park area to the south.  
 
The proposed plan submitted to accompany the application shows an indicative layout 
for 66 covers within the beer garden. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 1



 

 
 

 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford Comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
L4 - Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L7 - Design 
L8 - Planning Obligations 
W1 - Economy 
W2 - Town Centres and Retail 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 

 
Urmston Town Centre 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DHCLG published the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24 
July 2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 2



 

 
 

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 

DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
None 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
None 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

Local Highways Authority: 
 
Raise no objections to the proposed development.  
 
Pollution and Licensing: 
 
Raise no objections to the proposed development, commenting that the degree of 
separation from the adjacent house, together with the proposed screening, should 
assist in ensuring that any impacts are not significant. They note that the use of the beer 
garden at more sensitive times could result in an adverse impact so would recommend  
planning conditions relating to the implementation of the proposed screening and a 
restriction on the use of the beer garden by patrons beyond 21:00 hours.  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

A single letter of objection was received in response to the development proposals; this 
raised the following areas of concern: 
 

 Applicant already has outdoor seating accommodating up to 200 customers 

 Noise and nuisance from existing activities  

 Impact on amenity  

 Intensification of site 

 Impact on light from fencing 

 Impact upon privacy 

 Pollution from smokers  

 Additional impact upon parking  
 
A petition with signatures from 20 addresses close to the site, including 4 properties on 
Walmsley Grove, residents at Eden Square and a number of nearby businesses was 
also received in response to the development proposals, raising their objection to the 
proposals. This highlighted the following areas of additional concern: 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 3



 

 
 

 

 Increase in noise and nuisance 

 Impact upon residential amenity 

 Impact upon highway and parking safety  
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
DESIGN AND STREET SCENE  
 

1. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve.  Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work.”  Paragraph 127 states that decisions should 
ensure that developments “will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area…are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping…are sympathetic to local character and 
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting.”   
 

2. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in considering applications for 
development within the Borough, the Council will determine whether or not the 
proposed development meets the standards set in national guidelines and the 
requirements of Policy L7.   

 
3. The existing rear yard is bound by a 2m high feather edge fence, with a single 

set of access gates within its south facing side elevation; allowing for access 
from the sites car park. The proposed creation of the beer garden would not see 
any alterations to this existing arrangement and as such the proposals would 
have limited impact upon visual amenity or upon the site when viewed from the 
wider street-scene.  

 
4. Internally a new 2m acoustic fence is proposed to the west of the site, this would 

separate the proposed beer garden from of the retained storage area, which 
would be sited towards the western most side of the site. A set of access gates 
would also be erected in order to allow for access between the two areas. Details 
of the acoustic fencing have been submitted and although these are considered 
acceptable in their height, their finish has not been specified. As such details of 
these, alongside full details for the proposed access gates, will be conditioned to 
be submitted to and approved by the Council, as part of any subsequent consent.  

 
5. No changes are proposed to the exterior of the public house. The existing 

outbuildings to the rear of the public house would remain.   
 

6. The proposed development would therefore work to enhance and improve the 
appearance of this existing vacant section of the site, by bringing this back into 
use as a beer garden. The proposed alterations are considered to be of an 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 4



 

 
 

acceptable scale and these are not considered to have an undue impact upon 
the visual amenities of the site itself or the wider street-scene. As such the 
proposed works are considered to be acceptable and are considered to remain in 
compliance with the relevant policies from within the NPPF, in relation to design 
and sustainable development, alongside policy L7 of the Core Strategy.  

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY   
 

7. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity  
development must not prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the 
development and/or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise or disturbance, odour or in 
any other way. 
 

Overlooking: 
 

8. The proposed beer garden would be sited 4m away from the site’s western 
boundary at its closest point. A 2m internal fence would be erected at this 
juncture with a further existing 2m fence forming the sites western boundary, with 
residential units on Walmsley Grove. As such it is considered that the proposed 
development would not result in any undue overlooking from users of the 
proposed beer garden given the form of boundary treatment and the distances 
involved.  

 
Loss of light and outlook: 
 

9. The proposed development is not considered to result in any undue loss in light 
or outlook for existing neighbouring occupiers. 

 
Noise and nuisance: 
 

10. The applicants have stated within the application that the beer garden would 
close by 21:00hrs on any day. The existing public house has no hours of 
operation controls imposed upon it and the site is also situated within a town 
centre, where such uses are considered acceptable and other sites of this nature 
have similar opening hours.  
 

11. A 4m separation distance would be achieved from the western boundary of the 
site, with dwellings on Walmsley Grove sited a further 10m away. It should be 
noted that 21 Walmsley Drive has the National Rail owned car park and the 
railway line on its boundaries. Any noise from the proposed beer garden needs to 
be seen in that context. 

 
12. A 2m acoustic fence would be erected to the beer gardens western boundary, in 

order to mitigate against any increased noise and nuisance. A condition to this 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 5



 

 
 

effect, requiring this to be erected, prior to the beer garden coming into first use, 
is recommended as part of any subsequent planning consent.   
 

13. It is noted that the use of the sites external space as a beer garden would be 
more intensive than the existing situation on site and therefore could impact upon 
the amenity of neighbouring residents during sensitive hours. It is therefore 
considered appropriate that an hours of use condition be attached to any 
subsequent planning consent, ensuring that the beer garden only be in use until: 

 
- 20:00 on Sunday, Public Holidays and Bank Holidays and,  
- 21:00 on Monday to Saturday.  

 
14. This will ensure that the external space is not in use during sensitive hours. 

 
15. A further condition requiring the applicants to submit for approval to the Council, 

a Noise Management Plan is also recommended as part of any subsequent 
planning consent. This will require full details for: 

 
- A designated smoking area for staff and customers sited away from sensitive 

receptors, 
- Full details of how the management will ensure the beer garden is fully 

vacated by the approved closing hours as outlined above, 
- Full details for any signage to advise customers on the beer gardens 

restrictions and details of where these will be positioned on site, 
- Contact details for the management team in order to be contacted by 

neighbours, should any noise/nuisance related concerns require addressing; 
- Details for how often the plan will be reviewed and amended where 

appropriate by staff.  
 

The Noise Management Plan shall then be implemented in full on site and 
retained as such thereafter.  

 
16. A further condition to ensure that no external music is played within the proposed 

beer garden at any time is also recommended to be attached to any subsequent 
planning consent in order to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring land users.  

 
Conclusion: 
 

17. Subject to the attachment of the above condition, the development proposals are 
not considered to result in any new undue amenity concerns for the residential 
properties adjacent and close to the application site  and as such are found to be 
in compliance with Policy L7 of the TBC Core strategy.  

 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 6



 

 
 

PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY: 
 
Appropriateness of Access:  
 

18. Existing access to the site is to be retained. This arrangement is considered 
acceptable.  

 
Servicing Arrangements: 
 

19. No changes are proposed to the existing servicing arrangements of the site.  
 
Car Parking, including disabled provision: 
 

20. The application would not see an increase in the site’s onsite parking provision.  
 

21. The application site however is situated within a own Centre location with a 
number of public transport links sited in close proximity to the site, alongside 
public car parks. As such, given the nature of the proposals, and the fact that this 
is an existing public house in operation within this location, the proposals are not 
considered to result in any new undue parking or highway related concerns.  

 
22. The development as proposed is therefore not considered to result in any new 

undue parking or highway/public safety concerns and as such is considered to be 
in accordance with policy L4 of the Trafford Borough Council Core Strategy.  

 
CONCLUSION:  
 

23. The proposed development would bring investment to this area of the borough. 
The works would see no external alterations to the main public house and would 
see the refurbishment of its rear outdoor space. It is also considered that any 
development impacts associated with the scheme can be mitigated through the 
use of appropriate planning conditions, where necessary. As such it is 
considered that the proposed development represents a sustainable form of 
development which complies with all relevant Policies set out in the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the NPPF.   

 
RECOMMENDATION: subject to the following conditions  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 7



 

 
 

2. Notwithstanding the details submitted, no above ground works shall take place until 
samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the building (including: fencing and access gate details) hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory external appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 

 
3. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers: 04/2018/04, 
04/2018/02 and 04/2018/03. 
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy. 

 
4. The beer garden herby approved shall not be used by patrons of the premises 

outside of the following hours:  
 

- Monday to Saturday  12:00 – 21:00, 
- Sundays, Public Holidays and Bank Holidays: 11:30 – 20:00 

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no amplified music/sound shall be 
played in the beer garden. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. The beer garden hereby approved shall not be brought into use unless and until a 
Noise Management Plan (NMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include full details of: 
 

 Beer glass collection, 

 A designated smoking area for staff and customers sited away from sensitive 
receptors, 

 Full details of how the management will ensure the beer garden is fully 
vacated by the approved closing hours, 

 Full details for any signage to advise customers on the beer gardens 
restrictions and details of where these will be positioned on site, 

 Contact details for the management team in order to be contacted by 
neighbours, should any noise/nuisance related concerns require addressing; 

 Details for how often the plan will be reviewed and amended where 
appropriate by staff.  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 8



 

 
 

 
The approved Noise Management Plan shall be adhered to at all times after the beer 
garden has been brought into use. 
 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 and 
of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. The development as hereby approved shall not be brought into use, until the 
acoustic fencing, as shown on plan numbers: 04/2018/04, 04/2018/02 and 
04/2018/03 has been erected on site. The acoustic fencing shall then be retained as 
such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 and 
of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
IG 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 9



E

E

F

EE

EEE

EEE

FF

EE

URMSTON

1

2

5

3

4

7

Club

Bridge
Station

Car

S
TA

T
IO

N
 R

O
A

D

40

14
12

17 15

82

10
30

16

28

13

35

19

21

2a

27

9c
9a

S
tatio

n
 B

rid
g

e

2b

9b

11

7 9

SL

PH

11
a

FLIXTON ROAD

WALMSLEY GROVE

TCB

6 to 8

5 to 7

ROYAL AVENUE

23.3m

24.4m

25.0m

24.0m

MP 29

32 to 34
22 to 26

10 to 20

2 to 4

2

2

W
A

L
M

S
L

E
Y

 G
R

O
V

E

3

17

2

1

10

11

3

2

1

28

2

1

1

5

1

Bridge

1

40

2

2

14

5

3

15

1

10

11

Urmston Station

ParkPark

MP 29.0
Shelters

Shelters

20

YN AVENUE

Post O

TCB

TCB

Car

S
L

E
Y

 G
R

O
V

E

S
tatio

n

12

16

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

93960/FUL/18

16 Station Bridge, Station Road, Urmston, M41 9SB

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 10



 
 

WARD: Bowdon 
 

94004/FUL/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Erection of 4 no. semi-detached dwellings with associated landscaping and 
boundary treatments. 

 
Land To The Rear Of 3 And 4 Grange Road, Bowdon, WA14 3EB 
 

APPLICANT:  Mount Crescent Ltd 
AGENT:  GA Studio Architects 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
This application is to be determined by the Planning and Development 
Management Committee as there have been 6 or more representations contrary to 
the officer recommendation. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a roughly rectangular site approximately 0.13 ha in size which 
slopes down approximately 4 metres from north to south.  The site is currently accessed 
via an access track off Grange Road to the northeast. The site is covered by dense 
scrub vegetation and there are several dilapidated outbuildings evident across the site, 
which appear to be remnants from a former use as a plant nursery. The site is currently 
secured by metal security fencing along the Grange Road frontage and to the access 
track to the north. 
 
The site is largely surrounded by residential properties. There is a gap in the properties 
between No’s 3 and 4 Grange Road where the application site abuts Grange Road. No. 
3 to the northeast of the site has accommodation over four floors and has a garden area 
on the southern side. The vehicular access track runs along the southern boundary of 
this garden leading to garages / parking areas for existing houses to the northeast. No’s 
4 and 5 Grange Road are semi-detached dwellings to the southeast of the site. The 
main garden area for No. 4 is to the northern side of the house. The houses backing 
onto the site to the north, northeast and southeast on Langham Road and Grange Road 
are attractive historic properties located within the Bowdon Conservation Area.  
 
Adjoining the southern boundary of the site is a pair of semi-detached houses on Ash 
Grove (No’s 26 and 28). These properties have relatively short rear gardens and are at 
a lower level than the application site.  
 
Adjoining the site to the west are the rear boundaries of houses fronting Vicarage Lane. 
There are mature trees along the garden boundaries with these properties. No. 7 
Vicarage Lane is set back on its plot and has a shorter rear garden than the other 
adjoining properties on Vicarage Lane as a result.  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 11



 
 

 
There are various types and heights of boundary treatments to the adjoining properties 
including walls and wooden fencing.  
 
To the east of the site, across Grange Road, are substantial modern terraced houses 
with undercroft parking.  
 
The Grange Road frontage of the site and the northern extent of the site comprising the 
existing access track and surfaced parking area are within the Bowdon Conservation 
Area.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Permission is sought for the erection of two pairs of semi-detached dwellings (four new 
dwellings in total).  
 
The houses are roughly centrally positioned within the site with front elevations facing 
east toward Grange Road. The properties gradually step down from north to south to 
reflect the topography of the land.  
 
The properties have a gabled fronted design with pitched roofs and dormers. The 
dwellings have accommodation over three floors with the second floor largely set within 
the roof space. The ridge heights of the proposed dwellings above the various plot 
ground levels range from 9.5 metres to 10.7 metres. Plots 1-3 have single storey 
elements to the rear and Plot 4 at the southern end of the site has single storey 
elements to the side and rear and a flat roofed double garage to the front / side.  
 
The materials proposed are buff/cream brick as the primary external treatment with a 
grey slate roof. A weathered brown/gold metal cladding is proposed for use on the 
dormers, front door and window frames in addition to a light timber within the entrance 
porch.  
 
The proposed access to the new dwellings would be adjacent to the northern garden 
boundary of No. 4 Grange Road with intervening hedging and recessed timber gates off 
Grange Road and a brick boundary wall to Grange Road. The existing access to the 
south of No. 3 Grange Road would remain open as at present to provide access to the 
rear of the properties to the north / northeast. 
 
A total of 10 parking spaces are proposed, two of which are within the garage in Plot 4. 
 
Value Added: - The scheme has been redesigned to move Plot 4 further away from the 
houses to the south and a reduction in plot level and floor to ceiling heights has also 
been made and the second floor layout reconfigured to prevent overlooking. The access 
has been relocated to allow separate vehicular access to the parking areas to the rear 
of 3, Grange Road.    
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 12



 
 

The total floorspace of the proposed new dwellings would be 1038 m2. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this planning application the Development Plan in Trafford 
comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 – Land for New Homes 
L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Part of the site is within the Bowdon Conservation Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
ENV21 – Conservation Areas 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE/DOCUMENTS 
SPD5.9 Bowdon Conservation Area Appraisal (2016) 
SPD5.9a Bowdon Conservation Area Management Plan (2016) 
PG1 New Residential Development (2004) 
Revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014) 
SPD3: Parking Standards and Design (2012) 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 13



 
 

be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DHCLG published the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24 
July 2018. The revised NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 
OTHER RELEVANT LEGISLATION 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
74612/FULL/2010 - Erection of 14 no. two bedroom affordable, shared ownership 
apartments in four storey building (including basement) with associated car parking and 
detached triple garage. Landscape throughout – Approved 2013 
 
H/64908 - Erection of four car garage – Approved 2006 
 
H/64296 - Erection of 10 no. two and three bedroom affordable, shared-ownership 
apartments in three storey building with associated parking – Finally disposed of 2013 
 
H/63075 - Erection of 12 no. two and three bedroom affordable, shared-ownership 
apartments in three storey building with associated parking – Refused 2006 
 
H/CC/61017 – Conservation Area Consent for demolition of redundant nursery buildings 
– Withdrawn 2004 
 
H/60929 – Erection of three detached dwellings and garage block and alterations to 
vehicular access following demolition of nursery buildings – Withdrawn 2005 
 
H36341 - Demolition of two single garages and erection of double garage – Approved 
1993 
 
H29001 - Erection of a detached dwelling house – Withdrawn 1989 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 14



 
 

APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The applicant has submitted the following information in support of the application which 
will be referred to as necessary within this report:- 
 
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
Heritage Statement 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement 
Ecological Survey 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
LHA – No objections subject to appropriate conditions. Comments are discussed in 
more detail in the Observations section of the report.  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority – No objections subject to appropriate conditions. 
Comments are discussed in more detail in the Observations section of the report.  
 
Pollution and Housing (Nuisance) - No objections subject to appropriate conditions 
relating to noise from plant and equipment, lighting and the submission of an 
Environmental Management Plan for the construction works.  
 
Pollution and Housing (Contaminated Land) – No contaminated land conditions 
required.  
 
GM Ecology Unit – No objections subject to conditions to mitigate the ecological 
impacts of the scheme. Comments are discussed in more detail in the Observations 
section of the report. 
 
United Utilities - No objections subject to appropriate conditions. State that a sewer 
diversion may be required and the applicant should contact United Utilities in relation to 
this. 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Neighbours: 10, objections received in relation to the plans originally submitted. 
Grounds of objection summarised as follows: 
 

- Excessive height and scale of development. Too high in relation to neighbouring 
properties and too close to boundaries. Leads to visual intrusion, overbearing 
and overshadowing impacts and loss of sunlight. No evidence provided to 
demonstrate impacts on shading  

- Windows and terraces will result in loss of privacy 
- Distances not compliant with Council policy  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 15



 
 

- Difference in levels between site and existing off site properties not clear and 
exacerbate impacts. Gardens of adjacent properties are small and this also 
exacerbates the proximity impacts.  

- Previous permissions did not have the same overlooking, overshadowing 
impacts.  

- Noise pollution from winter gardens and noise and pollution from parking spaces 
adjacent to neighbours’ garden boundaries 

- Design not typical of the conservation area – out of keeping. Should be 
redesigned.  

- Lack of on street parking during construction works  
- Traffic chaos due to proximity of site access to junction of South Downs Road, 

Langham Road and Grange Road. Grange Road is a narrow and busy road and 
is frequently gridlocked due to local schools and commuters. Conditions should 
be imposed restricting on street parking and hours of access for contractors and 
their deliveries as child safety and access for emergency vehicles could be put at 
risk  

- Impact on trees adjacent to the site particularly damage to roots during 
construction. Confirmation sought regarding tree  retentions and height of foliage 

- Lack of drainage and sewerage plans – as the land slopes significantly this is 
particularly important  

- Plans inaccurate and drawings selective. Additional elevations / cross sections / 
datum levels required 

- Clarification over whether a two storey garage is proposed  
- Little or no consultation from developer despite statements to the contrary in the 

supporting documents 
- If development allowed conditions relating to obscure glazing, fencing heights 

and hours/days of construction should be attached 
- Concerns about damage to adjacent properties due to groundworks and heavy 

plant – an obligation to repair / replace damage should be imposed. 
- Development utilises land that is not in the ownership of the applicant, rather it is 

owned by 1, 2 and 3 Grange Road.  Future occupiers of dwellings would have no 
rights of access across their property. 

- There has been a breach of legal agreement between the developer and No. 1, 
Grange Road. 
 

A further neighbour consultation was carried out in relation to the plans now under 
consideration. 9 comments were received in total from 35 Langham Road, 7 and 9 
Vicarage Lane, 1, 3, 4 and 5 Grange Road and 26 and 28 Ash Grove. 
 
No’s 7 and 9 Vicarage Lane state they wish to retract their objections on the basis of 
their discussions with the developer over maintaining screening and repair of any 
damage caused to the boundary wall. 
 
The other comments acknowledge improvements / changes to the scheme but still have 
various concerns and these and the other comments stating or re-iterating concerns are 
summarised as follows: 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 16



 
 

 
- Loss of privacy and daylight  
- Still overbearing – Council should adopt a separation distance of greater than 15 

metres due to relative heights of existing and proposed houses which are more 
akin to 3 storeys.  

- Council guidelines have been quoted selectively in applicant’s statements.  
- Any previous approvals on the site were in the context of affordable housing 

provision and the policy context has changed 
- Assurances regarding number type and height of proposed new trees sought  
- Noise, disruption and fumes from relocated drive access, gates and parking  
- Messy and disjointed appearance from two accesses 
- Gates out of keeping and unnecessary as is 10th parking space 
- Development does not comply with a restrictive covenant - there has been a 

breach of agreement between the developer and No. 1, Grange Road. 
- Restriction of existing width of vehicular access to properties to the 

north/northeast will potentially impact on large or emergency vehicles accessing 
the courtyard area to the rear of No’s 1-3 Grange Road 

- Lack of consultation between the developer and neighbours 
- Clarification required over the garage for Plot 4 as the plans differ from the 

sketches in the D&A Statement 
- Concerns about the impact of the garage particularly if it were to be altered or 

converted in the future.  
- Plans don’t show extensions at adjacent properties 
- Concerns about the accuracy of the detail on the plans 

 
- Should the development proceed assurances / conditions required regarding: 

- Heights of boundary treatments and planting not being higher than existing  
- Tree protection measures to be implemented required 
- Strict limitations on construction and other vehicles, hours and days of working 
and protection of residents parking  
- Obscure glazing, top opening windows and retention of opaque balustrades   
required.  

  
OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
1. A previous permission was granted on this site in 2013 for 14 two bedroom 

affordable, shared ownership apartments in a four storey building including 
basement (74612/FULL/2010). This permission is no longer extant and there have 
been material changes in planning policy since that time including most recently the 
revised NPPF which was published on 24th July 2018. This permission does 
however carry some weight as a material consideration.  

 
2. The majority of the application site is unallocated on the Revised Adopted UDP 

proposals map although a small section of the site on the north / north-eastern edge, 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 17



 
 

including the Grange Road frontage, falls within the Bowdon Conservation Area and 
the site is visible from Grange Road which is within the Conservation Area.  

 
3. The site is currently densely vegetated and vacant apart from various dilapidated 

outbuildings and is enclosed on the north and north-eastern sides by security 
fencing.  

 
4. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF indicates that planning decisions should apply a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. Development plan policies which 
are most important for determining an application should be considered out of date if 
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. 

 
5. Paragraph 11 also indicates that where there are no relevant development plan 

policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application are 
out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: the application of policies 
in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. Para 68 of the NPPF states that small 
and medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing 
requirement of an area, and are often built-out relatively quickly. To promote the 
development of a good mix of sites local planning authorities should c) support the 
development of windfall sites through their policies and decisions – giving great 
weight to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing settlements for homes. 

 
6. The Council does not, at present, have a five year supply of immediately available 

housing land. The absence of a continuing supply of housing land has significant 
consequences in terms of the Council's ability to contribute towards the 
government's aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing. Significant weight 
should therefore be afforded in the determination of this planning application to the 
scheme’s contribution to addressing the identified housing shortfall, and meeting the 
Government's objective of securing a better balance between housing demand and 
supply. 

 
7. Whilst the Council’s housing policies are considered to be out of date in that it 

cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, the scheme 
achieves many of the aspirations which the Plan policies seek to deliver. 

 
8. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy, which is entitled “Meeting Housing Needs”, states 

that all new residential development proposals will be assessed for the contribution 
that will be made to meeting the housing needs of the Borough and the wider 
aspirations of the Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy. It requires new 
development to be: 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 18



 
 

(a) On a site of sufficient size to accommodate adequately the proposed use and all 
necessary ancillary facilities for prospective residents; 
(b) Appropriately located in terms of access to existing community facilities and/or 
delivers complementary improvements to the social infrastructure (schools, health 
facilities, leisure and retail facilities) to ensure the sustainability of the development; 
(c) Not harmful to the character or amenity of the immediately surrounding area and; 
(d) To be in accordance with L7 and other relevant policies within the Development 
Plan for Trafford.  

 
9. In the case of this application, the proposal contributes towards meeting the 

Council’s housing land targets and housing needs identified in Core Strategy 
Policies L1 and L2 in that the scheme will deliver 4 new family housing units and has 
access to existing community facilities. Although technically not brownfield land 
given its former horticultural use, it is considered to be sustainable urban area 
greenfield land and the site is covered in scrub vegetation, contains a number of 
dilapidated outbuildings and also some areas of existing hardstanding. It is 
considered to be in a sustainable location reasonably close to Altrincham town 
centre. The principle of the development is therefore considered to be acceptable. 
Notwithstanding this the development must also be compliant with other relevant 
policies in the Core Strategy in relation to the impact that the development may have 
in terms of design and impact on heritage assets, residential amenity, parking and 
highway safety, ecology and other relevant considerations set out below.  

 
DESIGN AND IMPACT ON DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSET 
 
10. Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires Local Planning Authorities to pay, “special attention in the exercise of 
planning functions to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area” in the determination of planning applications. 
 

11. Paragraph 193 of the revised NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of 
a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. Any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification 
(paragraph 194). 

 
12. The NPPF sets out that harm can either be substantial or less than substantial. Case 

law has established that there can be degrees of less than substantial harm. There 
will also be cases where development affects heritage assets but from which no 
harm arises. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm 
to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use 
(paragraph 196). 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 19



 
 

13. Policy R1 states that:- 
 

“All new development must take account of surrounding building styles, landscapes 
and historic distinctiveness. Developers must demonstrate how the development will 
complement and enhance the existing features of historic significance including their 
wider settings, in particular in relation to conservation areas, listed buildings and 
other identified heritage assets.” 
 

14. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities”. Paragraph 130 states that “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions”. 

 
15. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “In relation to matters of design, 

development must: Be appropriate in its context; Make best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area; Enhance the street scene or character 
of the area by appropriately addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, 
elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft landscaping works, boundary 
treatment; and, Make appropriate provision for open space, where appropriate, in 
accordance with Policy R5 of this Plan”. 

 
16. Part of the application site is situated within the Bowdon Conservation Area and so 

should be considered against the guidance set out in the Bowdon Conservation Area 
Appraisal (CAA) (July 2016) and the Bowdon Conservation Area Management Plan 
(CAMP) (July 2016).  

 
The Significance of the designated heritage asset 

 
17. Significance is defined in the NPPF as ‘The value of a heritage asset to this and 

future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a 
heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.’ 
 

18. Part of the site is located within the boundary of the Bowdon Conservation Area. The 
‘special interest’ of the Bowdon Conservation Area is set out in the Bowdon 
Conservation Area Appraisal. Its main interest relates to many fine individual 
residences built in the area, in a variety of architectural styles. The housing 
comprises a combination of large terraced houses, semi-detached houses and 
detached dwellings. The materials include red brick, Bowdon ‘white brick’ (buff and 
later yellow), with render and pebble dash common on the arts and crafts houses. 
There is a high level of architectural integrity and detail. Houses are set in gardens, 
which are characterised by a variety of mature trees and shrubs. The area is 
characterised by the low garden walls of large stone blocks with gate posts, with 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 20



 
 

hedges of various species above and trees along the boundary; some of the houses 
also have attractive arched doorways in the walls.  
 

19. The relevant part of the application site is located within Character Zone C ‘Early 
Victorian Expansion’.  

 
20. Para 4.3.48 of the CAA states that ‘This is a large character area comprising some 

key roads. Stamford Road, an early route from the church on the ridge of the hill to 
the road to Ashley, with a few pre-1838 buildings, was developed in a series of small 
developments. The eastern section of Langham Road, from the junction with South 
Downs being a later extension of an historic route, along the foot of the ridge; above 
it on its north side mansions were built which enjoy views, while on the south side 
are more substantial houses than at the west end, in Character Zone B. Two roads 
connect these routes: Richmond Road to the west, a steep road leading up to the 
church, and Heald Road to the east which crossed the ridge at a lower point and 
slopes more gently.’ 

 
21. With regard to the qualities of the buildings the CAA states in para 4.3.50 ‘The scale 

and massing within this character zone is larger than that of Character Zone B. The 
plot sizes are larger and the height of the structures is greater, because of the 2 or 3 
storeys and also the average height of the individual storeys. It is a large character 
zone, which also encompasses a variety in terms of size and style, both in the 
original structures and as a result of subsequent re-development.’ 

 
22. The buildings to the north and east of the site (within the Conservation Area) date 

from the period 1838-1877 and are identified as positive contributors. 
 
23. The CAA states: 
 

“Development Opportunities 
4.3.84 ………….On Grange Road south of the junction on South Downs Road there 
is an area to the rear of properties on Grange Road which is unused, fenced off and 
overgrown.” 

 
Proposal and Impact on Significance 

 
24. The application proposes the erection of two pairs of semi-detached dwellings with 

associated gardens and parking areas with access taken off Grange Road.   
 
25. The following policies of the CAMP are considered relevant. 
 

Policy 41  
Any new development should be of high quality and should take inspiration from the 
established architectural styles within the Conservation Area. Appropriate features, 
materials and detailing are to be integrated into the design (see 2.2 of this 
Management Plan and the extended discussion in the accompanying Appraisal). 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 21



 
 

Modern design should be: sympathetic to its historic context; of a high standard; of 
an appropriate scale; and use appropriate, high-quality materials. 

 
Policy 43  
The scale of any new development should respect the existing building and plot 
sizes. The council reserves the right to refuse applications where any proposed 
development imposes on the building density of the wider area and/or the 
characteristics of the Conservation Area. The division of existing large properties 
into smaller units may be acceptable, providing there are no detrimental effects to 
the exteriors of the properties. 

 
26. The proposal would not result in the demolition of any buildings of significance on 

the site only small scale, dilapidated outbuildings of no particular historic or 
architectural value. The site is enclosed on the Grange Road frontage by 
longstanding security fencing which is detrimental to the Grange Road street scene.   

 
27. The architect has stated that the proposed gable fronted aesthetic with pitched roofs 

is a response to the surrounding historic vernacular (predominantly Victorian and 
Regency) but that this is complemented with contemporary detailing to create a 
unique and high quality development.  

 
28. A buff/cream brick to reference the traditional ‘Bowdon’ brick seen widely in the area 

would be the main building material and the elevations would be articulated with 
areas of recessed brickwork, brick corbeling and soldier coursing. The main 
entrances would be recessed and the bay features would provide further relief to the 
main elevation. In addition to the buff/cream brick, grey slate is proposed for use on 
the roofs to again reflect the traditional building materials of the area. A weathered 
brown/ gold metal cladding is proposed for the dormers, front door and window 
frames in addition to a light timber within the entrance porch and these elements 
would provide a contemporary addition to the design of the development.  

 
29. Development on the parts of the site within the Bowdon Conservation Area would be 

limited to the areas of parking, access and landscaping but the development would 
be visible from the Bowdon Conservation Area and would impact on the Grange 
Road street scene. 

 
30. This sloping site, set back from the road and partially in the Conservation Area 

represents a number of challenges in design terms. It is also surrounded by 
residential properties some with short rear gardens. Although the adjacent houses in 
the Bowdon Conservation Area are attractive period properties, the context to the 
south and west is more diverse in terms of type, scale and design of property. In a 
context such as this, on a vacant sloping site, well-designed, contemporary buildings 
which reference their historic neighbours through use of traditional form and 
materials can be less visually intrusive than one making a failed attempt to fully copy 
historic precedents. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 22



 
 

31. The ridge heights of the proposed dwellings above the various plot ground levels 
range from 9.5m to 10.7 metres. This is not considered excessive for the area in 
design terms and they are stepped down to address the sloping site. A street scene 
drawing has been produced to demonstrate how the setback from Grange Road 
combined with the gradual stepping down of the houses fits in to the Grange Road 
street scene.  

 
32. The scheme also proposes the introduction of a boundary brick wall approximately 

1.2 m high; this would screen the cars within the development and would be viewed 
in association with timber gates with brickwork piers set back from the highway and 
planting. 

 
33. It is considered that the proposed development has a strong and clear philosophy 

which successfully references the scale, form, height and materials of adjacent 
historic properties in a contemporary development and represents a significant 
improvement on the previously approved flat scheme in design terms. Whilst it will 
be set back from the street it is considered that it will not appear divorced from the 
properties around it. A good quality landscaping scheme will also assist in 
contributing to the street scene and a condition is recommended accordingly.  

 
Consideration of Harm 
 
34. One of the key tests of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 

relation to development within Conservation Areas is whether the proposal would 
result in any substantial harm or loss of irreplaceable heritage assets.  The adopted 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan provide details regarding the 
special character of the Conservation Area as set out above.   

 
35. It is not considered that the development would result in harm to or loss of the 

designated heritage assets. The site is identified in the CAA document as a 
development opportunity and it is not considered that the development proposed 
would adversely affect the features which provide the conservation areas overall 
significance and special interest as set out in either the CAA or CAMP documents.  
 

36. In arriving at this recommendation, considerable importance and weight has been 
given to the desirability of preserving this designated heritage asset. Overall the 
proposals are considered to be in compliance with Policies L7 and R1 of Core 
Strategy and the NPPF. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
37. Policy L7 states that in relation to matters of amenity protection, development must: 
 

- Be compatible with the surrounding area 
- Not prejudice the amenity of the future occupants of the development and / or 

occupants of adjacent properties by reason of being overbearing, 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 23



 
 

overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, odour or 
in any other way. 

 
38. PG1 New Residential Development sets out the guidelines that relate to all forms of 

new residential development. With regards to privacy, the Council’s Guidelines 
require, for new two storey dwellings, that the minimum distance between dwellings 
which have major facing windows is 21 metres across public highways and 27 
metres across private gardens. This would also apply to views from balconies and 
would need to be increased by 3 metres for any second floor windows / balconies. 
With regard to overshadowing PG1 states that ‘In situations where overshadowing is 
likely with a main elevation facing a two storey blank gable then a minimum distance 
of 15 m should normally be provided. A distance of 10.5 metres is usually required 
between first floor windows and rear garden boundaries. An additional 3 metres is 
added for each additional floor.”  

 
39. Objectors have raised concerns about the impact of the proposal on their residential 

amenity in relation to loss of privacy and light, outlook and view. Concerns have also 
been raised about visual intrusion and the overbearing, overshadowing and over-
dominating impact of the proposal.  

 
40. There are significant differences in land levels across the site and in the vicinity of 

the site. The amenity impacts on the surrounding properties are therefore 
considered in turn. 

 
Impact on 26 and 28 Ash Grove (to the South) 
 
41. No’s 26 and 28 Ash Grove are two storey properties at the southern end of the site 

with main habitable room windows in their rear elevation facing onto the application 
site. Due to the design of these dwellings the majority of their habitable room 
windows are in their rear elevation. No. 26 has conservatory extensions to the side 
and rear. Due to the falling land levels in the area, 26 and 28 Ash Grove are at a 
lower level than the application site. In addition, No’s 26 and 28 have relatively short 
rear gardens (approximately 6 metres to the rear boundary with the application site). 
Due to concerns about the impact of the original scheme on the amenity of the 
occupiers of these two properties the scheme has been amended to set the main 
side wall of Plot 4 further away from their boundaries. The floor to ceilings heights 
have been reduced in Plot 4 and the proposed ground levels lowered to further 
reduce the impact. The result of these changes is that the ground level of Plot 4 is 
now approximately level with the garden level at No’s 26 and 28 and cross section 
drawings have been submitted to demonstrate this.  

 
42. A distance of 15 metres is maintained between the main 2 storey side wall of Plot 4 

and the rear of No’s 26 and 28. This is as recommended in PG1 – New Residential 
Development. The objectors have commented that this distance should be increased 
as Plot 4 is more akin to a 3 storey property however the second floor 
accommodation in plot 4 is largely contained within the roof space and the eaves 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 24



 
 

height of 6.2m and ridge height of 9.5m is not considered untypical of a two storey 
property. It is also noted that the roof to Plot 4 slopes away from the houses on Ash 
Grove. The rear elevation of No. 28 would be largely offset from the main two storey 
side wall of Plot 4 and would mainly look onto its garden and single storey elements. 
The rear of No. 26 would look onto the main side wall of Plot 4 but for the foregoing 
reasons it is not considered that the revised scheme would have an unacceptable 
impact and it is noted that No. 26 also benefits from a large side garden area and a 
side extension on the eastern side containing many east facing windows. Both of 
these properties would be to the south of the proposed dwellings so the impact on 
sunlight received would be minimised due to the orientation.  

 
43. The single storey side element at Plot 4 would be 5 metres away from the rear 

garden boundaries with 26 and 28 Ash Grove but due to the land levels on this plot 
and boundary treatments this is not considered to be overbearing. The flat roof 
garage proposed would be 1.2 metres from the garden boundary of No. 26 but 
would have a height of only 2.6 metres. Therefore although the roof may be visible 
above the boundary fence it would not be overbearing and boundary planting would 
soften the impact.   

 
44. Concerns have been raised about the future conversion or extension of the garage 

however this can be restricted by the removal of permitted development rights and 
the garage would be required to be constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans. The agent for the application has stated that the drawings in the D&A 
statement showing different designs for the garage were only to show the evolution 
of the scheme over time.  

 
45. Concerns regarding overlooking are noted however a condition is attached stating 

that the flat roofed ground floor areas should not at any time be used as balconies or 
similar and conditions are also recommended requiring the use of obscure glazing in 
the windows in the southern elevation at first floor and roof level and the provision 
and retention of a 1.8 metre high balustrade to the courtyard are within the roof 
space.  

 
Impact on 4 & 5, Grange Road (to the East / Southeast) 
 
46. No’s 4 and 5 Grange Road are substantial period properties fronting Grange Road to 

the southeast of the site with accommodation over 3 levels and also in the roof 
space. No. 4 Grange Road has a relatively small rear garden area but this extends 
around to the northern side of the house and this side garden is at a higher level. 
No. 5 has a raised veranda area to the rear accessed via steps from the rear 
garden.  

 
47. Concerns have been raised regarding loss of privacy as a result of the windows in 

Plots 3 and 4 and also the potential for them to be overbearing and to overshadow 
the adjacent gardens. Again, due to concerns about the amenity impacts on the 
occupiers of these adjacent properties, the scheme has been amended to set the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 25



 
 

main side wall of Plot 4 further north. The floor to ceiling heights have been reduced 
and proposed ground levels lowered to further reduce the impact. As No’s 4 and 5 
are at an angle to Plot 4 they do not directly face it. As a result of the re-siting of the 
plot the outlook from the rear elevation of No. 4 would now be over the garage and 
side garden of Plot 4 and not onto the front elevation. No 5 Grange Road is entirely 
offset in relation to Plot 4 and looks onto No. 26 Ash Grove.  

 
48. Concerns have been raised regarding loss of privacy to No’s 4 and 5 Grange Road, 

however neither the front or side elevation of Plot 4 looks onto the garden or house 
of No. 5 and any first floor or roof level windows / balconies in the southern elevation 
of Plot 4 would be obscure glazed or screened.  

 
49. The front elevations of Plot’s 3 and 4 would look onto the side garden of No. 4 

Grange Road. There are bedroom windows in the front elevations of Plots 3 and 4 at 
first floor and roof level. These windows maintain a minimum distance of 11 metres 
to the garden boundary with No. 4. The first floor windows therefore meet the 
required 10.5 metre guideline set out in PG1. The second floor bedroom windows in 
the roof space would have minimum window cill levels of 1.7 metres which would 
prevent overlooking and loss of privacy. 

 
50. Concerns have also been raised regarding the overshadowing impact of the 

development on the garden area at No. 4 and potential loss of sunlight. Given the 
orientation of the properties to the west of the garden at No. 4 any impact would be 
in the afternoon. However given the distances involved, lower proposed plot levels 
and the fact that the garden at No. 4 would retain an open aspect to the northeast 
and southwest it is not considered that the scheme would result in an unacceptable 
loss of daylight to the garden area.   

 
51. The occupiers of No’s 4 and 5 Grange Road are also concerned about noise, fumes 

and disturbance from comings and goings at the site particularly in relation to access 
and parking. However once built it is not considered that the proposed development 
of four new houses would result in an undue increase in noise, disturbance or 
pollution other than the usual domestic noise associated with such dwellings. This 
also includes the comings and goings of cars and use of the garage which would be 
of a domestic level and would be screened by existing and proposed boundary 
treatments to neighbouring properties. Such relationships are not uncommon in 
urban areas and although clearly there would be an increase in comings and goings 
compared to the existing vacant land it is not considered that it would be materially 
detrimental and it is noted that although no longer extant, 14 flats were previously 
approved on this site.  

 
Impact on No’s 7, 9 and 11 Vicarage Lane (to the west / southwest) 
 
52. The rear elevations of No’s 9 and 11 Vicarage Lane are set some distance away 

from the site boundary (approx. 20 m). However their rear garden boundaries adjoin 
the site boundary. Only a small corner of No. 11 Vicarage Lane adjoins the site and 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 26



 
 

as a result of the siting of the houses the first floor and roof level windows would be 
offset in relation to No. 11. A gap of 7 metres would be retained to the garden of No. 
9 from the ground floor element to the rear of Plot 4. Due to the levels and boundary 
treatments it is not considered that the ground floor windows would result in loss of 
amenity and this is demonstrated though the submitted cross section drawings. At 
first floor level a narrow dressing room window would look onto the boundary with 
No. 9 – the adjacent bedroom window would be largely offset. These windows would 
maintain a distance of 10.5m from the rooms they serve to the boundary which is 
compliant with adopted guidelines. At roof level there is a bedroom window but this 
would have a minimum cill level of 1.7 metres to prevent overlooking and this would 
be subject to a condition requiring retention.  

 
53. No. 7 Vicarage Lane is set further back on its site than No’s 9 and 11 and therefore 

the rear of the property, which includes a conservatory, is closer to the application 
site than No’s 9 and 11. There is an intervening garden and at the present time 
mature trees either side of the rear boundary.   

 
54. Cross section drawings of the relationships between No. 7 Vicarage Lane and the 

proposed development have been submitted and these include land level details. 
The proposed single storey rear elements would be a minimum of 7 metres away 
from the garden boundary with No. 7 and between 16 and 19.5m away from the 
main rear elevation of No. 7.  

 
55. The main rear elevation of the proposed properties would be 10.5 metres away from 

the garden boundary with No. 7 and between 19 m and 23 m away from the main 
rear elevation of No. 7. Due to the distances involved it is not considered that the 
new dwellings would have an overbearing or overshadowing impact on No. 7 as the 
distances at first floor level and above, significantly exceed the 15 metres required. 
This would also be the case if an additional 3 metres were to be added due to level 
differences between the sites.  

 
56. In relation to privacy levels it is not considered that meaningful views could be 

gained from the ground floor accommodation at the rear of the proposed dwellings to 
No. 7 due to the height of the windows, relative levels and boundary planting. 
Additionally the second floor accommodation would have minimum cill levels of 1.7 
metres to prevent overlooking. Therefore the main issue in relation to overlooking 
relates to the first floor windows. As the proposed small dressing room windows 
serve non- habitable rooms these can be obscure glazed, however there are also 
sole bedroom windows at first floor level which cannot. The first floor bedroom 
windows would be 10.5 metres away from the garden boundary with No. 7 and 
between 19 m and 23m from the main rear elevation. The 19 metres figure reflects 
the distance to the rear conservatory at No. 7 rather than the main rear elevation 
and is slightly below the 21 metres required; however the bedroom window in Plot 3 
is offset in relation to the conservatory. It is noted that there are level and height 
difference between No. 7 Vicarage Lane and the proposed dwellings but the cross 
section drawings demonstrate that eye level in the first floor windows would be 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 27



 
 

roughly level with the first floor accommodation at No. 7 and therefore it is 
considered that the privacy requirements are just met. 

 
57. The scheme meets the Council’s privacy distances between the first floor windows 

and the garden boundary and rear windows of No. 7 but is slightly substandard in 
relation to the conservatory at No. 7. It is considered that the existing and proposed 
boundary planting will assist in ameliorating the visual impact and an increased 
sense of being overlooked. In addition, it is noted that as a result of being set back 
on its plot, No. 7 has a larger front garden area in addition to its garden on the 
northern side. On balance it is considered that the privacy impacts are acceptable 
subject to an appropriate boundary planting scheme.  

 
58. The occupiers of No. 7 have sought clarification regarding the number, type and 

initial height of trees proposed adjacent to their boundary.  Although the siting of new 
trees and trees to be retained are shown on the submitted layout plan, the detail of 
the trees will be provided through the landscaping scheme although the applicant 
has noted by inclusion on the plan that such additional planting will be required.   

 
59. In addition, as indicated previously a condition is attached stating that the flat roofed 

ground floor areas should not at any time be used as balconies or similar and that 
minimum cill levels of 1.7 metre to the second floor west facing bedrooms should be 
retained to prevent outlook. It is also considered that the first floor dressing room 
windows in the western elevation should be obscure glazed to minimise the number 
of windows overlooking this boundary.  

 
60. Any issues regarding damage caused to boundary structures during works is a 

private matter and the responsibility of the developer not the Council. 
 
Impact on 1-3 Grange Road (to the northeast) 
 
61. No. 3 Grange Road is a substantial end terraced property with accommodation over 

4 levels. The property has a garden area to the southern side with a greenhouse 
attached to the southern elevation of the property. There are 2 small windows in the 
side elevation at ground and first floor level and one small and one larger window at 
basement level which is also the same level as the greenhouse due to the sloping 
land levels.  The occupiers have referred to this structure as a conservatory however 
there is no access between the structure and the wall of the main house and from 
the site visit it appears to be used as a greenhouse albeit the occupiers could sit in 
it.  

 
62. No. 3 Grange Road is at a higher level than the application site. The majority of the 

main garden area, which is to the south of No. 3 Grange Road, would be adjacent to 
an access road and open garden and parking areas on the proposed site. It is 
largely offset in relation to the proposed dwellings and given the relationship it is not 
considered that the proposed development would result in material loss of outlook or 
overshadowing to the house or garden at No. 3, Grange Road. With regard to 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 28



 
 

privacy, conditions are recommended requiring the use of obscure glazing in the 
windows in the northern elevation at first floor and roof level and the provision and 
retention of a 1.8 metre high balustrade to the courtyard area within the roof space. 
This would prevent any loss of privacy to the properties to the north. 

 
63. No’s 1 and 2 Grange Road do not back directly onto the site and are to the north of 

the application site beyond, No. 3 Grange Road. Due to the orientation of these 
properties in relation to the site it is not considered that the development would 
result in loss of light or outlook, particularly as the properties to the north of the site 
are at a higher level than the application site. As indicated above a condition is 
proposed stating that the flat roofed ground floor areas should not at any time be 
used as balconies or similar and conditions are also recommended requiring the use 
of obscure glazing in the windows in the northern elevation at first floor and roof level 
and the provision and retention of a 1.8 metre high balustrade to the courtyard area 
within the roof space. This would prevent any loss of privacy to the properties to the 
north.  

 
64. The proposed scheme retains an access road leading to the rear of these properties 

and also indicates parking spaces for their use on the site layout.  
 
Impact on 33 and 35 Langham Road (to the north) 
 
65. To the north of the site are dwellings fronting Langham Road with accommodation 

over three floors at the rear. Given the separation distances of 28-30 metres 
between the northern side elevation of Plot 1 and the rear of these properties it is not 
considered that they would have an overbearing or overshadowing impact on the 
windows or private gardens of these properties. Any impact is further ameliorated by 
the land levels in the area which result in the properties to the north of the site being 
at a higher level than the application site. 

 
66. Concerns regarding overlooking and loss of privacy are noted however a condition is 

attached stating that the flat roofed ground floor areas should not at any time be 
used as balconies or similar and conditions are also recommended requiring the use 
of obscure glazing in the windows in the southern elevation at first floor and roof 
level and the provision and retention of a 1.8 metre high balustrade to the courtyard 
are within the roof space.  

 
67. Other properties in the wider area are considered too distant for their amenities to be 

materially affected by the development.  
  
68. Given the constrained nature of the site it is considered appropriate to fully remove 

permitted development rights for the properties to ensure that relationships to 
adjacent neighbouring properties remain acceptable in the future.  

 
69. Neighbours have asked for specific reassurances regarding the height of fences and 

planting and different neighbours have stated different preferences in relation to this. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 29



 
 

The boundaries to the site appear to currently comprise a mix of open and close 
boarded timber fences and some areas of walling. Due to the overgrown state of the 
site it is difficult to ascertain the condition of these. A comprehensive landscaping 
scheme will be required to be submitted if the application is approved and this would 
need to identify any additional boundary fencing proposed and any additional hedge 
and tree planting and the size of the trees to be planted.  

 
70. It is noted that the current submission reflects evolution over time of the 

development proposals and that the current scheme represents a material change to 
the scheme as originally proposed particularly in relation to the height and siting of 
Plots 3 and 4 and that the application has sought to address concerns over amenity 
in making these changes. Some objectors have raised concerns regarding the 
accuracy of the details on the plans in terms of sight lines, sections and levels and 
the applicant has sought to address these issue were necessary. It is considered 
that topographical information to a reasonable level including site levels and sections 
has been provided in support of the application. However given the proximity of 
neighbouring properties and the importance of levels and the height of the 
development in protecting amenity, it is considered appropriate to impose a 
condition requiring the submission of comprehensive details of existing and 
proposed levels, proposed finished floor levels and proposed eaves and ridge 
heights.   

 
Quality of accommodation 
 
71. All of the main habitable rooms in the proposed houses at ground and first floor level 

would be served by clear glazed windows. The main living areas in the roof space 
would have cill levels to the front and rear windows of 1.7 metres minimum to 
prevent loss of privacy to neighbours. However they would also be served by 
rooflights and would have glazed doors opening onto courtyards within the roof 
space to provide additional light and outlook.   
 

72. All of the proposed levels of light and outlook within the new dwellings would be 
known to any future occupiers of the development. PG1 states that the Council is 
looking to encourage imaginative design solutions and given the constrained nature 
of the site the use of the internal courtyard areas within the roof space to allow light 
into the centre of the buildings is considered acceptable.  

 
Amenity Space 
 
73. The Council’s PG1: New Residential Development expects most new dwellings, 

including apartments, to provide some private outdoor amenity space. The Council’s 
Guidelines for New Residential Development indicate 80 sq. m of garden space is 
usually accepted.  All of the proposed dwellings have in excess of this amount of 
amenity space in the front and rear gardens and internal terraces. 

 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 30



 
 

Noise, Pollution and Disturbance 
 
74. The Pollution and Housing section have raised no objection to the principle of the 

development subject to conditions relating to noise levels from plant and equipment 
and sensitive directing of lighting associated with the scheme.  

 
75. In view of the proximity of residential properties that could be affected by noise from 

construction works they also recommend an environmental management plan 
condition to keep disruption during the construction phase to a minimum for 
residents and businesses.  

 
Conclusion on Residential Amenity 
 
76. The site is currently vacant and therefore clearly the development will result in 

noticeable changes to the amenity levels of neighbouring properties when compared 
to the existing situation.  However it is considered that as a result of the changes to 
the scheme as originally submitted and on the basis of the conditions recommended 
above, on balance the impact of the proposed development on residential amenity 
would be acceptable and compliant with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 

 
HIGHWAYS & PARKING 
 
77. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states development must incorporate sufficient off-

street car and cycle parking, manoeuvring and operational space.  The car parking 
standards set out in the Core Strategy specify the requirements which each 
development will normally be expected to provide, although these are maximums 
and every planning application is treated on its own merits depending on the 
circumstances of the site. 

 
78. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF notes that “Development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”. 

 
79. Concerns have been raised regarding the proposed means of access to the 

development and to the existing properties to the northeast, the level of parking 
proposed and the potential impact on highway safety and congestion in the area.  

 
80. The LHA have considered the amended scheme and commented that the new 

proposed access off Grange Road is expected to serve the 4 residential units which 
is acceptable subject to a new vehicular crossing being constructed by Trafford 
Council at the applicant’s expense. The LHA note the comments from the nearby 
residents in relation to the existing access but this is a private matter and therefore 
the LHA have no comment to add. 

 

81. With regard to car parking provision each dwelling is allocated two parking spaces 
which is deemed to be in-line with SPD3 Parking Standards. Every property has two 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 31



 
 

spaces, one in front or at the side of the house and another within the communal car 
parking area at the site entrance. It is noted that Plot 4 is the exception, as both 
spaces are located within the curtilage of the property.  

 

82. The LHA comment that cycle parking will need to be provided for plots 1 – 3 in line 
with the SPD.  Plot 4 has the benefit of a double garage within the curtilage of the 
property and therefore cycle parking can be accommodated.  

 
83. The LHA have confirmed that they have no objection to the application on highway 

grounds subject to conditions relating to provision of the access, provision of the 
parking shown for nearby residents, submission of cycle parking details and a 
construction management plan. The proposal is therefore considered to be 
compliant with the provisions of Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy.  

 
ECOLOGY AND TREES 
 
84. Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all developments 

protect and enhance the Borough’s biodiversity. In addition, Paragraph 175 of the 
NPPF states that “if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided…adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then 
planning permission should be refused”. 

 
85. The GMEU have commented that the ecology survey and report found the site to 

have some but limited ecological interest and on this basis they do not object to the 
principle of the development subject to conditions relating to vegetation clearance 
works being undertaken outside the bird breeding season unless an ecologist report 
is submitted prior to clearance being undertaken, a method statement setting out 
reasonable avoidance measures in relation to disturbance impacts on foxes and a 
scheme of biodiversity enhancement measures.  

 
86. The only category A (high quality) or B (moderate quality) trees identified within the 

Arboricultural survey are offsite within the gardens of No’s 3 (category B) and 4 
(category A) Grange Road and these are not proposed for removal. Given the 
creation of the new access adjacent to No. 4, a condition requiring special root 
protection measures is however recommended in relation to the Copper Beech tree 
within the garden of No. 4. Of the other trees on the site, none are of any particular 
quality or value and there is no objection to the loss of the 6 trees on the site 
identified for removal subject to replacement planting. It is noted that 3 Leylandii on 
the boundary with No. 7 Vicarage Lane are indicated for retention, largely due to the 
screening these provide to the neighbouring property.   

 
87. In addition to replacement tree planting, areas of low level planting are also 

proposed on the site to define property boundaries and soften the appearance of the 
harder brickwork retaining walls. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 32



 
 

88. Appropriate conditions relating to ecological impacts, tree protection and a 
comprehensive landscaping scheme including tree planting will be attached to any 
consent issued and on this basis the application is deemed to be acceptable in this 
respect. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
89. Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “the Council will seek to control 

development in areas at risk of flooding, having regard to the vulnerability of the 
proposed use and the level of risk in the specific location”. At the national level, 
NPPF paragraph 155 has similar aims, seeking to ensure that development in high 
risk areas of flooding is safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. The Lead Local 
Flood Authority have stated that they do not consider that the proposed works will 
cause flood risk to the development or the surrounding area and that the application 
is therefore satisfactory for approval subject to the drainage scheme being designed 
and submitted as part of any conditions. Similarly, United Utilities do not object to the 
application in principle subject to appropriate drainage conditions. 

 
90. No contaminated land conditions are required. 
 
91. Some objectors have referred to assurances provided to them by the developer 

regarding screening and repairs to damage. Other objectors have made reference to 
covenants, legal agreements and land ownership issues and the applicant’s agent 
has been made aware of the submission of these comments. However for the 
avoidance of doubt this application is determined on the basis of the pertinent 
planning information submitted and does not extend to private legal issues between 
parties. If planning permission is granted, this does not bestow a right to build. It is 
the responsibility of the applicant to obtain any other necessary permission to carry 
out development, for example covenants, byelaws or other legislative requirements. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
92. All relevant planning issues have been considered and representations and 

consultation responses taken into account in concluding that the proposals comprise 
an appropriate form of development for the site. The development accords with the 
Development Plan and relevant supplementary planning documents, and where 
these are silent or out of date, national planning policy. Any residual harm can be 
mitigated through the use of suitable planning conditions. The proposal also 
contributes to housing land supply in the Borough. As such, the application is 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions listed below. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Affordable Housing 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 33



 
 

93. The application proposes 4 new dwellings. Core Strategy Policy L2.11 states that 
‘The minimum threshold for qualifying sites will be 5 residential units in the 
Borough’s “hot” and “moderate” market locations.’ The site would not therefore be 
considered to require an affordable housing contribution under the terms of Policy 
L2.11. 

 
94. The Revised NPPF states in para 63 that ‘Provision of affordable housing should not 

be sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other than 
in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or 
fewer).’ The site is not in a designated rural area. The definition of Major 
development includes the provision of dwellinghouses where the number of 
dwellinghouses to be provided is 10 or more; and the provision of a building or 
buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1,000 square 
metres or more. This proposal falls well below the 10 dwellinghouse threshold but 
would result in more than 1000 sq. metres of floorspace (GIA) 

 
95. The GIA of the proposed development is 1038 sq. m and when an existing detached 

garage on the site with a floorspace of 19 m2 to be demolished is offset, the figure is 
reduced to 1,019sq. m. In view of this and given that the floorspace exceeds the 
1000 sq. metre requirement only slightly and to a degree which could be considered 
‘de minimis’ it is considered that it would be disproportionate and unduly onerous in 
these circumstances to require a full examination of the viability of the scheme to 
determine whether an affordable housing contribution would be payable.  For the 
avoidance of doubt,, this position relates to the specific circumstances of this case. 
In the event a development did meet the 5 unit threshold under the Council’s Core 
Strategy policy and exceeded the 1000 sq. metres of floorspace threshold in national 
guidance affordable housing contributions would normally be sought.   

 
Other Contributions 
 
96. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is located in 

the hot zone for residential development, consequently private market houses will be 
liable to a CIL charge rate of £80 per square metre, in line with Trafford’s CIL 
charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014).  

 
97. In accordance with Policy L8 of the Trafford Core Strategy and revised SPD1: 

Planning Obligations (2014) it is necessary to provide an element of specific green 
infrastructure.  In order to secure this, a landscaping condition will be attached to 
make specific reference to the need to provide at least three additional trees on site 
as part of the landscaping proposals. 

 
98. No other planning obligations are required. 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 34



 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions;- 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans:-  
 
Front (East) Elevation as Proposed L(-4) 021 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
Rear (West) Elevation as Proposed L(-4) 031 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
Side (North) Elevation as Proposed L(-4) 041 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
Side (South) Elevation as proposed L(-4) 051 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
 
Site Plan / Ground Floor as Proposed L(-1) 002 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
Site Plan / First Floor as Proposed L(-1) 003 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
Site Plan / Second Floor as Proposed L(-1) 004 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
 
Street Elevation as Proposed L(-4) 011 Rev 02 received 01/08/18 
 
Section AA as Proposed L(-3)011 Rev 02 received 28/08/18 
Section BB as Proposed L(-3) 021 Rev 04 received 03/09/18 

 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy. 

 
3. Notwithstanding the details submitted, no development shall take place until 

samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the building (including rainwater goods and joinery details of windows and doors) 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory external appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, having regard to Policy L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. No development works above ground level shall take place until detailed drawings to 
a scale of not less than 1:20 and samples and/or manufacturer's specifications of the 
design and construction details listed below have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This condition shall apply notwithstanding 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 35



 
 

any indications as to these matters which have been given in the application. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out solely in accordance with the approved 
details. 

i) all external windows and doors (including technical details, elevations, 
plans and cross sections showing cills, mullions, transoms, jambs, glazing 
bars and reveal depths/colour and method of opening; 
ii) design and materials of  main entrances including surrounds; 
iii) rain water goods (including locations, fixings, material and colour); 
 

Reason: To ensure a high quality standard of development and to safeguard and 
enhance the character and appearance of the Bowdon Conservation Area, and the 
visual amenity of the locality in general in accordance Policies L7 and R1 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the details already submitted no development shall take place until 
details of existing and proposed finished site levels, proposed finished floor levels 
and proposed eaves and ridge heights have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required prior to 
the commencement of development so that the correct levels are agreed from the 
outset of any construction activity. 
 

6. (a) No development or other operations (including site clearance) shall take place 
until a tree protection plan and method statement (hereinafter called the tree 
protection scheme) which shall be in accordance with BS5837 (2012) Trees in 
relation to Design, Demolition and Construction, and shall detail proposals for the 
proposed works within the RPA of the Fagus sylvatia 'Purpurea' identified as ‘T1’ 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no 
development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance 
with the approved tree protection scheme. 
 
(b) No operations shall take place in connection with the development hereby 
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving, 
temporary access construction and or widening or any operations involving the use 
of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the protection works required 
by the approved scheme are in place. 
 
(c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of 
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids 
shall take place within any area designated as being fenced off or otherwise 
protected in the approved scheme. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 36



 
 

(d) The fencing or other works which are part of the approved protection scheme 
shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including 
external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus 
materials have been removed from the site.  
 
Reason:   To secure the protection, throughout the time that the development is 
being carried out, of trees, growing within or adjacent to the site which are of 
amenity to the area, having regard to Policies L7, R1, R2 and R3 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required prior to 
the commencement of development so that tree protection is incorporated into the 
design from the outset to ensure that impact of any work on site on the adjacent 
trees is acceptable. 

 
7. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 

hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or 
other earthworks, boundary treatments, hard surfaced areas and materials, planting 
plans (including the green walls) specifications and schedules (including planting 
size, species and numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained and a 
scheme for the timing / phasing of implementation works.  
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner.  
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which 
are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next 
planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R1, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

8. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a schedule of 
landscape maintenance for a minimum period of 5 years has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include 
details of the arrangements for its implementation. Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved schedule. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R1, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 37



 
 

 
9. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the means of 

access and the areas for the movement, loading, unloading and parking of motor 
vehicles and bicycles have been provided, constructed and surfaced in complete 
accordance with the plans hereby approved and shall be retained for the approved 
purposes thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 
accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed development, 
having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a scheme for 
secure bicycle storage has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented before the 
development is brought into use and shall be retained at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle parking provision is made in the interests 
of promoting sustainable development, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 3: 
Parking Standards and Design, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. The rating level (LAeq,T) from all fixed plant and machinery associated with the 

development, when operating simultaneously, shall not exceed the background 
noise level (LA90,T) at any time when measured at the nearest noise sensitive 
premises at the quietest time that the equipment would be in operation.  Noise 
measurements and assessments should be compliant with BS 4142:2014 "Rating 
industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial areas". 

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. Any external lighting provided in association with the development shall be erected 

and directed so as to avoid nuisance to residential accommodation in close proximity 
in accordance with the guidance provided in the Institute of Lighting Professionals 
(Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01; 2011). 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

13. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 38



 
 

i the parking areas (all within the site) and means of access for vehicles of site 
operatives and visitors.  
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials (all within the site) 
iii storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
iv wheel washing facilities  
v. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
vi. details of hours of construction works / refurbishment works 
vii. erection and maintenance of security hoardings 
viii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from refurbishment and 
construction works 
ix. measures to prevent disturbance to adjacent dwellings from noise and vibration 
 
Reason: To minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties 
and users of the highway, having regard to Policy L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required prior to the 
commencement of development to ensure that the impact of the work it minimised 
from the outset of the development works. 

 
14. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March-August 
inclusive) unless an ecological (bird nest) survey by a suitably experienced ecologist 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
establish whether the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the 
presence of any nesting species, then no development shall take place during the 
period specified above unless a mitigation strategy has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which provides for the protection 
of nesting birds during the period of works on site. The mitigation strategy shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds having regard to 
Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15. No development shall take place until a method statement detailing the Reasonable 

Avoidance Measures (RAMs) to be adopted in order to avoid and/or minimize any 
unforeseen disturbance impacts on foxes during the course of the development shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter only be carried out in accordance with the RAMs 
detailed in the approved method statement.  
 
Reason: In order to minimise habitat disturbance to foxes having regard to Policy R2 
of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. This is 
required prior to the commencement of development to ensure that the impact of the 
work on foxes is minimised from the outset of the development works including site 
clearance. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 39



 
 

16. Prior to any above ground construction work first taking place, a scheme detailing  
the Biodiversity Enhancement Measures, as set out in section 5.2 of the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey dated February 2018 by Rachel Hacking Ecology, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the development (or in 
accordance with a phasing plan which shall first be agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) and shall be retained thereafter.  

 
Reason:  In order to protect and enhance the ecology of the site and to mitigate any 
potential loss of habitat having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

17. No development shall take place unless and until full details of works to limit the 
proposed peak discharge rate of storm water from the development to meet the 
requirements of the Council's level 2 Hybrid Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall not be brought into use until such works as 
approved are implemented in full and they shall be retained and maintained to a 
standard capable of limiting the peak discharge rate as set out in the SFRA 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: Such details need to be incorporated into the design of the development to 
prevent the risk of flooding by ensuring that surface water can be satisfactorily 
stored or disposed from the site having regard to Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. No development shall take place unless and until full details of a Sustainable 

Drainage Scheme, which shall include a maintenance and management plan for the 
site, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details to be submitted shall include evidence of third party agreement to connection 
and discharge to their network if such agreement is required. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented during the course of the development, and thereafter managed 
and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: Such details need to be incorporated into the design of the development to 
prevent the risk of flooding by ensuring that surface water can be satisfactorily 
stored or disposed from the site having regard to Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

19. The site shall be drained via separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface 
water. 
 
Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 
water environment having regard to  Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 40



 
 

20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) 
 
(i)   no external alterations shall be carried out to the dwellings 
(ii)  no extensions shall be carried out to the dwellings 
(iii) no outbuildings (including garages or carports) shall be erected within the 
curtilage of the dwellings 
(iv)  no vehicle standing space or other areas of hardstanding shall be provided 
within the curtilage of the dwellings  
(v)   no buildings, gates, wall fences or other structures shall be erected within the 
curtilage of the dwellings 
(vi)  no means of access shall be constructed to the curtilage of the dwellings 
(vii) no windows or dormer windows shall be added to the dwellings 
 
other than those expressly authorised by this permission, unless planning 
permission for such development has been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason.   To protect the residential and visual amenities of the area, having regard 
to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 

 
21. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
following windows shall be fitted with, to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished 
floor level of the rooms they serve, non-opening lights and textured glass which 
obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent) 
and retained as such thereafter.  
– The first floor dressing room windows in the western elevation of Plots 1-4 
- The first floor en-suite windows in the southern elevation of Plot 4 and the northern 
elevation of Plot 1 
– The rooflights serving the bedrooms in the southern elevation of Plot 4 and the 
northern elevation of Plot 1 

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

22. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation an 
opaque cill, the details of which shall have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, but with a minimum height of 1.7 m above 
the finished floor levels of the rooms they serve shall be fitted to the second floor 
bedroom windows in the east and west elevations to Plots 1-4 inclusive and retained 
thereafter.  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 41



 
 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

23. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation an 
opaque balustrade, the details of which shall have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, but with a minimum height of 1.8 
m above the finished floor levels of the roof courtyards in Plots 1 and 4 shall be 
installed in the southern elevation of Plot 4 and the northern elevation of Plot 1 and 
retained as such thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order amending or replacing that 
Order), the flat roof areas of the dwellings over the ground floor accommodation 
hereby permitted shall not be used as a balcony, terrace, roof garden or similar 
amenity area. 

 
Reason:  To protect the privacy and amenity of the occupants of the adjacent 
dwellinghouses, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
JJ 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 42



EEE

EEE

EEE

EEE

EEE

EEE

EEE

EEE

7

1

3

9
5

47

17

18

19

35

15

79

28

20

45

43

87

77

14

33

11
19

a

College House

LANGHAM ROAD

TCB

38.5m

43.1m

41.5m

37.6m

46.5m

40.5m

47.2m

Elsdale

Ashlee

Littlefield

Mill Bank

Fieldside

Bradgate

Mearside

South Side

Weynfleet

Helmsley

Craigmore

Applegarth

The Wicket

South Lawn

Clare Cottage

The Birches

Holycroft

BRERETON CLOSE

Brentw
ood

Millbank Cottage

Bowborough

West Croft

Bryncroft

1

Elsdale

20

3
50.6m

1 to 10

Firdale

Nields C

rcroft

lands

3

The Wicket

West Croft

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94004/FUL/18

Land To The Rear Of 3 And 4 Grange Road, Bowdon, WA14 3EB

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 43

bp41546
Typewritten Text
GRANGE   ROAD

bp41546_1
Typewritten Text

bp41546_2
Typewritten Text

bp41546_3
Typewritten Text

bp41546_4
Typewritten Text

bp41546_5
Typewritten Text



 

 
 

WARD: Bowdon 
 

94048/FUL/18 DEPARTURE: Yes 

 

Demolition of existing Dutch barn and the construction of a double garage to 
form a farmyard/forecourt to Onion Farm. Erection of a cottage outside the 
curtilage of Onion Farm, existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store with 
the installation of new fencing to enclose the site. 

 
Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, WA13 9TW 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr & Mrs Beckmann 
AGENT:  Indigo Planning 

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE  
 
 
This application has been called in to be determined by Committee by Councillor 
Sean Anstee. 
 
SITE 
 
The application site comprises a large Dutch Barn which stands to the south of the large 
farmhouse dwelling of Onion Farm located on the west side of Warburton Lane.    The 
barn is currently used for storage and garaging in relation to the residential property. 
The Heritage Statement submitted with the application indicates that it was built just 
before 1938. It has an asbestos-cement roof and corrugated galvanised steel sheeting 
to the walls.  The barn is open on the north elevation and partially on the east elevation. 
 
To the south of the barn and main farm courtyard lies open land, restored as an orchard 
by the present owners and now forming part of Onion Farm.  This land is separated by a 
Hawthorn Hedge and timber gate running alongside the access track to the farmhouse 
and barn.   
 
Traces of a building have been located in the southern orchard.  Archaeological 
excavations were carried out in 1999 and foundations of a cruck-framed timber house 
were found.  This building is now referred to as ‘Onion Farm Cottage’.  It is recorded 
that, this was a thatched building of timber construction standing on a stone foundation 
plinth, which still remains.  Part of the original construction of this complex, the outside 
toilet and two pig-sties still exist to the west of the old building.  The building, used as a 
labourer’s cottage, was believed to have been demolished in the 1930s.  ‘Onion Farm 
Cottage’ is considered to date from the C17 and appears on a 1757 map of Warburton. 
 
The original part of Onion Farm farmhouse is Grade II listed.  Access to the site is from 
Warburton Lane and runs adjacent to Villa Farm, a 1930s farmhouse building to the 
east of Onion Farm. The date of the listing is 7th July 1989. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 44



 

 
 

PROPOSAL 
 
Permission is sought for the demolition of a barn within the curtilage of a listed building, 
construction of outbuilding (garage), conversion of existing pigsty to refuse store, 
erection of cottage and installation of new gates and fencing (in association with listed 
building application 94049/LBC/18 also on this agenda). 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purpose of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 

• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 
Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) development 
plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes the Revised 
Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy. 
• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were saved in 
either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are superseded by policies 
within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy provides details as to how 
the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 – Land for New Homes 
L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L4 – Sustainable Transport & Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
R4 – Green Belt, Countryside and Other Protected Open Land 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Green Belt 
Area of Special Landscape Value 
Area of Landscape Protection 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
C4 – Green Belt 
ENV17 – Areas of Landscape Protection 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 

PG1: New Residential Development (approved September 2004) 
PG30: Landscape Strategy 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 45



 

 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24 July 
2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 
OTHER LEGISLATION 
 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
94049/LBC/18 – Listed Building consent sought for the demolition of an existing Dutch 
barn and the construction of a double garage and log store. Erection of a cottage, 
existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store with the installation of new gates and 
fencing to enclose the site. 
Application on this agenda for determination 
 
90724/LBC/17 – Listed Building Consent sought for the demolition of an existing Dutch 
barn and the construction of a double garage and log store.  Erection of a cottage, 
existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store with the installation of new gates and 
fencing to enclose the site. 
Application withdrawn. 
 
90723/FUL/17 - Demolition of existing Dutch barn and the construction of a double 
garage and log store to form a farmyard/forecourt to Onion Farm. Erection of a cottage 
outside the curtilage of Onion Farm, existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store 
with the installation of new gates to enclose the site. 
Application withdrawn 
 
H/LB/56736 – Listed Building Consent for erection of conservatory to western elevation. 
Approved with conditions 9 July 2003 
 
H/56411 – Erection of conservatory to western elevation. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 46



 

 
 

Approved with conditions 9 July 2003 
 
H/38225 – Listed Building Consent for erection part single and part 2 storey link 
between original farmhouse and barn to form additional living accommodation in 
connection with change of use and refurbishment of buildings to form dwelling. 
Approved with conditions 30 March 1994 
 
H/38224 - Erection part single and part 2 storey link between original farmhouse and 
barn to form additional living accommodation in connection with change of use and 
refurbishment of buildings to form dwelling. 
Approved with conditions 20 March 1994 
 
H/34733 – Change of use from barn to dwelling 
Approved with conditions 15 April 1992 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The following documents have been submitted with this application: 
 
Heritage Statement 
Planning Statement 
Design and Access Statement 
Bat Survey 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
Tree Report 
Tree Survey 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
LHA:- No objections 
 
United Utilities:- 
 
Drainage comments 
The developer should consider the following drainage options in the following order of 
priority: 
 
1. Into the ground (infiltration) 
2. To a surface water body; 
3. To a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 
4. To a combined sewer. 
 
Water comments 
It is the applicant’s responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship between any 
United Utilities’ assets and the proposed development. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 47



 

 
 

Lead Local Flood Authority:- It is considered that the proposed works will not cause 
flood risk to the development or the surrounding area, the application is therefore 
satisfactory for approval subject to the drainage scheme being designed and submitted 
as part of any conditions. 

Conditions are recommended regarding the submission of a detailed drainage design 
and SUDs scheme. 
 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS):- Raise no 
objection subject to a recommended condition for a watching brief. 
 
Pollution and Licensing (Contaminated Land):- No contaminated land conditions 
required for this application. 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Letters of support have been received from a neighbouring property and Warburton 
Parish Council as well as Councillor Sean Anstee. The main points raised are 
summarised below: 
 

 The loss of the ugly barn and the replacement with a garage is welcomed; 

 The proposed development would be an asset to the area; 

 The proposal was supported unanimously by the Parish Council; 

 The rebuilding of the cottage would not stray from the original footprint and would 
be in keeping with surrounding properties in line with Warburton’s Village Design 
Statement; 

 The land on which the cottage would sit is behind a tall hedge and although near 
to green belt land would not adversely affect any open aspect; 

 The harm to openness is significantly outweighed by the beneficial nature of the 
overall proposal.  It appears the plot in question has historically been used for 
development; 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
1. The proposal is for the demolition of a barn within the curtilage of a listed building, 

construction of outbuilding (garage), conversion of existing pigsty to refuse store, 
erection of cottage and installation of new gates and fencing. 

 
2. The application site is located within the Green Belt and Area of Special 

Landscape Value and Landscape Protection. 
 
3. The main areas for consideration are therefore the principle of a new residential 

unit within this location and the impact of all elements of the proposal on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the character of the surrounding area more 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 48



 

 
 

generally as well as the impact on the designated heritage assets.  Impact on 
residential amenity and parking and highways are also to be considered. 

 
ERECTION OF NEW DWELLING WITHIN GREEN BELT 
 
Development in the Green Belt  
 
4. National Planning Policy regarding Green Belt is contained within NPPF (section 

13).  The five purposes that the Green Belt serves are set out in paragraph 134: 
 

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. 

 
5. Paragraph 143 of NPPF states that “inappropriate development is, by definition, 

harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.” 

 
6. Paragraph 144 goes on to state that when considering any planning application, 

local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any 
harm to the Green Belt.  ‘Very special circumstances; will not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

 
7. Paragraph 145 of NPPF provides local planning authorities with exceptions to the 

presumption that the construction of new buildings is inappropriate in the Green 
Belt.  These exceptions are: 
a) buildings for agriculture and forestry; 
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 
or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it; 
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building; 
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces; 
e) limited infilling in villages; 
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and 
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would: 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 49



 

 
 

‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 

‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority. 

 
8. The Trafford Core Strategy at Policy R4 supports the policies in the NPPF as 

outlined above. 
 
9. The applicant considers that the proposal falls to be judged against bullet point (g) 

of paragraph 145, constituting redevelopment of a previously developed site.  
Supporting information submitted with this application states that “the site was both 
occupied by a permanent structure; now redundant, which is still clearly present on 
the site and also remains occupied by the toilet building which served the cottage 
located within its curtilage.  Whilst the cottage was demolished some time ago 
there is no time limit to what constitutes a previously developed site it is a matter of 
physical presence, so long as the site is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure.  The site meets both of these criteria.” 

 
10. The definition of previously developed land is contained within Annex 2 of the 

NPPF and states that previously developed land is: 

 
“Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of 
the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the 
curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. 
This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; 
land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, 
where provision for restoration has been made through development management 
procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation 
grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the 
remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into 
the landscape.” 

 
11. The remains on site are of a C17 farmhouse that is believed to have been 

demolished in the 1930s.  The Design and Access Statement and extracts from 
the University of Manchester Archaeological Unit (UMAU) survey indicate that 
following demolition the site was “subsequently incorporated into a field.” It is 
considered that the application site does not form part of a residential curtilage.  

 
12. The Council considers that whilst there was a dwelling there, demolished 

sometime between 1934 and 1950, it has blended into the landscape.  This view is 
taken into consideration for a number of reasons, the predominant being: 

 

 The floor/tiled area exposed is below the existing ground level and was excavated 
out, and 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 50



 

 
 

 Whilst there is low walling around, this is covered by vegetation and two trees are 
growing within the centre of the previous structure. 

 
13. Even if the Council were to take the view that the land was previously developed 

land, and it is strongly considered that it is not, it would then, by reference to bullet 
point (g) of paragraph 145 of the NPPF have to have regard to the impact of any 
development on the openness of the Green Belt.  

 
14. Openness is generally defined as the lack of built development. The impact on 

openness created by the erection of the dwelling would be significant given the 
lack of a substantive structure on site. When considering the impact of the 
proposed development regard has been had to the presence, and subsequent 
demolition, of the barn within the site as well as the pig sty.  Further consideration 
is given to the impact on the openness and character of the area within a later 
section of this report. 

 
15. Whichever way the application is approached, the Council is of the view that the 

development is inappropriate development within the Green Belt.  As required by 
paragraph 144 of the NPPF, substantial weight is attached to the harm to the 
Green Belt. 

  

16. Regard is also given to bullet point e of paragraph 189 of the NPPF (see above). It 
is considered that this proposal does not constitute limited infilling in the village, 
having regard to the context of the site and the character of the area as well as the 
land around the application site.  The proposal is not for affordable housing.  

  

17. Paragraph 143 of NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. The onus is on the applicant to demonstrate that very special 
circumstances exist which clearly outweigh the harm caused to the Green Belt by 
the inappropriate nature of the proposed development. 

 
18. Very special circumstances have been outlined in a supporting letter from the 

agent dated 4th July 2018 including comments from South Trafford Archaeology 
Group.  The very special circumstances put forward are: 

 

 the benefits associated with the removal of the Dutch Barn to the setting of the 
adjacent listed building,  

 the contribution to housing supply and  

 the ties of the applicant to the village/hamlet.   
 

These very special circumstances are not considered to be significant enough to 
clearly outweigh the harm to Green Belt as required by paragraph 144 of the 
NPPF. It should also be noted that the removal of the Dutch Barn and the 
suggested benefits that would bring about, is not reliant on the approval of the 
planning application. Members will note the application for Listed Building Consent 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 51



 

 
 

which is reported elsewhere on this agenda and recommended for approval. If 
approved there would be no impediment to the removal of the Dutch Barn.  

 
Conclusion 
 
19. Paragraph 143 of NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition 

harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. The proposal constitutes inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt. The applicant has not demonstrated any very special circumstances 
which are considered to be significant enough to clearly outweigh the harm to 
Green Belt and therefore it is considered the application is contrary to national and 
local Green Belt Policy.  

 
IMPACT ON OPENNESS OF THE GREEN BELT 
 
Proposed Cottage 
 
20. The principle of the erection of a cottage has already been addressed in this report 

and it is concluded that this element of the proposal constitutes inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt which would be detrimental to its openness. 

 
21. This impact is assessed further in this section with a consideration of the design, 

style, scale and materials of the proposed dwelling. 
 
22. The Design and Access Statement advises in paragraph 21 that the proposed new 

cottage is “intended to be a replica of the cottage which originally stood on this 
site, the outside toilet and pigsty for which is still extant to the west.  The intention 
is to construct a cruck-framed main body to the house, the cruck being the same 
approximate dimensions as the original building.  The construction will be in green 
oak framing, as used in the Onion Farm building, with internally exposed timbers 
and with a brick external skin.  Most of the timber framed buildings in Warburton, 
including Onion Farm had all the original external and some internal wattle and 
daub infill panels replaced with brick throughout the C17th, C18th and C19th.  At 
the same time, it appears that almost all the thatched roofs were replaced by tile, 
or later, slate roofs.  The cottage would be designed very much in compliance with 
the Warburton Village Design Statement, the Trafford Landscape Character 
Assessment and the Trafford Urban Historic Landscape Characterisation (interim 
report July 2008). … The roof will be constructed in a blue-grey slate to match the 
colours of the roofs on the opposite side of Warburton Lane.” 

 
23. The proposal therefore builds on the attributes of the cruck-framed cottage that 

once stood on the site.  Whilst in terms of design and style it may be appropriate to 
the historic context of the site, there have been significant changes to the 
immediate surroundings since the demolition of the property.  A new farmhouse, 
Villa Farm, was built in the 1930s and Onion Farm has been extended and 
converted to create a separate dwelling.  The area has been designated as Green 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 52



 

 
 

Belt since the demolition of the original cottage, in order to protect further 
encroachment and loss of openness with regard to the open and rural character of 
the area. 

 
24. It is considered that the design and materials of the proposed dwelling and the 

presence of a former cottage on the site do not mitigate the adverse visual impact 
that the proposed house would have on this open, rural, attractive part of the 
Green Belt.   

 
25. The impact of the development on the openness of the Green Belt comes not only 

from the dwelling and associated hardstanding and fencing, but also from the 
potential to result in the introduction of a large amount of alien urban elements 
such as ornamental gardens, patios, sheds.  Whilst fencing and outbuildings could 
be controlled by planning conditions, other domestic paraphernalia such as patios, 
trampolines, tables and chairs cannot. 

 
Demolition of existing Dutch barn and the construction of a double garage and 
log store to form a farmyard/forecourt to Onion Farm 
 
26. Green Belt policy has been outlined in an earlier section of this report.  The 

exceptions set out in Paragraph 145 of NPPF in relation to new buildings 
constituting inappropriate development in the Green Belt include: 

 

 The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces; 

 
27. The Dutch Barn which sits in front of the farmhouse is currently used for storage 

and garaging.  The proposed detached garage building and log store combined 
would have a smaller footprint than the existing Dutch Barn.  The building would 
appear to have a more domestic scale in keeping with the current use of the 
property.  It is considered that the proposed buildings that replace the existing barn 
is appropriate to the design and style of the host dwelling and would have a 
reduced impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 
 

Conclusion  
 

28. Whilst the proposed garage constitutes an appropriate and acceptable 
replacement of the existing Dutch Barn, the proposed new dwelling for the reasons 
set out above and in earlier sections of this report, would be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and is considered to have a significant impact on 
openness. 

 
Housing Land Supply 
 
29. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF indicates that plans and decisions should be 

considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 53



 

 
 

development.  Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 
30. The paragraph indicates that where there are no relevant development plan 

policies or the policies which are most important for determining the application 
are out of date planning permission should be granted unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. 

 
31. Footnote 6 to the paragraph indicates that Green Belt policies are amongst those 

within the Framework that would provide a clear reason for refusing the 
development.  

 
32. The Council does not, at present, have a five year supply of immediately 

available housing land.  The absence of a continuing supply of housing land has 
significant consequences in terms of the Council’s ability to contribute towards 
the government’s aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing.  
Notwithstanding this, the application of Footnote 6 referenced above means that 
the lack of a five year housing land supply does not reduce the weight given to 
Green Belt policy. This proposal would make a minor contribution to housing 
supply.  

 
Conclusion 
 

33. The proposed development’s ability to contribute to the borough’s five year 
supply is not sufficient to outweigh the harm that it will cause to the Green Belt.   

 
34. Consequently, and in accordance with NPPF, there cannot be a presumption in 

favour of this development.  Paragraph 11 of NPPF makes it clear that in 
decision making terms, the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
means approving development proposals that accord with the development plan.  
It is considered that for the reasons set out above that this development is 
contrary to the adopted development plan for Trafford as well as the NPPF when 
read as a whole. . 

 
IMPACT ON DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

35. The importance of preserving the historic environment is reflected in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and supporting Guidance (NPPG). 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 54



 

 
 

36. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
advises that “In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority … shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

 
37. Section 16 (2&3) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 advises ‘In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any 
works the local planning authority whether to grant listed building consent for any 
works the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.  Any listed building consent shall (except in 
so far as it otherwise provides) ensure for the benefit of the building and all 
persons for the time being interested in it. 

 
38. Paragraph 193 of NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  The more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be.    

 
39. The NPPF sets out that harm can either be substantial or less than substantial.  

Case law has established that there can be degrees of less than substantial 
harm.  There will also be cases where development affects heritage assets but 
from which no harm arises.  Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing 
its optimum viable use (para 134).   

 
40. Paragraph 195 of NPPF advises that where a proposed development will lead to 

substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, 
local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated 
that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and  

b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  

c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  

d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.  
 

41. Paragraph 196 advises that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 55



 

 
 

should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing 
its optimum viable use. 

 
42. Policy L7 states that ‘In relation to matters of design, development must: 

 

 Be appropriate in its context; 

 Make best use of opportunities to improve the character and quality of an area; 

 Enhance the street scene or character of the area by appropriately addressing 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, elevation treatment, materials, hard and 
soft landscaping works, boundary treatment. 

 
43. Policy R1 states that:- 

 
All new development must take account of surrounding building styles, landscapes 
and historic distinctiveness.  Developers must demonstrate how the development 
will complement and enhance the existing features of historic significance 
including their wider settings, in particular in relation to conservation areas, listed 
buildings and other identified heritage assets. 

 
The Designated Heritage Asset 
 

44. The existing farmhouse building at Onion Farm is a Grade II Listed Building 
(Building approximately 10 metres west of Villa Farmhouse).  At the time of listing 
(July 1989) this was described as a former farmhouse, now used for storage 
purposes.  The building is described in the listing as being “built in three phases: 
first, a timber-framed house of the late C16 or early C17; this was partially rebuilt 
(or extended) in sandstone perhaps in the later C17; most of the earlier external 
walling was replaced in brick in the C18.”  The building is “largely brick in English 
garden wall bond, with sandstone courses to all but the south elevation: internal 
framed partitions; tiled gable-end roof. 2 storeys.” 

 
45. The importance of Onion Farm was first realised during a survey of Warburton 

township undertaken in 1988 as part of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Unit’s Trafford Heritage Project, when a preliminary measured survey was 
carried out at the building. 

 
46. The listing specifically refers to “good quality-but much faded late C16 or early 

C17 paintings direct on to a plaster and wood depicting a woman in elaborate full 
dress with two geese and a rose, against a foliage background.”  It continues to 
state that “The presence of a high quality wall painting in a house of this status is 
rare.  The subject may be St Werburga, whose emblem is a goose; the local 
parish church is dedicated to her.”  It is considered that the significance of this 
designated heritage asset is derived from the presence of this painting that is 
pertinent to architectural, art-historical and local history.   

 
47. Despite extensive enlargement and alteration over a three hundred year period 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 56



 

 
 

Onion Farmhouse can be shown to be an interesting example of the influence of 
the Great Rebuilding of yeoman farmsteads in the region, and is noteworthy as 
containing a number of unusual embellishments of style and variations in the 
development of the two and three unit farmhouse.  

 
48. Permission was granted in 1992 for the change of use of a barn to a dwelling 

(H/34733) and subsequent permissions in 1994 and 2003 granted approval for 
the erection of a part single and part 2 storey link between the original farmhouse 
and barn to form additional living accommodation and the erection of a 
conservatory to the western elevation. 

 
49. The application does not propose to carry out any further works to the building 

itself although works are proposed within the curtilage of the building and in close 
proximity. 

 
Impact on the Setting of the Designated Listed Building 
 

50. ‘Setting’ is defined in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as “The 
surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced.  Its extent is not fixed and 
may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve.   

 
51. Guidance provided by Historic England advises that “The setting itself is not 

designated.  Every heritage asset, whether designated or not has a setting.  Its 
importance, and therefore the degree of protection it is offered in planning 
decisions, depends entirely on the contribution it makes to the significance of the 
heritage asset or its appreciation.” 

  
Proposed New Cottage and Conversion of Pig-sty 
 

52. The proposed siting of the new cottage would be a sufficient distance from the 
listed Onion Farm for there to be no harm to the setting of this designated 
heritage asset. The pigsty building is adjacent to the site of the previous ‘Onion 
Farm Cottage’ and the proposed new dwelling and it is therefore also considered 
that the proposals in relation to this building would not harm the setting of the 
listed building. 

 
Demolition of Dutch Barn and Erection of Double Garage and Log Store 
 

53. The barn is sited within the curtilage of the Listed Grade II Building of Onion 
Farm and is sited on the boundary with the area of orchard to the south.  The 
Dutch barn is currently used for machine storage and garaging. 

 
54. Whilst the listing makes no reference to the Dutch barn, the Heritage 

Assessment submitted with this application advises that it was erected c.1938.  
The barn has an asbestos-cemented roof and corrugated galvanised steel 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 57



 

 
 

cladding on the western, southern and eastern side.  The barn is open on the 
northern side.  The corrugated roof is supported by steel trusses. 

 
55. Although the barn is not referenced within the listing, by virtue of its proximity to, 

and relationship with, the main farm cottage it is considered to be a curtilage 
building covered by the listing and is consequently itself a designated heritage 
asset. 

 
56. The Heritage Assessment advises that the farm complex, including the Dutch 

Barn has “considerable historical value locally, for the landscape and historical 
development of Warburton and would contribute to our understanding of the 
development of rural settlement in the post-medieval period.” However, the Dutch 
Barn itself is considered to be of low significance. 

 
57. The demolition of the Dutch Barn would, as a result of its total loss and 

destruction, comprise ‘substantial harm’ to the fabric of this heritage asset. 
However, its fabric, appearance and historic character is itself of low significance. 
The primary significance of Onion Farm in the fabric of the farmhouse itself, and 
in particular its internal features; albeit its wider setting is also of significance, 
particularly in respect of, evidentially, the historic development of the settlement 
of Warburton. 

 
58. The overall form, scale, height and massing of the Dutch Barn overshadows the 

historic Onion Farm complex and this is acknowledged in the Heritage 
Assessment.  Together with its utilitarian design and materials, it is considered 
that the appearance of the barn impacts negatively on the setting of the listed 
building, despite the fact it is itself curtilage listed.  It is considered therefore that 
the demolition of this building would have an entirely positive impact on the 
setting of Onion Farm. Subject to other (non-heritage) planning considerations 
being acceptable, its demolition would enable the construction of a building which 
would be better related in its character, form and appearance to the Onion Farm 
complex and in doing so enable archaeological investigations to further the 
understanding of the development of the site and Warburton as a whole. This 
would accord with the advice in Paragraph 192a) and c) of the NPPF which 
advises Local Planning Authorities to take account of (inter alia) the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets; and the desirability 
of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. These are considered to be substantial public benefits which 
would outweigh the harm to a heritage asset which is demonstrably of low 
significance. The Dutch Barn could be removed without the need for this 
development. 

 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 58



 

 
 

Erection of new gates and fencing 
 

59. The proposed new gate is to be located in the same siting as the existing 
opening.  The new fencing would demarcate the proposed curtilage for the new 
cottage along the southern boundary with the existing hedgerow marking the 
boundary on all remaining sides.  It is considered that the sub-division of the plot 
and the creation of a new residential curtilage could harm the integrity of the 
setting of the designated heritage asset.  

 
Conclusion 
 

60. The proposals have been considered against the statutory requirement in S16(2) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and advice 
in the NPPF. It is considered that the architectural and historic importance of the 
building and its setting would be positively enhanced and that the substantial 
harm to the Dutch Barn would be outweighed by substantial public (heritage) 
benefits. There is considered to be less than substantial harm created by the 
sub-division of the plot which is not outweighed by the public benefits associated 
with the scheme. 

 
61.   In arriving at this decision, considerable importance and weight has been given 

to the desirability of preserving the Listed Building. 
 
IMPACT ON NON-DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

62. As well as designated heritage assets (listed buildings, monuments, 
Conservation Areas etc.) heritage assets also include assets identified by the 
local planning authority (including local listing).  Paragraph 135 of NPPF states 
that: 

 
 “The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 

 asset should be taken into account in determining the application.  In weighing 
 applications that affect directly or indirectly non-designated heritage assets, a 
 balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or 
 loss and the significance of the heritage asset.” 

 
John Douglas, Architect and Archaeological Site 
 

63. The Conservation Area Appraisal for Warburton Conservation Area discusses 
the importance of the work of a local architect, John Douglas in developing the 
local vernacular. 

 
64. Paragraph 4.3.9 states that: 

 
 “In the late 19th century, local architect John Douglas (1830-1911) was employed 

 by prominent local landowner, Rowland Egerton-Warburton to restore Bent 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 59



 

 
 

 Farmhouse to the east of the Conservation Area.  The success of this restoration 
 saw the resulting Arts & Crafts style copied elsewhere in Warburton, with 
 features such as scalloped ridges and decorative bargeboarding added to 
 existing buildings.  Douglas was born in Sandiway and worked prolifically in the 
 north-west.  His style drew upon the Gothic Revival for his larger commissions 
 and local vernacular architecture for his domestic work.” 

 
65. There is a section on Building Details within the Warburton Village Design on 

‘Building Details’.  It advises that: 
 
 “John Douglas’s appreciation (heavily influenced by the Arts and Crafts 

 movement) of the local setting and of traditional building materials allowed his 
 designs to blend into the village environment.  The most significant of these new 
 buildings were the new church and church house, the school and the post office. 

 
 New parish rooms and a caretaker’s house were built adjacent to the new church 

 in 1889, all having been designed by John Douglas. 
 
 However, may of the farm buildings on the estate also reflect the Douglas 

 influence. 
 
 This style emphasised the traditions of vernacular architecture, in particular, brick 

 and tile mullioned windows, terracotta detailing such as finials and dogtooth 
 work, and projecting shaped purlins to the roof.” 

 
66. The Archaeological report from 1999 describes in detail the evolution of Onion 

Farm Cottage from a two-roomed cruck-framed cottage to the 19th and 20th 
century additions.  The extract provided in paragraph 5 of the Design and Access 
Statement advises that: 

 
 “Finds from the inglenook’s brick-lined hearth included some 17th century clay 

 pipes and Midland Purple Ware pottery.  Further pottery was excavated from a 
 rubbish pit by the original northern gable and behind the inglenook fireplace 
 dated to the late 16th or early 17th century….The rubbish pit was later sealed by 
 the floor of a northern extension built on a sandstone plinth in the later 17th or 
 early 18th century (Phase 3).  At the end of the 19th century a kitchen and lean-to 
 scullery, in machine-made brick, were built on to the western wall of the original 
 cruck building and to the north a barn-range was added (Phase 3).  The 
 southern-most room was soon after floored in quarry tile (Phase 4), and early in 
 the 20th century the middle room was floored in concrete (Phase 5).  Shortly 
 afterwards, however, the cottage was demolished, so that in the early 21st the 
 only part of the cottage to survive is the early 19th pigsty to the west.” 

 
67. Paragraph 8 of the Design and Access Statement considers that “This evidence 

strongly suggest that ‘Phases 3 and 4’ referred to above equates to the period of 
the John Douglas initiative in the village.  The surviving pigsty and domestic toilet 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 60



 

 
 

to the west is also probably of the John Douglas era, as is the nearby western 
range of Onion Farm, comprising of a former stable block and cart shed with 
chicken/hay lofts above and very similar style pigsty in a lean-to to the rear.  This 
building has a very characteristic brick corbel on the gable ends.” 

 
68. Former ‘Onion Farm Cottage’ is therefore considered to closely replicate the 

work of John Douglas and the excavation carried out in 1999 has produced an 
important record of this building and the relationship with the history, 
development and character of Warburton.  

 
69. The application is supported by a Heritage Statement prepared by Salford 

Archaeology in March 2018.  This study includes an analysis of the 
archaeological interest and potential which might be affected by the scheme.  In 
1999, South Trafford Archaeology Group (STAG) undertook an excavation of the 
site of Onion Farm Cottage which falls within the application site.  The excavation 
found 17th to 20th century remains of the former building, with the results of the 
investigation being published in a book on Warburton in 2015. 

 
70. Whilst the proposals will impact on the buried remains of the cottage, GMAAS 

feel that a good record has been made of these in the 1999 excavation and that 
the remains are not significant enough to warrant preservation in situ.  However, 
GMAAS would like to see an archaeological watching brief undertaken during 
development groundworks to retrieve any residual archaeological information 
from the site, including ground not previously investigated such as the site of the 
later Dutch Barn following its removal.  Subject to this recommended condition, it 
is considered that there would be no harm to these non-designated heritage 
assets. 

 
Hedgerows 
 

71. Hedgerows, like trees, can make an important contribution to the character of an 
area and may be historically (and occasionally archaeologically) importance as 
indications of land use and previous ownership.  They also contribute to 
biodiversity. 

 
72. The removal of a hedgerow is unlikely to require planning permission, but if 

removal is proposed as part of a planning application then its impact on the 
heritage significance of the area and its impact on the setting of any heritage 
assets around may be taken into account in accordance with planning policies in 
the NPPF and the local development plan. 

 
73. The proposed new gate and fence would not result in the loss of any of this  

hedgerow.  
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 61



 

 
 

 
Conclusion 
 

74. For the reasons set out above, it is not considered that the proposals would 
cause any significant harm to this non-designated heritage asset. 

 
IMPACT ON VISUAL AMENITY AND CHARACTER OF THE AREA 
 

75. Notwithstanding the fundamental policy concerns set out above, consideration 
has also to be given to the visual impact of the proposed development, both in 
terms of its impact on the Green Belt and the visual amenity of the area 
generally.  

 
76. Paragraph 170 of NPPF advises that “Planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment” and that valued 
landscapes should be protected and enhanced.  

 
77. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to design and protecting 

amenity, development must make best use of opportunities to improve the 
character and quality of an area and be compatible with the surrounding area. 

 
78. In assessing the proposal in relation to the surrounding area, it is important to 

firstly establish the character of the area.  The application site is located on the 
outskirts of a hamlet centred around Moss Brow. 

 
79. The application site is located in an open, rural and attractive part of the Green 

Belt.  The Warburton Village Design Statement advises that “Today, Warburton 
remains essentially a rural community comprising approximately 120 dwellings 
scattered throughout the parish.  A large percentage of these dwellings are 
clearly marked on the 1839 map of Warburton, suggesting that the settlement 
patterns have remained relatively unchanged over recent history.  Distinct 
architectural features are characteristic within the area.” 

 
80. Several cruck-framed structures have been identified in Warburton.  These 

buildings represent the earliest vernacular building traditions to survive in the 
area, and appear to date from the 15th-17th century.  A period of re-building took 
place in the late 19th century and much of this rebuilding was to a set style, 
designed by the noted Victorian architect John Douglas. 

 
81. Warburton offers one of the last remaining areas of countryside within the 

conurbation of Warrington, Altrincham and Manchester.  The area is identified as 
part of the Settled Sandlands within PG30.  This advises that: 

 
 “The area consists of good quality agricultural land, supporting both arable and 

 pasture.  The semiregular pattern of medium sized fields is well defined by 
 hawthorn hedgerows with a high proportion of hedgerow trees, predominantly 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 62



 

 
 

 Oak and Ash. These hedgerow trees and hedgerows around the farmsteads and 
 country lanes are visually prominent throughout the area and contribute to the 
 appearance of the rural area.  Although low-lying the land begins to roll gently 
 southwards beyond Sinderland Brook and in particular down to the River Bollin 
 floodplain.  The combination of the rolling landscape and unwooded nature of the 
 rural landscape creates extensive views to the south, east and west.” 

 
82. There are glimpses of Onion Farm, Villa Farm and the associated outbuildings 

from public vantage points but the general character on this side of Warburton 
Lane is of open countryside generally free from development. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal, by virtue of its size, scale and siting would intrude 
into this openness and would appear unduly dominant and out of context with its 
surroundings.  Thus, the proposal would not only detract from the openness of 
the Green Belt, but also the character of the area. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

83. The Council’s guidelines for new dwellings are set out in PG1: New Residential 
Development (Adopted September 2004). 

 
84. L7.3 of the Trafford Core Strategy advises that: 

 
“In relation to matters of amenity protection, development must: 
 

 Be compatible with the surrounding area; and 

 Not prejudice the amenity of the future occupiers of the development and/or 
occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, overshadowing, 
overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, odour or in any other way.” 

 
85. In terms of protecting existing properties from overlooking and loss of privacy, 

PG1 advises that the minimum distance between dwellings which have major 
facing windows is 21 metres across public highways and 27 metres across 
private gardens. 

 

86. Villa Farm is the immediate neighbouring property to the north of the site which is 
separated by the existing access to Onion Farm.  The access is lined by a 
hedge.   The total distance between the proposed new dwelling and Villa Farm is 
approximately 20m.  Whilst this falls short of the Council’s guidelines, there is 
only one small window in the first floor facing window of this neighbouring 
dwelling which would appear to serve a WC.  There is therefore considered to be 
no undue impact in terms of overlooking or loss of privacy. 

 
87. The distance to Rose and Lilac Cottages on the opposite side of Warburton Lane 

is approximately 20m.  The gable end of this cottage faces the application site 
and there is one window in the first floor elevation which according to Council 
records and plans for the property, appears to serve a bathroom.   

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 63



 

 
 

Conclusion 
 

88. The proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and complies with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy, 
relevant sections of NPPF and adopted Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
HIGHWAYS AND PARKING 
 

89. Policy L7 states that in relation to matters of functionality, development must: 
 

 Incorporate vehicular access and egress which is satisfactorily located and laid out 
having regard to the need for highway safety; 

 Provide sufficient off-street car and cycle parking, manoeuvring and operation 
space. 

 
90. The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has been consulted on the proposal and 

raises no objection on highway grounds with the access, servicing, parking and 
proposed fencing arrangements all considered to be satisfactory. 

 
Conclusion 
 

91. The proposal would have no impact on highways and parking. 
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

92. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is 
located in the ‘hot zone’ for residential development, consequently private market 
houses will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £80 per square metre, in line with 
Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014).  

 
93. No other planning obligations are required. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 

94. Considerable importance and weight has been given to the desirability of 
preserving the designated and non-designated heritage assets and it is 
concluded that whilst the proposal results in substantial harm in relation to the 
removal of the Dutch Barn this is outweighed by the public benefits of the 
scheme as set out above. There is considered to be less than substantial harm 
created by the sub-division of the curtilage which it is considered is not 
outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme.  

 

95. Having regard to the very special circumstances put forward it is considered that: 

 
• the benefits associated with the removal of the Dutch Barn to the setting of 

the adjacent listed building, - whilst substantial benefits are acknowledged 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 64



 

 
 

limited weight is applied to this benefit for the reason that it is not dependent 
on this development coming forward. It is also, by itself, not considered 
sufficient to justify inappropriate development as proposed within the green 
belt.   

• the contribution to housing supply – paragraph 11 of the NPPF indicates that 
green belt policy indicates that permission should be refused and therefore 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply in this 
instance, notwithstanding this the proposal makes a minor contribution to 
housing supply and  

• the ties of the applicant to the village/hamlet – this is not considered to carry 
any weight.   

 
It is therefore concluded that the proposal constitutes inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt and no very special circumstances have been 
demonstrated that would outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.   

 
96. The impact on openness created by the erection of the dwelling would be 

significant given the lack of a substantive structure on site and the character of 
the surrounding area as would the encroachment into open countryside. 

 
97. The proposal is contrary to Trafford Core Strategy Policies and the NPPF in 

relation to development within the Green Belt and the impact on a designated 
heritage asset and accordingly refusal is recommended. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Refuse, for the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposed development is located within the Green Belt where there is a 
presumption against inappropriate development and where development will only be 
allowed if it is for an appropriate purpose or where very special circumstances can be 
demonstrated.  The applicant has failed to demonstrate that there are any such very 
special circumstances to permit the erection of a detached dwellinghouse and as such 
the development is contrary to Government advice contained in NPPF and Policy R4 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy and Policy C4 of the Revised Trafford Unitary Development 
Plan.  The application represents unsustainable development contrary to the Strategic 
Objectives of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 
2. The proposed development, by virtue of its siting within the Green Belt, size, 
design and massing would fail to preserve the openness of the Green Belt and would 
detract from the rural character of the site and the surrounding area more generally.  
The development is thereby contrary to Policies L7, R2 and R4 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and advice contained within the NPPF. 

 
3. The proposed development, by virtue of the sub-division of the curtilage of Onion 
Farm, would cause less than substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Onion Farm 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 65



 

 
 

House. It is considered, having regard to paragraph 196 of the NPPF, that the public 
benefits of the scheme do not outweigh the harm to the designated heritage asset. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to policy R1 of the Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy 
2012 and the NPPF. 
 
 
JE 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 66



E

EEE

EE
FF

Farm

Villa

GP

Mossbrow

LB

TCB

20.4m

18.9m

The
Pond

B 5160

A
 6

14
4

Onion

Cottage
R

os
e 

C
ot

t

W
ARBURTO

N

Primrose

DUNHAM ROAD

Lilac Cott

Beech Court

Lilac Cottage

Business Centre

B 5160

Farm

Mossbrow

LA
N

E

A
 6

14
4

Beeches

Li
la

c 
Cot

t

ond

Cottage

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94048/FUL/18

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, WA13 9TW

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 67



 

 
 

WARD: Bowdon 
 

94049/LBC/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Listed Building consent sought for the demolition of an existing Dutch barn. 

 
Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, WA13 9TW 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr & Mrs Beckmann 
AGENT:  Indigo Planning 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
This application has been called in to be determined by Committee by Councillor 
Sean Anstee. 
 
SITE 
 
The application site comprises a large Dutch Barn which stands to the south of the large 
farmhouse dwelling of Onion Farm located on the west side of Warburton Lane. The 
barn is currently used for storage and garaging in relation to the residential property.  
The Heritage Statement submitted with the application indicates that the Dutch Barn 
was built just before 1938. It has an asbestos-cement roof and corrugated galvanised 
steel sheeting to the walls.  The barn is open on the north elevation and partially on the 
east elevation. 
 
To the south of the barn and main farm courtyard lies open land, restored as an orchard 
by the present owners now forming part of Onion Farm. This land is separated by a 
Hawthorn Hedge and timber gate running alongside the access track to the farmhouse 
and barn.   
 
Traces of a building have been located in the southern orchard.  Archaeological 
excavations were carried out in 1999 and foundations of a cruck-framed timber house 
were found.  This building is now referred to as ‘Onion Farm Cottage’.  It is recorded 
that this was a thatched building of timber construction standing on a stone foundation 
plinth, which still remains.  Part of the original construction of this complex, the outside 
toilet and two pig-sties, still exist to the west of the old building.  The building, used as a 
labourer’s cottage, was believed to have been demolished in the 1930s.  ‘Onion Farm 
Cottage’ is considered to be C17 and appears on a 1757 map of Warburton. 
 
The original part of Onion Farm farmhouse is Grade II listed.  Access to the site is from 
Warburton Lane and runs adjacent to Villa Farm, a 1930s farmhouse building to the 
east of Onion Farm.  The date of the listing is 7th July 1989. 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 68



 

 
 

PROPOSAL 
 
Listed Building Consent was originally sought for the demolition of a barn within the 
curtilage of a listed building, construction of outbuilding (garage), conversion of existing 
pigsty to refuse store, erection of cottage and installation of new gates and fencing (in 
association with planning application 94048/FUL/18 also on this agenda). For the 
reasons set out below the description has been changed to refer only to the demolition 
of the Dutch Barn.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
 For the purpose of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
R1 – Historic Environment 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Green Belt 
Area of Special Landscape Value 
Area of Landscape Protection 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
C4 – Green Belt 
ENV17 – Areas of Landscape Protection 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 69



 

 
 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 
2012. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 

OTHER LEGISLATION 
 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

94048/FUL/18 – Demolition of existing Dutch barn and the construction of a double 
garage to form a farmyard/forecourt to Onion Farm. Erection of a cottage outside the 
curtilage of Onion Farm, existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store with the 
installation of new fencing to enclose the site. 

Application on this agenda for determination 
 
90724/LBC/17 – Listed Building Consent sought for the demolition of an existing Dutch 
barn and the construction of a double garage and log store.  Erection of a cottage, 
existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store with the installation of new gates and 
fencing to enclose the site. 
Application withdrawn. 
 
90723/FUL/17 - Demolition of existing Dutch barn and the construction of a double 
garage and log store to form a farmyard/forecourt to Onion Farm. Erection of a cottage 
outside the curtilage of Onion Farm, existing pigsty to be converted to a refuse store 
with the installation of new gates to enclose the site. 
Application withdrawn 
 
H/LB/56736 – Listed Building Consent for erection of conservatory to western elevation. 
Approved with conditions 9 July 2003 
 
H/56411 – Erection of conservatory to western elevation. 
Approved with conditions 9 July 2003 
 
H/38225 – Listed Building Consent for erection part single and part 2 storey link 
between original farmhouse and barn to form additional living accommodation in 
connection with change of use and refurbishment of buildings to form dwelling. 
Approved with conditions 30 March 1994 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 70



 

 
 

H/38224 - Erection part single and part 2 storey link between original farmhouse and 
barn to form additional living accommodation in connection with change of use and 
refurbishment of buildings to form dwelling. 
Approved with conditions 20 March 1994 
 
H/34733 – Change of use from barn to dwelling 
Approved with conditions 15 April 1992 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
A Heritage Statement has been submitted with the application. 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Historic England:- Do not wish to offer any comments 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

A letter of support has been received from Councillor Sean Anstee.  The points raised 
are summarised below: 
 

 The development harm to openness is significantly outweighed by the beneficial 
nature of the overall proposal.  It appears the plot in question has historically 
been used for development. 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. Listed Building Consent, as submitted, is sought for the demolition of a barn 
within the curtilage of a listed building, construction of outbuilding (garage), 
conversion of existing pigsty to refuse store, erection of cottage and installation 
of new gates and fencing (in association with planning application 94048/FUL/18 
also on this agenda). 

 
2. The main area for consideration is therefore the impact on the designated 

heritage asset.   
 
IMPACT ON DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

3. The importance of preserving the historic environment is reflected in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and supporting Guidance (NPPG).   

 
4. Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

advises ‘In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the 
local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 71



 

 
 

interest which it possesses.   
 

5. Paragraph 193 of NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  The more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be.    

 
6. The NPPF sets out that harm can either be substantial or less than substantial.  

Case law has established that there can be degrees of less than substantial 
harm.  There will also be cases where development affects heritage assets but 
from which no harm arises.  Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing 
its optimum viable use (para 134).   

 
7. Paragraph 195 of NPPF advises that where a proposed development will lead to 

substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, 
local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated 
that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and  

b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  

c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  

d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.  
 

8. Paragraph 196 advises that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing 
its optimum viable use. 

 
9. Policy R1 states that:- 

 
All new development must take account of surrounding building styles, 
landscapes and historic distinctiveness.  Developers must demonstrate how the 
development will complement and enhance the existing features of historic 
significance including their wider settings, in particular in relation to conservation 
areas, listed buildings and other identified heritage assets. 

 
The Primary Heritage Asset 
 

10. The existing farmhouse building at Onion Farm is a Grade II Listed Building 
(Building approximately 10 metres west of Villa Farmhouse).  At the time of listing 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 72



 

 
 

(July 1989) this was described as a former farmhouse, now used for storage 
purposes.  The building is described in the listing as being “built in three phases: 
first, a timber-framed house of the late C16 or early C17; this was partially rebuilt 
(or extended) in sandstone perhaps in the later C17; most of the earlier external 
walling was replaced in brick in the C18.”  The building is “largely brick in English 
garden wall bond, with sandstone courses to all but the south elevation: internal 
framed partitions; tiled gable-end roof. 2 storeys.” 

 
11. The importance of Onion Farm was first realised during a survey of Warburton 

township undertaken in 1988 as part of the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Unit’s Trafford Heritage Project, when a preliminary measured survey was 
carried out at the building. 

 
12. The listing specifically refers to “good quality-but much faded late C16 or early 

C17 paintings direct on to a plaster and wood depicting a woman in elaborate full 
dress with two geese and a rose, against a foliage background.”  It continues to 
state that “The presence of a high quality wall painting in a house of this status is 
rare.  The subject may be St Werburga, whose emblem is a goose; the local 
parish church is dedicated to her.”  It is considered that the significance of this 
designated heritage asset is derived from the presence of this painting that is 
pertinent to architectural, art-historical and local history.   

 
13. Despite extensive enlargement and alteration over a three hundred year period 

Onion Farmhouse can be shown to be an interesting example of the influence of 
the Great Rebuilding of yeoman farmsteads in the region, and is noteworthy as 
containing a number of unusual embellishments of style and variations in the 
development of the two and three unit farmhouse.  

 
14. Permission was granted in 1992 for the change of use of a barn to a dwelling 

(H/34733) and subsequent permissions in 1994 and 2003 granted approval for 
the erection of a part single and part 2 storey link between the original farmhouse 
and barn to form additional living accommodation and the erection of a 
conservatory to the western elevation. 

 
15. The application does not propose to carry out any further works to the building 

itself although works are proposed within the curtilage of the building and in close 
proximity. 
 

Curtilage of the Listed Building and the Requirement for Listed Building Consent 
 

16. The requirement for Listed Building Consent applies to all types of works and to 
all parts of those buildings covered by the listing protection (possibly including 
attached and curtilage buildings or other structures), provided the works affect 
the character of the building as a building of special interest. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 73



 

 
 

17. Advice provided by Historic England states that “Curtilage can be defined, for the 
purposes of the listed building legislation, as an area of land around a listed 
building within which other buildings pre dating July 1948 may potentially be 
considered listed.  Not all buildings will have a curtilage.  With those that do there 
will be cases where the extent of the curtilage will be clear (such as a garden 
boundary) but in others it may not be as clear, each case will always be a 
question of fact and degree.  A decision taker may take the following factors into 
account in assessing the matter: i) the physical layout of the listed building and 
the building; ii) their ownership past and present; and their use or function past 
and present specifically whether the building was ancillary (i.e subordinate to and 
dependent on) the purposes of the listed building at the date of listing.” 

 
18. The Tithe map extract submitted in the Design and Access Statement (1835-51) 

and the OS maps dated 1875 and 1910 indicate that the land where Onion Farm 
Cottage was built did not form part of the curtilage of Onion Farm. 

 
Demolition of the Dutch Barn 
 

19. Listed Building Consent is sought for the demolition of an existing Dutch barn.  
The barn is sited within the curtilage of the Listed Grade II Building of Onion 
Farm and is sited on the boundary with the area of orchard to the south.  The 
Dutch barn is currently used for machine storage and garaging. 

 
20. Whilst the listing makes no reference to the Dutch barn, the Heritage 

Assessment submitted with this application advises that it was erected c.1938.  
The barn has an asbestos-cemented roof and corrugated galvanised steel 
cladding on the western, southern and eastern side.  The barn is open on the 
northern side.  The corrugated roof is supported by steel trusses. 

 
21. Although the barn is not referenced within the listing, by virtue of its proximity to, 

and relationship with, the main farm cottage it is considered to be a curtilage 
building covered by the listing and is consequently itself a designated heritage 
asset. 

 
22. The Heritage Assessment advises that the farm complex, including the Dutch 

Barn has “considerable historical value locally, for the landscape and historical 
development of Warburton and would contribute to our understanding of the 
development of rural settlement in the post-medieval period.” However, the Dutch 
Barn itself is considered to be of low significance. 

 
23. The demolition of the Dutch Barn would, as a result of its total loss and 

destruction, comprise ‘substantial harm’ to the fabric of this heritage asset. 
However, its fabric, appearance and historic character is itself of low significance. 
The primary significance of Onion Farm in the fabric of the farmhouse itself, and 
in particular its internal features; albeit its wider setting is also of significance, 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 74



 

 
 

particularly in respect of, evidentially, the historic development of the settlement 
of Warburton. 

 
24. The overall form, scale, height and massing of the Dutch Barn overshadows the 

historic Onion Farm complex and this is acknowledged in the Heritage 
Assessment.  Together with its utilitarian design and materials, it is considered 
that the appearance of the barn impacts negatively on the setting of the listed 
building, despite the fact it is itself curtilage listed.  It is considered therefore that 
the demolition of this building would have an entirely positive impact on the 
setting of Onion Farm. Subject to other (non-heritage) planning considerations 
being acceptable, its demolition would enable the construction of a building which 
would be better related in its character, form and appearance to the Onion Farm 
complex and in doing so enable archaeological investigations to further the 
understanding of the development of the site and Warburton as a whole. This 
would accord with the advice in Paragraph 192a) and c) of the NPPF which 
advises Local Planning Authorities to take account of (inter alia) the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets; and the desirability 
of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. These are considered to be substantial public benefits which 
would outweigh the harm to a heritage asset which is demonstrably of low 
significance. 

 
Conversion, Alteration and Extension 
 

25. The existing pigsty is sited to the south of the farmhouse at Onion Farm, within 
the existing Orchard and lies outside of the curtilage of listed Onion Farm.  As 
such, Listed Building Consent is not required for the proposed works to this 
building. 

 
New Build 
 

26. The proposed double garage/log store is to be built on the site of the existing 
Dutch barn.  It is within the curtilage of the Listed Building however as a new 
building not attached to the building, Listed Building Consent is not required. 

  
27. The new cottage and associated gates and fencing are outside of the curtilage of 

listed Onion Farm.  As such, Listed Building Consent is not required for these 
proposed works. 

 
28. The description has been altered to have regard to these points.  

 
CONCLUSION 
 

29. The proposals have been considered against the statutory requirement in S16(2) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and advice 
in the NPPF. It is considered that the architectural and historic importance of the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 75



 

 
 

building and its setting would be positively enhanced and that the substantial 
harm to the Dutch Barn would be outweighed by substantial public (heritage) 
benefits. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 
 

30. Ordinarily it would not be appropriate to grant Listed Building Consent where a 
replacement scheme was not in place. In this instance the removal of the Dutch 
Barn is considered to provide substantial benefits to the setting of the listed 
building whether or not a new building was constructed in its place. It is therefore 
considered appropriate to grant Listed Building Consent on this basis.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:-  
 

1 The work hereby granted consent shall be begun not later than the expiration of 
three (3) years beginning with the date of this consent.  
 
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed pursuant to Section 18(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. No development shall take place until the implementation of a programme of 

archaeological works to be undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) has been secured and which has been prepared by the 
appointed archaeological contractor and submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the site 
investigation has been completed in accordance with the approved WSI. The 
WSI shall cover the following: (a) A phased programme and methodology of site 
investigation and recording to include: - targeted field evaluation trenching - 
(depending upon the evaluation results) a strip map and record exercise - 
targeted open area excavation (b) A programme for post investigation 
assessment to include: - analysis of the site investigation records and finds - 
production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological and historical 
interest represented. (c) Provision for publication and dissemination of the 
analysis and report on the site investigation. (d) Provision for archive deposition 
of the report, finds and records of the site investigation. (e) Nomination of a 
competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works set out within 
the approved WSI. 

 
Reason - To protect the significance of any archaeological remains on the site 
having regard to Policy R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
JE 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 76



E

EEE

EE
FF

Farm

Villa

GP

Mossbrow

LB

TCB

20.4m

18.9m

The
Pond

B 5160

A
 6

14
4

Onion

Cottage

R
os

e 
C

ot
t

W
ARBURTO

N
Primrose

DUNHAM ROAD

Lilac Cott

Beech Court

Lilac Cottage

Business Centre

Pond

B 5160

Farm

Mossbrow

LA
N

E

A
 6

14
4

Beeches

Li
la

c 
Cot

t

Cottage

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94049/LBC/18

Onion Farm, Warburton Lane, Warburton, WA13 9TW

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 77



WARD: Broadheath 94128/FUL/18                                    DEPARTURE: No 

 

Demolition of existing dwelling house and outbuildings to allow for the 
erection of 3 No. residential dwellings with associated external works, car 
parking, landscaping and amended vehicle access and front boundary 
treatment. 

42 Brook Avenue, Timperley, WA15 6SJ. 

APPLICANT: Landmark Property Group Limited. 

AGENT: Mr Paul Anderton. 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 

___________________________________________________________________ 

This application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as the application has received six objections contrary to the 
officer recommendation. 

SITE  

The application site comprises of a detached bungalow with several outbuildings to 
the side and rear. The front of the plot accommodates a garden and hardstanding, 
the latter running to an attached single side garage. The rear comprises of a 
relatively large back garden. Boundaries are marked by a low rise brick wall to the 
front (north-east) with a mix of wood panel fencing and evergreen hedges to the 
remainder, many of the boundaries screened by dense banks of mature trees and 
vegetation. The site is within a residential area with residential properties to all sides. 
Timperley Brook runs past the rear (south-west) boundary.  
 
Navigation Road Metrolink station is located to the south-west on the opposite side 
of Timperley Brook and the dwellings to the rear. 
 
PROPOSAL  

The applicant proposes to demolish the current buildings and erect a pair of two 
storey semi-detached dwellings and a further two storey detached dwelling in its 
place, the latter closest to the north-west (side) boundary; each of these properties 
having four bedrooms. The proposed buildings would be set back within the plot and 
more in line with the adjacent property to the north (No. 40 Brook Avenue). Each 
dwelling would have a dual pitched roof incorporating a flat roofed rear facing 
dormer, front facing gable and flat roofed single storey rear element.  
 
The dwellings would be 13.2m long and 6m wide. They would have a eaves height of 
5.85m and a roof ridge height of 8.9m. Their single storey elements would project 
1.8m beyond the main rear elevation.  
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 78



The dwellings would have a hallway, living room, utility room, cloakroom/WC and 
kitchen/dining/day room at ground floor, three bedrooms a bathroom, study and linen 
room at first floor, and an en-suite master bedroom at first floor.  
 
Each dwelling would introduce a ground floor front facing living room window and 
front door, side facing cloak room/WC and secondary kitchen/diner/day room 
windows and a utility room door, and rear facing kitchen/diner/day room glazed 
sliding windows. At first floor they would introduce a front facing study window and a 
bedroom juliet balcony, the latter accessed by glazed double doors with glazed 
surrounds, side facing bathroom windows and rear facing bedroom windows. At loft 
level each property would introduce rear facing dormer windows. The single storey 
rear element and front facing roof slopes would have single roof lights.   
 
Each dwelling would have a red brick skin with timber elements to the front elevation, 
slate roof tiles and dark grey aluminium windows/doors. Each dormer would be metal 
clad. 
 
The dwellings would each have two ‘nose to tail’ parking spaces and garden to the 
front with a garden, including bin storage area, to the rear. The front boundary would 
be marked by a new low rise wall including brick colums with wood panel fencing to 
the remainder. New dropped crossings would be installed. 
 
Value Added 
 
Following LPA advice the applicant has amended their proposal though the following 
changes: 
1. Substitiuted individual property parking spaces and front gardens for the originally 

proposed communal parking area; 
2. Substituted the originaly proposed flat main roof element for a dual pitched roof; 
3. Replaced the originally proposed buff bricks for red bricks. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN  
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford 
Comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25 January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially 
supersedes the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see 
Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19 June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by 
Trafford LDF. 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 79



PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES  

L1 - Land for New Houses; 
L2 - Meeting Housing Needs; 
L4 - Sustainable Transport and Accessibility; 
L7 - Design;  
L8 - Planning Obligations;  
R2 - Natural Environment. 
 
OTHER LOCAL POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
Revised SPD1 - Planning Obligations; 
SPD3- Parking Standards & Design;  
PG1 - New Residential Development. 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION  

Critical Drainage Area; 
EA 20m Main River Buffer; 
Metrolink 200m Buffer; 
River Valley Flood Risk ENV13. 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS  

None. 

GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK  

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the 10 Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, 
will be the overarching development plan for all 10 districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published 
on 31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation likely in 2017 and adoption 
anticipated in 2018. 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF)  

The DCLG published the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in July 
2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report.  

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG)  

DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report.  

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

None. 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 80



APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION  

The applicant has submitted a Design and Access statement in support of their 
proposal. 

CONSULTATIONS  

Local Highways Authority – No objection. 
 
LLFA – No objection subject to condition. 
 
UU – No objection. 
 
EA – No objection. 
 
GMEU - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Land Contamination - No objection. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Multiple letters of objection have been received from nine neighbouring addresses 
which raise the following issues: 
 

 The proposal would result in the removal of an attractive building and gardens 
and its replacement with three large dwellings which would result in an 
overdevelopment of the plot; 

 Additional dwellings would undermine the street scene; 

 The proposed dwellings would be too high and out of character; 

 The proposed contemporary building design and materials would not respect its 
setting; 

 One of the objectors advises they were unable to erect a single garage in their 
back garden due to ‘conservation reasons’ and the same standards should 
therefore apply to the application site.  

 The proposal would result in an unacceptable ecological impact including on 
bats; 

 The proposal would result in an unacceptable overshadowing and overbearing 
impact and would block access to sunlight. 

 The proposal would block views; 

 The proposal would result in an unacceptable privacy impact on adjacent plots; 

 Building works would result in an unacceptable amenity impact; 

 The proposal could result in an unacceptable on-street parking impact on Brook 
Avenue, which is used as a ‘cut through’ route and parking for the nearby 
Metrolink station; 

 The originally proposed parking layout would be unacceptable in terms of 
manoeuvring; 

 The proposal does not include adequate on-site parking provision; 

 The proposal should be reduced in scale to better fit its surroundings; 

 The current bungalow should be retained to provide accommodation for less 
mobile residents; 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 81



 The current property is set within an ‘historic conservation area’ [the LPA can 
confirm the site is not set within a Conservation Area], and replacing this with 
three dwellings would be out of character; 

 The proposal would result in an unacceptable loss of on-site trees; 

 The proposal would diminish the value of neighbouring properties; 

 The proposed building works could pollute Timperley Brook; 

 The proposal could result in an unacceptable flooding impact; 

 Nos. 1-5 Brook Lane (the neighbouring properties to the south-east) were built in 
the mid-19th Century and therefore qualify as non-designated heritage assets, 
meaning a Heritage Statement should have been submitted;  

 Where will construction vehicles park? 

 The proposal could impact a neighbouring property’s central heating extraction 
flue; 

 Removing trees along the rear boundary would increase noise and light pollution 
from the nearby Metrolink station; 

 The proposed full height windows would undermine the amenity of future 
occupants; 

 The proposal could further undermine the current provision of water to the local 
area which suffers from low pressure; 

 Allowing the proposal would set a dangerous precedent for local sites. 
 
OBSERVATIONS  

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 

1. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF indicates that when making planning decisions LPAs 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Where the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out of date 
(including applications for the provision of housing where the Council cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites), planning permission 
should be granted unless i) the application of policies in the Framework that 
protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed, or ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 
 

2. The Council does not, at present, have a five year supply of immediately 
available housing land. The absence of a continuing supply of housing land has 
significant consequences in terms of the Council's ability to contribute towards 
the government's aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing. Significant 
weight should therefore be afforded in the determination of this planning 
application to the scheme’s contribution, albeit minor, to addressing the identified 
housing shortfall, and meeting the Government's objective of securing a better 
balance between housing demand and supply.  

 

3. Paragraph 68 states small and medium sized sites can make an important 

contribution to meeting the housing requirements of an area, and are often built 

out relatively quickly. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 82



4. The proposal seeks consent for the erection of three dwellings on site as a single 
detached house and a pair of semi-detached houses.  

 
5. Despite the fact the Council does not have a five year supply of land it is noted 

that the development would nevertheless comply with Core Strategy Policy L2, 
for example it would be located on a sufficiently sized plot, it would be acceptably 
designed, it would not unacceptably harm local character or amenity (as 
discussed in the Design/Amenity sections below), and it would be appropriately 
situated in terms of access to existing community facilities and amenities located 
along Brook Lane and Deansgate Lane. The proposal would furthermore have 
the potential to provide family homes (L2.6). 

 
6. The application site is in an established urban area and a sustainable location 

with good access to public transport in the form of multiple bus routes running 
along Brook Lane and within an easy walking distance to Navigation Road train 
and Metrolink station. 

 
7. The proposed scheme would make a small contribution (two net) towards the 

supply of new housing within the Borough. 
 

8. With respect to infill development, paragraph 2.4 of PG 1 New Residential 
Development confirms the Council acknowledges that the development of smaller 
urban sites with small scale housing makes a valuable contribution towards the 
supply of new housing in the Borough, provided the development complies with 
the wider SPG standards, with which the scheme is considered to acceptable 
comply as noted below.  

 
9. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be acceptable in 

principle with reference to Core Strategy Policies L1 and L2, PG1 New 
Residential Development and the NPPF.  

 
DESIGN AND IMPACT ON THE STREET SCENE 
 
10. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states: The creation of high quality buildings and 

places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 
 

11. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states: In relation to matters of design, 
development must: be appropriate in its context; make best use of opportunities 
to improve the character and quality of an area; enhance the street scene or 
character of the area by appropriately addressing scale, density, height, massing, 
layout, elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft landscaping works, boundary 
treatment; and, make appropriate provision for open space, where appropriate, in 
accordance with Policy R5 of this Plan. 

 
12. The proposed dwellings would be bound by dwellings of varied design, age and 

scale with a terrace of relatively large Victorian properties to the south-east, mid-
20th Century semi-detached properties to the east/north-east, a late 20th Century 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 83



house to the north and 1960s/1970s dwellings to the south-west on the opposite 
side of Selworth Close. 
 

13. There is no objection to the demolition of the existing bungalow, which is neither 
listed or within a Conservation Area, and is not considered to have any 
architectural merit. 

 
Siting and Footprint 

 
14. The development would be sited further back within the plot compared to the 

bungalow with the new properties more in line with the neighbouring dwellings 
towards the north-west. Whilst the new dwellings would not mirror the building 
line formed by these neighbouring properties the road at this point is curved with 
surrounding dwellings set at varied distances to it, and therefore in this case the 
building line of neighbouring properties is not considered to be an important 
feature which should be reflected in the new development. The proposal would 
not result in overdevelopment of the plot. 
 

15. The loss of the current view along the sides of the existing bungalow towards 
vegetation running along the Timperley Brook to the rear, this space currently 
providing some visual relief to the street scene, would not cause sufficient harm 
that a refusal of planning permission would be justified.  
 
Bulk, Scale, Massing and Height 

16. The height of the proposed development would be markedly higher than the 
existing bungalow and would also be higher than the properties to the north-west, 
east and south-west, however they would have a similar height to the Victorian 
properties to the south-east and further along Brook Avenue to the north. In all 
the proposed building would have an acceptable visual impact in terms of its bulk, 
scale, massing and height with reference to the size of the plot and its 
surrounding context. 
 
External Appearance 

17. The proposal is considered to have a relatively high quality contemporary design 
including through the use of timber cladding and metal clad flat roofed recessed 
dormers. The proposed dwelling’s detailing would be acceptable in terms of door 
and window positions and design. The proposed front hard standings, front 
gardens and front boundary treatments are considered to be acceptable with 
reference to similar features to the front of surrounding properties. The proposed 
car parking spaces are considered to result in an acceptable visual amenity 
impact on neighbouring properties and their wider context. 

 
Materials 

 
18. Each dwelling would have a red brick skin with timber elements to the front 

elevation, slate roof tiles and dark grey aluminium windows/doors. Each dormer 
would be metal clad. These materials are considered to be acceptable with 
reference to the proposed development and its context. Planning permission 
would be subject to a condition requiring the applicant to submit full material and 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 84



boundary treatment details for approval prior to the commencement of above 
ground development. 

 
19. The development would be acceptably designed with reference to Core Strategy 

Policy L7, the PG1 New Residential Development and the NPPF. 
 
IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
20. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states: In matters of amenity protection, 

development must be compatible with the surrounding area and not prejudice the 
amenity of the future occupiers and/or occupants of adjacent properties by 
reason of overbearing, overshadowing, visual intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, 
odour or in any other way. 
 

21. The New Residential Development SPG requires new residential developments 
to result in acceptable privacy, overshadowing and overbearing impacts on 
neighbouring properties, in addition to the provision of acceptable amenity 
standards for the future occupants of the proposed development. 
 
Privacy and Overlooking 
 

22. The proposed dwellings would introduce front and rear facing ground and first 
floor habitable room windows and rear facing loft level habitable room dormer 
windows, with those to the front directly facing the front elevation habitable room 
windows of the facing neighbouring properties on the opposite side of Brook 
Avenue at a distance of 33.4m at their closest point, whilst those to the rear 
would not directly face neighbouring habitable room windows or outlooks. The 
rear facing windows would be a minimum of 16.9m from the closest garden 
boundary of the adjacent properties to the rear. All of these outlooks would result 
in acceptable privacy impacts. The dwellings would introduce side facing ground 
floor secondary kitchen/kitchen diner windows as well as side facing first floor 
and loft level bathroom/en-suite bathroom windows; however planning permission 
would be subject to a condition that these must be obscurely glazed to protect 
neighbouring privacy.  
 
Overbearing/Overshadowing 
 

23. The pair of semi-detached dwellings would present a south-east facing 2.5 storey 
blank gable elevation, which would be faced at an angle by the ground floor 
habitable room windows in the rear elevations of the adjacent properties to the 
south-east (Nos.3-5 Brook Lane) with the minimum separation distance being 
19.8m. The proposed detached dwelling would present a side (north-west) facing 
gable element, which would be faced by a utility room window and a secondary 
kitchen window in the gable elevation of the adjacent property to the north, which 
would be acceptable. The proposed two storey element to the rear of the 
detached dwelling would project approximately 1m to the rear of the adjacent 
property to the north (No. 40 Brook Avenue), whilst the proposed single storey 
element would project approximately 2.3m beyond this neighbouring property’s 
rear elevation, with these projections moreover angled away from the common 
boundary, which would be acceptable. The two storey element of the proposed 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 85



detached house would project approximately 1.5m beyond the single storey 
element to the front of No. 40 Brook Avenue, with this projection set in 0.8m from 
the common boundary, which would be acceptable. The two storey element of 
the proposed detached house would project approximately 2.8m beyond No. 40 
Brook Avenue’s first floor front elevation, with this projection set in 0.8m from the 
common boundary, which again would be acceptable.  
 

24. Whilst it is accepted that the proposed development would result in a degree of 
increased overshadowing on neighbouring properties, especially to No. 40 Brook 
Avenue, this is not considered to be a sufficient reason to refuse planning 
permission as this relationship is commonly found in such suburban contexts. 
 

25. The proposed internal layout and provision of external private amenity space 
would be acceptable and would provide a good standard of accommodation for 
future occupants. 
 

26. Officers do not accept that the removal of trees along the rear boundary would 
result in an unacceptable increase in noise and light pollution from the Navigation 
Road station. 
 

27. The development would not detrimentally harm the residential amenity of the 
neighbouring and surrounding residential properties with reference to Core 
Strategy policy L7, PG1 New Residential Development and the NPPF.  

 
HIGHWAYS, PARKING AND SERVICING 
 
28. Core Strategy Policy L4 states: [The Council will prioritise] the location of 

development within the most sustainable areas accessible by a choice of modes 
of transport. Maximum levels of car parking for broad classes of development will 
be used as a part of a package of measures to promote sustainable transport 
choices. 
 

29. Core Strategy Policy L7 states: In relation to matters of functionality, development 
must incorporate vehicular access and egress which is satisfactorily located and 
laid out having regard to the need for highway safety; and provide sufficient off-
street car and cycle parking, manoeuvring and operational space. 

 
30. The Parking SPD’s objectives include ensuring that planning applications include 

an appropriate level of parking; to guide developers regarding the design and 
layout of car parking areas; to ensure that parking facilities cater for all users and 
to promote sustainable developments. The Council’s parking standards indicate 
that the provision of 3 off road car parking spaces is appropriate for four bedroom 
dwellings in this location, albeit these standards are maximum standards. 

 
31. The new dwellings would each have two off-street parking spaces, which whilst 

one space per dwelling short of the figure in SPD3, is considered to be 
acceptable for the proposed development in this instance. It is noted that the LHA 
has confirmed no objection to the proposal in terms of its highways, parking and 
servicing impacts. The LHA has also confirmed no objection to the required 
dropped crossings. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 86



 
32. The application site is in a sustainable location with a bus route running along 

Brook Lane, and Navigation Road Metrolink/railway station within easy walking 
distance.  

 
33. Bins would be stored to the rear of each dwelling and therefore out of public view. 

 
34. The development would have an acceptable highway, parking and servicing 

impact with reference to Core Strategy policies L4 and L7, the Parking Standards 
and Design SPD, the New Residential Development SPG and the NPPF. 

 
DRAINAGE/FLOODING 
 
35. The proposed development would be adjacent to Timperley Brook which runs 

along the rear boundary. It is noted that the Environment Agency, United Utilities 
and LLFA consultees have confirmed no objection, the latter two consultees 
subject to standard flood/drainage conditions.  
 

TREES AND ECOLOGY 
 
36. The proposal would result in the demolition of a bungalow and the removal of 

vegetation including several trees. It is noted that both the arborist and GMEU 
consultees have confirmed no objection subject to standard tree/ecology planning 
conditions. Planning permission would be subject to a landscaping condition 
which would require the planting of three additional trees net of clearance.  

 
37. The development would not result in harm to the natural environment with 

reference to Core Strategy policy R2, PG1 New Residential Development and the 
NPPF. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
38. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is located 

in the ‘hot zone’ for residential development, consequently private market houses 
will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £80 per square metre, in line with Trafford’s 
CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014).  

 
39. In accordance with Policy L8 of the Trafford Core Strategy and revised SPD1: 

Planning Obligations (2014) it is necessary to provide an element of specific 
green infrastructure in the form of three additional trees per property. In order to 
secure this, a landscaping condition will be attached to make specific reference to 
the need to provide nine additional trees net of clearance on site as part of the 
landscaping proposals. No affordable housing provision is required as the 
development falls below the thresholds set within the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
40. Addressing the further neighbour comments as noted above and which have not 

been addressed in the Observation section above, comments are as follows: 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 87



 
41. None of the surrounding properties are listed, located in a Conservation Area or 

on a Local List. 
 

42. The fact that the proposed development would block views from neighbouring 
properties is not a valid planning consideration. 
 

43. In response to the neighbour objection that building works would result in an 

unacceptable amenity impact the applicant’s contractors are expected to act in a 

professional and considerate manner. Planning permission would in any event be 

subject to a condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method 

Statement to address such issues. 

44. The fact that the proposal if approved could impact on the value of surrounding 
properties is not a valid planning concern. 
 

45. The fact that the proposal could impact on a neighbouring property’s central 

heating extraction flue is not a valid planning concern but rather a private legal 

matter between both parties. The granting of planning permission would not grant 

the developer any rights over third party land.  

CONCLUSION 
 
46. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and would 

provide two additional dwellings net of clearance within the Borough. The 
development is considered to have an acceptable design and would not result in 
harm to residential amenity, parking provision or highway safety. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with Core Strategy Policies L1, L2, L4, 
L7, L8 and R2, the Planning Obligations SPD, the Parking Standards & Design 
SPD, PG1 New Residential Development and the NPPF. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 

date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers [T15-70] 01 
Rev B and 05 Rev C, received 4 July 2018, number 06 and the 3D image 
document, received 5 July 2018, and 03 Rev G, received 9 August 2018. 
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 88



 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 

construction works shall take place until samples of materials to be used 
externally on the building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of 
the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 

hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include the location of nine additional trees 
net of any clearance together with the formation of any banks, terraces or other 
earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and 
schedules (including planting size, species and numbers/densities), existing 
plants/trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing/phasing of 
implementation works.  

 
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing/phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner.  

 
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition 
which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the 
next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies 
L7 and R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
windows in the ground, first and loft level floors in the buildings’ side facing gable 
elevations shall be fitted with, to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished 
floor level, non-opening lights and textured glass which obscuration level is no 
less than Level 3 of the Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as 
such thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 89



6. No demolition shall take place until a Demolition Method Statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement, which should include a confirmation that the current 
building's roof tiles and the north facing soffit box are to be carefully removed by 
hand in order to ensure the protection of any bats which may be currently using 
the building, shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  
 
Reason: To safeguard any bats which may either live or forage within the site 
having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March-July 
inclusive) unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised for 
bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then 
no development shall take place during the period specified above unless a 
mitigation strategy has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which provides for the protection of nesting birds during 
the period of works on site. The mitigation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved. 
 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds having 
regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

8. No development shall take place until a Pollution Prevention Plan for the site has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Pollution Prevention Plan should include a confirmation that all works to 
be carried out in proximity to the watercourse should be undertaken in line with 
construction best practice.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the ecology of the watercourse running to the rear of the 
site having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. A scheme outlining Biodiversity Enhancement Measures, as set out in section 4 
of the Bat Survey Report dated 11 March 2018 by Kingdom Ecology Ltd, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the 
development (or in accordance with a phasing plan which shall first be agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority) and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To enhance site biodiversity having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until all trees that 
are to be retained within or adjacent to the site have been enclosed with 
temporary protective fencing in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation 
to design, demolition and construction. Recommendations' with reference to the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 90



approved tree report reference PM/AIA/AMS/27/03/18, dated March 2018. The 
fencing shall be retained throughout the period of construction and no activity 
prohibited by BS:5837:2012 shall take place within such protective fencing during 
the construction period.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. The fencing is 
required prior to development taking place on site as any works undertaken 
beforehand, including preliminary works, can damage the trees. 
 

11. No development shall take place until full details of the ground investigation 
carried out regarding the proposed soakaway, and a soakaway maintenance and 
management plan, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of 
the water environment having regard to  Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. The site shall be drained via separate systems for the disposal of foul and 

surface water. In the event of surface water discharging to public sewer, the rate 
of discharge shall be restricted to the lowest possible rate which shall be agreed 
with the statutory undertaker prior to connection to the public sewer. 
 
Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of 
the water environment having regard to  Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

13. The development shall be drained in accordance with drainage plan reference 
18-2979 DR1, received 3 August 2018. 

 
Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of 
the water environment having regard to  Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
  

14. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:  
 
I. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
II. Loading and unloading of plant and materials  
III. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
IV. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative   
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
V. Wheel washing facilities, including measures for keeping the highway clean  
VI. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
VII. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 91



VIII. Hours of construction activity. 
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site 
and to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and 
users of the highway, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

TP 

 

 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 92



E

E

EE

FF

FF

EE

ALTRINCHAM

5

2

1

7

6

Road

Club

Station

Hall

61

19

29

38
21

14

52
50

57

40

17

12

26

35

Navigation

11

26.4m

SL

C
S

50a

38a
CR

B
R

O
O

K
 L

A
N

E

SELW
ORTH CLOSE

Bowling Green

C
C

S

B
R

O
O

K
 A

V
E

N
U

E

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

S
 P

A
R

K
W

A
Y

MP .25

S Gantry

Car Park

LAWN DRIVE

Car Park

1

1

5

Road

1

2

6

5

2

19
C

S

42

27 4m

Lyburn

R
O

O
K

 C
L

O
S

E

MP 0.25

Ward Bdy

FOXHALL

StationNavigation

2

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94128/FUL/18

42 Brook Avenue, Timperley

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 93



 

 
 

WARD: Davyhulme East 
 

94206/FUL/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Demolition of existing garage and erection of a detached house. 

 
11 Lyndhurst Avenue, Davyhulme,  
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Smart 
AGENT:  Cube Design Solutions 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
 
SITE 
 
The application site is a flat rectangular site of 0.02 hectares located between 9 and 13 
Lyndhurst Avenue in Davyhulme. The plot comprises a single storey derelict detached 
garage of concrete construction with a dual pitched roof and timber doors. The site is 
grass-covered with a number of trees and large shrubs to the rear of the garage and a 
small driveway area to the front.  
 
To the rear (west) of the site is the semi-detached residential property at 6 Dalveen 
Avenue. The area is predominantly residential to the north of Davyhulme Road although 
the site is close to Our Lady of the Rosary Primary School to the east and Davyhulme 
Playing Fields and Recreation Ground to the north. Properties along Lyndhurst Avenue 
comprise a mix of units including detached, semi-detached and bungalows and they 
exhibit a variety of architectural styles, design and materials. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application details the erection of a two storey detached residential dwelling, with 
additional living accommodation within the roof-space provided by a dormer in the rear 
elevation; following demolition of the existing garage on site.  
 
The application follows on from three previous applications at the site, with the most 
recent application, reference 91656, also proposing the erection of a two storey 
detached residential dwelling. This was refused for the following reason: 
 
“The proposed development by reason of its scale, size, massing and design is 
considered to result in an over-development of the application site, resulting in a 
detriment to the visual amenity of the area. The development would result in an overly 
dominant and visually intrusive addition within the street scene which would be out of 
keeping with the character of the area. As such the proposal is found to be contrary to 
Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's approved Planning Guidelines: 
SPG1 New Residential Development (September 2004) and the relevant sections of the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 94



 

 
 

National Planning Policy Framework”.  
 
The applicant has now revised the scheme following this refusal and the main 
differences are detailed below: 
 

 A reduction in ridge height of the proposed dwelling  

 An amended design, with particular regard to the front and rear elevations 

 A reduction in size for the rear dormer window  

 Design alterations to the  side elevations 

 Removal of side facing dormer windows   
 
The current proposal would see the detached dwelling have a total height of 8.2m to its 
ridge and an eaves height of 5m. The dwelling would have a pitched roof design in the 
form of a forward projecting gabled end. This would feature a centrally sited bay 
window. To the rear the dwelling would feature a Juliet balcony at first floor level, with a 
dormer window above. The dwelling would be erected in brickwork to match 
neighbouring properties on Lyndhurst Avenue. A private garden area is proposed to the 
rear as well as onsite parking to the front of the site, leading off from Lyndhurst Avenue. 
 
The application has been amended since the original submission due to design related 
concerns raised by officers. The amended scheme has been assessed below.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
L1 – Land for new homes 
L2 – Meeting housing needs 
L4 – Sustainable transport and accessibility  
L5 – Climate change  
L7 – Design  
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 95



 

 
 

PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
 
None 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
 
None 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24 July 
2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
91656/FUL/17 - Demolition of existing garage and erection of a detached house – 
Refused – 01/09.2018.  
 
83842/FULL/2014 - Demolition of existing garage and erection of new detached 
dwelling house and associated landscaping and car parking – Refused – 12/11/2014.  

85011/FUL/15 - Demolition of existing garage and erection of new detached dwelling 
house and associated landscaping and car parking – Approved with conditions – 
11/05/2015. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Design and Access statement  

CONSULTATIONS 
 

Pollution and Nuisance: 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 96



 

 
 

Raise no concerns in reference to the development proposals. 
 
Contaminated Land: 
 
Raise no concerns in reference to the development proposals. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority: 
 
Raise no concerns in reference to the development proposals; however recommend the 
use of a planning condition. 
 
Local Highways Authority: 
 
Raise no concerns in reference to the development proposals.  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

A local Councillor, Linda Blackburn, has called in the application, highlighting the 
following areas of concern: 
 

- Overdevelopment of site 
- Impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties 

 
A total of 7no. objections have also been received in reference to the development 
proposals; these raise the following areas of concern: 
 

- Intrusive addition to the street-scene 
- Scale and size of dwelling disproportionate   
- Dormer sits flush with the rear elevation 
- Poor quality design 
- Overbearing development 
- Out of keeping with rhythm of development within the area 
- Submitted plans are inaccurate  
- Impact on privacy 
- Impact upon outlook and light  
- Parking and highway concerns  
- Asbestos may enter air from the existing garage 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
Principle of development:  
 

1. The site is located within the Davyhulme ward of Urmston and is unallocated on 
the UDP Proposals Map. The site comprises a single storey detached garage 
whilst the remainder of the site is grass-covered, with a number of trees and 
large shrubs to the rear of the garage and a small driveway area to the front. The 
site therefore comprises previously developed land.     

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 97



 

 
 

 
2. Policy L1 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to release sufficient land to 

accommodate 12,210 new dwellings (net of clearance) over the plan period up to 
2026. Regular monitoring has revealed that the rate of building is failing to meet 
the housing land target as expressed in Table L1 of the Core Strategy. 
Therefore, there exists a significant need to not only meet the level of housing 
land supply identified within Policy L1 of the Core Strategy, but also to make up 
for a recent shortfall in housing completions. It is considered that this proposal 
will make a positive, albeit minor, contribution to the Council’s housing land 
supply and in addition the proposal will contribute to meeting targets for the 
development of brownfield (previously developed) land (Policy L1.7).  

 
3. It is noted that the proposed site is not identified within Trafford’s SHLAA 

(Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment). The Council cannot at present 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as such the proposal would need to 
be considered in light of paragraph 11 of NPPF. Paragraph 11 states that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.   

 
4. It is considered that the site is located within a sustainable location, within 

walking distance of Davyhulme Circle Local Centre and is sited close to local 
transport links. It is therefore considered that the development will make a 
positive contribution towards strengthening and supporting Davyhulme Circle 
Local Centre in accordance with Strategic Objective SO1 and Place Objective 
URO1 as the scheme would help to meet local housing needs through the 
provision of a family home in a sustainable location. The proposal would see the 
creation of a new dwelling which would contribute in a small way towards the 
Council’s overall housing land target. There is also likely to be a small economic 
benefit during the construction phase of the proposal. 

 
5. Having regard to the shortfall in housing and the fact that the site is located within 

an urban area with the proposal offering an opportunity to develop a previously 
developed site, which is located within an accessible and sustainable location, it 
is considered that the development of the site for residential purposes is 
acceptable in principle. There are no specific policies in the Framework which 
indicate that development should be restricted.  

 
6. The scheme will deliver a three bedroom house providing family sized 

accommodation, contributing towards the creation of a mixed sustainable 
community. The proposed dwelling therefore complies with Core Strategy Policy 
L2.6 and is considered acceptable in this regard.  
 

DESIGN AND STREET SCENE  
 

7. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 98



 

 
 

achieve.  Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work.”  Paragraph 127 states that decisions should 
ensure that developments “will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area…are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping…are sympathetic to local character and 
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting.”  
Paragraph 130 further states that “Permission should be refused for development 
of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions”. 
 

8. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in considering applications for 
development within the Borough, the Council will determine whether or not the 
proposed development meets the standards set in national guidelines and the 
requirements of Policy L7.  The relevant extracts of Policy L7 require that 
development is appropriate in its context; makes best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area by appropriately addressing scale, 
density, height, layout, elevation treatment, materials, landscaping; and is 
compatible with the surrounding area.  
 

9. Paragraph 2.2 of the New Residential Development SPD indicates that 
development will not be accepted at the expense of the character of the 
surrounding area. It states that the resulting plot sizes and frontages should, 
therefore, be sympathetic to the character of the area as well as being 
satisfactorily related to each other and the street scene.  

 
10. The application dwelling would be sited centrally within the plot, retaining a 

distance of 1m to its side boundaries. Such distances would allow for views down 
the side of the site and would add to the sense of space and openness both 
within the site itself and the wider street scene. It should further be noted that 
neighbouring properties within the area also retain similar sized distances from 
their side boundaries and thus the plot would remain in keeping with others within 
the wider vicinity of the site.    

 
11. Although no uniform building line is present along Lyndhurst Avenue, the 

dwellings are noted to have reasonable sized setbacks from their front 
boundaries. In this case the dwelling would be sited slightly forward of No. 9 to its 
south and slightly stepped back from the front building of No. 13 to its north.  
Retaining a distance of 5.8m to the front boundary of the site at its closest point 
(the front elevation of the dwelling tapers), it is therefore considered, given the 
lack of a consistent building line along Lyndhurst Avenue, that the setback 
distance in this case is  acceptable.  

 
12. The proposed dwelling would have a two storey appearance to its front elevation, 

with habitable living accommodation within the roof space. The proposed 
dwelling has been designed with a pitched roof, with a dormer window to the rear 
which is not visible from the street scene. The proposed dwelling would feature a 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 99



 

 
 

gabled end within its front elevation and this design approach is considered to be 
in keeping with others within the area and is considered acceptable. The dwelling 
is to be erected in a pallet of materials similar to neighbouring dwellings, with the 
use of red brick, uPVC window openings and a slate roof. This is considered 
acceptable having regard to the prevailing character of the area. A condition is 
however recommended as part of any subsequent consent requiring the 
submission of material details to be approved by the Council prior to works 
commencing on site to ensure their suitability.  

 
13. The proposed dwelling would have a ridge height of 8.2m. This would sit higher 

than No. 9 Lyndhurst Avenue to its south by 1m and would sit 0.9m lower than 
No. 13 Lyndhurst Avenue to its north. As such, given the varying ridge heights 
down Lyndhurst Avenue, the proposed dwellings height and scale in this case is 
considered to be acceptable.  

 
14. The proposed dwelling incorporates a range of traditional features which are 

found elsewhere within the vicinity of the site. The dwelling would have a 
staggered foot-print, similar to the existing dwellings at No.9 and No. 13 and 
would feature a forward projecting centrally sited bay window within its front 
facing elevation. The gabled end has been broken up through the use of timber 
detailing within its apex, with 2no. openings below at first floor level, featuring 
stone cills.   

 
15. The dwellings proposed north and south side facing elevations would both 

feature a small number of ground and first floor openings, as well as the main 
entrance to the property within the north facing side elevation. These are 
considered to allow for the elevation to be broken up and further allow for a 
reduction in the elevations solid to void ratio. The openings would again feature 
stone detailing and their sizes/proportions would again vary, adding detail and as 
such are considered acceptable. A projecting porch has been added to the front 
entrance within the north facing side elevation, for added detail and emphasising 
the entrance to the property. This is similar to No. 13 Lyndhurst Avenue and  is 
considered acceptable.  

 
16. The rear elevation, as a result of the dormer window appears as a three storey 

property. The elevation would feature bi-fold doors at ground floor level, with a 
Juliet balcony and single opening at first floor level. The openings are considered 
to be of a proportionate size and scale and as such are considered acceptable. 
At second floor level, a dormer window is proposed. This would be set below the 
main ridge line and would be stepped in from the eaves and the dwellings side 
elevations. The dormer would be flat roofed and have 2no. rear facing openings. 
The dormer window is considered to be of an acceptable size/scale and is not 
considered to appear prominent or visually intrusive and as such is considered to 
be acceptable.  

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 100



 

 
 

17. No further details have been provided with regard to the proposed boundary 
treatments for the site or the proposed new access for the site off Lyndhurst 
Avenue. As such it is recommended that a condition to this effect, requesting 
such details to be submitted to the Council for approval, prior to these being 
installed on site, be attached to any  planning consent.  

 
18. It has further been considered, given the proximity of the dwelling to its side 

boundaries and the general character of space within the wider area, that 
Permitted Development rights would need to be partly removed through the use 
of a condition should permission be granted. This would ensure future occupants 
would have to apply for planning permission to erect side extensions on what will 
become a relatively narrow residential plot, without further approval by the LPA. 
Such a condition would also include the removal of rights to create additional 
dormer windows and two storey extensions as this could harm the design of the 
application dwelling.  Such additions would also add a greater level of massing to 
the dwelling, again harming its overall composition and appearance. Rights to 
alter the means of access into the site will also be removed ensuring that the 
existing parking provision on site remains in place and unaltered.  

 
19. Subject to the above conditions the proposed development is considered to 

positively enhance this underused area of land sited to the western side of 
Lyndhurst Avenue, without detriment to the site itself or the wider street scene. 
The proposal is therefore considered to be in line with policy L7 of the Trafford 
Borough Council Core Strategy and the relevant sections of the NPPF, alongside 
the Councils adopted guidelines for New Residential Development 

 

RESIDENTIAL AMENITY   
 

20. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity  
development must not prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the 
development and/or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise or disturbance, odour or in 
any other way. 
 

Overlooking: 
 

21. The proposed dwelling details a number of new openings within its four 
elevations, with main habitable openings sited within its front and rear facing 
elevations. The Councils locally adopted ‘New Residential Development’ 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) (2004) identifies a series of space 
guidelines to guide future development; however paragraph 11.1 states that the 
application of these guidelines should be applied flexibly to encourage 
imaginative design solutions.  

 
22. The SPG indicates that, “the minimum distance between dwellings which have 

major facing windows is 21 metres across public highways and 27 metres across 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 101



 

 
 

private gardens.” In respect to this site, a distance of 33.5 metres is provided 
between the rear habitable windows of the proposed unit and 6 Dalveen Avenue; 
and 22.5 metres between front habitable room windows and 2 Lyndhurst Avenue 
which is above the minimum distance required in the SPD; and as such is 
considered acceptable.  

 
23. Paragraph 11.4 of the SPG states that rear garden areas should not be 

overlooked and the distances to rear garden boundaries from main windows 
should be at least 10.5 metres for 2 storey houses. This distance is increased to 
13.5m for three storey dwellings. The proposed dwelling would maintain a 
distance of 13.4 metres from its rear elevation to its rear boundary. This is 
therefore considered to be an acceptable distance and is not considered to lead 
to an undue loss in privacy for the sites rear neighbouring land users.   

 
24. The proposed dwelling also details a number of openings within its side facing 

elevations. These would all however be fitted with obscure glazing and are 
therefore not considered to result in any harm to the amenity of the occupiers of 
adjacent properties.   

 
Overbearing impacts and visual intrusion: 
 

25. The proposed dwelling would have a projection similar to its neighbouring 
properties to its north and south. The projection towards the front of the site 
would protrude beyond that of No. 13 Lyndhurst Avenue for a distance of 1m at 
two storey level and 1.67m at ground floor level which is considered to be 
acceptable. To the rear the two properties would be level in terms of their rear 
projections. The main two-storey elevation of the dwelling retains a distance of 1 
metre to the northern site boundary and 2 metres to the side elevation of 13 
Lyndhurst Avenue which has a main habitable room (kitchen) window on the 
ground floor. Notwithstanding this, a further window serving the kitchen is 
provided to the front elevation of the dwelling and therefore the side window is 
not the sole source of light and outlook for this dwelling. At first floor level, there 
are two non-habitable room windows (bathrooms).  
 

26. To the south, the proposed dwelling would protrude beyond the front elevation of 
No. 9 Lyndhurst Avenue for a distance of 0.15m at two storey level and 1.55m at 
single storey level. To the rear the dwelling would protrude beyond the rear 
building line of No.9 for a distance of 1.15m and as such these relationships are 
considered to be acceptable and the proposed unit is not considered to result in 
any undue overbearing impact for this property. The southern (side) elevation of 
the property retains a distance of around 1 metre to the side elevation of 9 
Lyndhurst Avenue which has non-habitable room windows (bathrooms and 
landing) at first floor level. It is therefore considered that the proposed dwelling 
will not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity of existing neighbouring 
dwellings. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 102



 

 
 

27. The proposed dwelling is not considered to appear visually intrusive, given its 
scale, size and form as set out within the design section of this report.  

 
Loss of light and outlook: 
 

28. The proposed dwelling given the relationships it would retain with its 
neighbouring properties as set out above is not considered to result in any undue 
loss in light or outlook for existing neighbouring occupiers. 

 
Demolition works: 
 

29.  A number of neighbours have raised concerns around the potential release of 
asbestos following any demolition of the existing garage on site. Although it is not 
known if asbestos is present on site, an informative to this regard will be added to 
any subsequent planning consent. A construction method statement will also be 
conditioned as part of any subsequent planning consent, requiring full details of 
the proposed methods of construction, including hours of operation etc. in order 
to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residents.  

 
Condition: 
 

30. Subject to the attachment of the above conditions, the development proposals 
are not considered to result in any material amenity concerns for the sites 
existing neighbouring properties and as such are found to be in compliance with 
Policy L7 of the TBC Core strategy and the SPG.  

 
PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY: 
 
Appropriateness of Access:  
 

31. Existing access to the site is from Lyndhurst Avenue and is to be retained; an 
existing vehicular dropped crossing provides access. This arrangement is 
considered acceptable.  

 
Servicing Arrangements: 
 

32. Servicing will be carried out from Lyndhurst Avenue. Refuse bins can be easily 
transferred to the road side on collection days which is considered acceptable.  

 
Car Parking, including disabled provision: 
 

33. SPD3: Parking Standards and Design for Trafford states that for a two to three 
bedroom dwelling in this area, two off-street parking spaces are required.  The 
proposals include the provision of a driveway to the front of the dwelling, 
accommodating two parking spaces; and as such the maximum standards are 
met. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 103



 

 
 

 
34. The development as proposed is therefore not considered to result in any 

material parking or highway/public safety concerns and as such is considered to 
be in accordance with policy L4 of the TBC Core strategy.  

 
DRAINAGE  
 

35. The site is situated within a Critical Drainage Area, although the development is 
below the threshold requiring consultation with the Environment Agency or the 
submission of a Flood Risk Assessment. It is considered that the development 
would not be at risk of flooding, nor increase the risk of flooding, subject to the 
implementation of a Sustainable Urban Drainage scheme across the site. It is 
recommended that a condition is attached to any permission, requiring full details 
of the drainage scheme required to comply with the limits indicated in the 
Guidance Document to the Manchester City, Salford City and Trafford Council’s 
Level 2 Hybrid Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. These details should be 
provided and assessed prior to the commencement of any development. 

 
TREES AND LANDSCAPING 
 

36. The existing site has a number of trees spread across the site. Alongside these a 
number of hedgerows and other forms of planting and landscaping can also be 
found within the site. This existing landscaping provision however is not 
protected as the site is situated outside of a Conservation Area and trees within 
the site  are not the subject of a Tree Preservation Order. It is not considered that 
the tress are worthy of retention or protection and it is therefore recommended 
that a landscaping scheme with a sufficient number of replacement trees and 
other forms of boundary planting be conditioned as part of any approval on site. 
A landscaping scheme will further allow the Council control to ensure any new 
mitigation planting is of the right quality and type which can then compensate for 
the loss of any existing trees and other planting on site. 

 
Other matters: 
 

37. The applicant and architect have confirmed that the revised plans, as assessed 
as part of this application, are wholly accurate. It is considered appropriate to 
attach a ground levels condition as part of any planning consent. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

38. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is 
located in the ‘moderate’ zone for residential development, consequently private 
market houses will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £40 per square metre, in line 
with Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations 
(2014).  

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 104



 

 
 

39. No other planning obligations are required. 
 

CONCLUSION:  
 

40. The proposed development would provide an additional family sized dwelling, 
within a highly sustainable location, sited in close proximity to existing transport 
links and community facilities. The proposed development would therefore 
improve the quality and quantity of the housing stock in this part of the Borough 
and help the Council in meeting its housing land targets. It is therefore 
considered that the principle of residential development on this site is acceptable 
and the proposed application is found to be in accordance with paragraph 7 of 
the Framework and in compliance with policies L1, L2, L4 L7 and L8 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the relevant sections of the NPPF. 
 

RECOMMENDATION  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

2. Notwithstanding the details submitted, no above ground works shall take place until 
samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the building (including rainwater goods as well as window and door details) hereby 
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory external appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 

 
3. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, reference: 563-01, 563-
03, 563-04, 563-05, 563-07and 563-08 as received by the council on 09/08/2018.  
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy. 
 

4. No development shall take place unless and until full details of works to limit the 
proposed peak discharge rate of storm water from the development to meet the 
requirements of the Council's level 2 Hybrid Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall not be brought into use until such works as 
approved are implemented in full and they shall be retained and maintained to a 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 105



 

 
 

standard capable of limiting the peak discharge rate as set out in the SFRA 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: Such details need to be incorporated into the design of the development to 
prevent the risk of flooding by ensuring that surface water can be satisfactorily 
stored or disposed from the site having regard to Policies L4, L5 and L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) openings on the north and 
south facing elevations of the dwelling hereby approved shall be fitted with, to a 
height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor level, non-opening lights and 
textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the Pilkington Glass 
scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification): 
 
*(i) no side or two storey extensions shall be carried out to the dwelling 
*(ii) no garages or carports shall be erected within the curtilage of the dwelling 
*(iii) no dormer windows shall be added to the dwelling,  
unless planning permission for such development has been granted by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To protect the residential and visual amenities of the area, privacy, and/or 
public safety, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to the first 

occupation of any of the residential unit hereby approved full details of both hard and 
soft landscaping works, including a scheme for tree planting shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the 
formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and 
materials, planting plans, specifications and schedules (including planting size, 
species and numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme 
for the timing / phasing of implementation works. 
 
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 106



 

 
 

 
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which 
are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next 
planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location and the nature of the proposed development and in accordance with 
Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
 

8. Notwithstanding the application hereby approved, the dwelling shall not be occupied 
until full details of the entrance gates, pillars and full details of the materials to be 
used for the boundary treatments for the new dwelling hereby permitted, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory external appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 
 

9. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: i. the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors ii. loading and unloading of plant and 
materials iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development iv. 
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate v. wheel washing facilities, including 
measures for keeping the highway clean vi. measures to control the emission of dust 
and dirt during construction vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting 
from demolition and construction works. viii hours of construction activity. 
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site and 
to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and users of 
the highway, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no above ground construction works 
shall take place until full detail of the sites existing and proposed ground levels, 
including finished floor levels, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 107



 

 
 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
IG  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 108



EEE

1

2

24

28

51

13
10

17

37

36

25

27

40

22

2a

26

12

55

39

20

16

22.3m

LY
N

D
H

U
R

S
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

D
A

LV
E

E
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E

2

1

2

13

1

2

25

12

DAVYHULME ROAD

Primary SchPrimary Sc

Our Lady ofOur Lady o

W
ard

 B
d

Rosary RRosary 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94206/FUL/18

11 Lyndhurst Avenue, Davyhulme

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 109



 
 

WARD: Bucklow St Martins 
 

94601/RES/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale), 
pursuant to planning permission 88439/HYB/16 for the erection of six buildings 
for use within Use Classes B1b (Research and Development)/ B1c (Light 
Industrial)/ B2 (General Industrial)/ B8 (Storage or Distribution) comprising 
218,884 sq ft (20,335 sq m), with ancillary offices, associated car parking, 
landscaping, and two electrical substations. 

 
Land Known As Carrington Village On Land Off Manchester Road, Carrington 
 

APPLICANT:  HIMOR (Carrington) Ltd 
AGENT:  Spawforths 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 
 
 
 
SITE 
 
The application site extends to 7.6 hectares and comprises two parcels of land that form 
part of the larger Carrington Village development site approved under permission 
88439/HYB/16 in August 2017. Both sites are on the east side of Manchester Road, 
south west of Carrington village. The ‘A1 road’ runs between the two sites, which is a 
private road extending east-west through the former Shell petrochemicals site. 
 
The site on the south side of the A1 road (Carrington Gateway 1 / Phase E1 in 
permission 88439/HYB/16) is approximately 5.6ha and comprises a vacant grassed 
area and which includes an area of woodland to the eastern portion of the site and 
groups of trees alongside the A1 road, Manchester Road and the south east boundary. 
The site on the north side of the A1 road (Carrington Gateway 2 / Phase E2 in 
permission 88439/HYB/16) is approximately 1.6ha and comprises two areas of 
hardstanding, previously a builder’s merchants yard and land used by Basell Polyolefins 
UK Ltd. Access to both these areas is from the A1 road part of which is included in the 
application site. 
 
To the north of the site is a small group of buildings which include the Grade II* listed 
Church of St George, The Old Vicarage, The Old School House (business use) and the 
former Vicarage Garden Centre. Further to the north east is Air Products Ltd which 
comprises the main plant building, two 55m high distillation towers, storage tanks and 
ancillary buildings. Land to the east of the site forms part of the former Shell 
petrochemicals works and is predominantly vacant apart from Basell Polyolefins UK Ltd 
who operate from land east and south east of the site. The Basell site comprises a 
number of buildings, gas storage tanks and above ground gas lines used for plastics 
production. Apart from the Basell site, large areas of the former Shell facility have been 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 110



 
 

cleared and the site is predominantly vacant, although above ground gas pipelines and 
gas storage tanks remain and the flare stack at the southern end of the site remains in 
use. To the south the site adjoins Common Lane, a concrete and fencing business 
(Welslot Fencing Ltd) and part of Basell. Common Lane is an adopted Public Right of 
Way (Footpath No. 24) for a distance of approximately 700m from Manchester Road. 
On the other side of Common Lane is a former National Grid site (known as Voltage 
Park). To the west of the site on the opposite side of Manchester Road is agricultural 
land that forms part of the Carrington Village permission and a future phase of 
employment development. Also on the opposite side of Manchester Road south west of 
the site is the Saica paper reels warehouse facility. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application is for approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale), pursuant to planning permission 88439/HYB/16 for the erection of six 
buildings for use within Use Classes B1b (Research and Development)/ B1c (Light 
Industrial)/ B2 (General Industrial)/ B8 (Storage or Distribution) comprising 218,884 sq ft 
(20,335 sq m), with ancillary offices, associated car parking, landscaping, and two 
electrical substations. 
 
The permission to which this reserved matters application relates (the ‘Hybrid’ 
permission) is for a major mixed-use development on part of the former Shell 
petrochemicals site and adjoining land and extends to a total area of 49.87 ha. The 
permission includes up to 725 dwellings, up to 46,450sq m of employment floorspace 
(Use Classes B1/B2/B8), up to 929 sq m of retail (Use Class A1)/ health (Use Class D1) 
floorspace, public open space, replacement rugby pitch, new training pitch and 
replacement clubhouse, replacement car park for Carrington Business Park, new 
accesses off Manchester Road and the A1 private road, drainage principles, 
landscaping and ecological works, noise mitigation measures, electrical sub stations, 
pumping stations, car parking and vehicle, cycle and pedestrian circulation, and 
improvements to the Manchester Road/Flixton Road/Isherwood Road junction and the 
Carrington Lane/Carrington Spur/Banky Lane junction. 
 
The Hybrid application was subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment which fully 
assessed the environmental effects associated with the proposed development. 
 
The main elements of this reserved matters application are as follows: - 

 Erection of six buildings for use within Use Classes B1b, B1c, B2 and B8 
comprising 218,884 sq ft (20,335 sq m), with ancillary offices. 

 Car parking adjacent to each building providing 283 spaces in total. 

 Service yards adjacent to each building for loading/unloading and HGV 
manoeuvring. 

 Landscaping comprising areas of retained and new landscaping along the site 
boundaries and within the site, including trees, hedges, shrub planting and 
grassed areas. 

 Two electrical substations 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 111



 
 

 Covered cycle shelters adjacent to each building 
 
The application doesn’t specify if individual units would be in B1b, B1c, B2 or B8 use as 
end users are unknown at this stage, therefore any unit could be used for any purpose 
falling within these Use Classes. The proposed B1 office space in each unit would be 
ancillary to the B1a, B1b, B2 or B8 use in each unit. 
 
Amended plans have been submitted relating to the design of the proposed buildings in 
response to concerns raised by officer’s and specifically the need to further break-up 
the prominent side elevations given the scale of the buildings. The amended plans also 
provide additional tree planting to screen the buildings/service yards adjacent to 
Manchester Road. Amended plans and an updated Transport Statement have also 
been submitted in response to the initial comments of the LHA regarding visibility 
splays, internal layouts and other details. 
  
The total floorspace of the proposed development would be 20,335 m2. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application, the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF. 

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
SL5 – Carrington Strategic Location 
L3 – Regeneration and Reducing Inequalities 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L6 – Waste 
L7 - Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
W1 - Economy 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 112



 
 

PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Main Industrial Area 
Priority Area for Regeneration 
Special Health and Safety Development Control Sub-Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
E7 - Main Industrial Areas 
E15 - Priority Regeneration Area: Carrington  
D5 - Special Health and Safety Development Control Sub-Area 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24 
July 2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE/DOCUMENTS 
 
SPD1: Planning Obligations 
SPD3: Parking Standards and Design 
Planning Guidelines: Industrial Development 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
94605/NMA/18 - Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
88439/HYB/16 to allow for alterations to the position and extent of green infrastructure, 
access points and building height parameters. Approved 24/08/18 
 
88439/HYB/16 - Hybrid application comprising: - a) Application for full planning 
permission for the demolition of existing buildings and structures, re-contouring of the 
site to form development platforms, new access(s) off Manchester Road to serve 
residential, employment, retail/health development and new emergency access(s) off 
the A1 private road to serve employment development, improvements to the A6144 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 113



 
 

Manchester Road/Flixton Road/Isherwood Road junction and the A6144 Carrington 
Lane/Carrington Spur/Banky Lane junction; b) Application for outline planning 
permission for the construction of up to 725 dwellings, erection of up to 46,450sq m 
employment floorspace (Use Classes B1/B2/B8), erection of up to 929 sq m of retail 
(Use Class A1)/ health (Use Class D1) floorspace, creation of public open space, rugby 
pitch relocation along with new training pitch, erection of replacement rugby clubhouse, 
replacement car park for retained parts of Carrington Business Park, drainage 
principles, landscaping and ecological works, noise mitigation measures, electrical sub 
stations, pumping stations, car parking and vehicle, cycle and pedestrian circulation.  
Approved  25/08/17 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The following detailed reports have been submitted in support of the application and are 
referred to as appropriate in the report: - 
 

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Transport Statement 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 Arboricultural Method Assessment 

 Landscape and Habitat Management Plan 

 Bat Survey Report 

 Badger Survey Report 

 Energy and Carbon Reduction Strategy 

 Noise Assessment 

 Archaeology Summary Statement 

 Consultation Summary 
 
The proposals are summarised in the applicant’s Planning Statement as follows: - 
 

 The submission accords with the relevant policies of the Revised UDP and Core 
Strategy where the relevant policies are themselves in accordance with national 
policy. 

 This is a key regeneration and development priority for the Council and has been 
identified as such for many years. The submission will help to deliver part of the 
75ha of employment land as set out in Core Strategy Policy SL5. 

 The most suitable design solution for the development has been established. The 
scale, form, massing and design of the proposed buildings reflect the context. 

 The submission will deliver 218,884 sq. ft (20,335 sq m) of new, high quality, 
modern employment space. The new accommodation will comprise a mix of B1, 
B2 and B8 units to meet the needs of small and medium sized business 
occupiers from whom there is evident demand. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 114



 
 

 The positions of the junctions are broadly as per the Hybrid permission, subject 
to some localised adjustments. 

 Adequate off street car parking is to be provided for each unit with a mix of car 
parking arrangements. 

 Carefully considered landscape and biodiversity enhancement proposals will 
complement the building design and help to integrate the scheme into its 
surroundings, whilst providing an attractive and vibrant environment for its future 
occupiers. 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Carrington Parish Council – No comments received 
 
Electricity North West – Advise that the development is adjacent to or affect Electricity 
North West operational land or electricity distribution assets and could have an impact 
on ENW infrastructure. Applicant must ensure the development does not encroach over 
either the land or any ancillary rights of access or cable easements, contact ENW, refer 
to relevant guidance, and care should be taken when excavating. 
 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service – GMAAS have reservations 
over the justification provided for not doing further archaeological evaluation. The 
geophysical survey has demonstrated that there are features of potential interest that 
need evaluating through trenching for the avoidance of doubt. Should archaeological 
remains be encountered then further more detailed excavation and recording is likely to 
follow-on. GMAAS recommend that a scheme of evaluation trenching is now put in 
place. 
 
Greater Manchester Cycling Campaign – No comments received 
 
GMEU – In summary comment that the trees to be lost are mostly pioneer (young) tree 
species, not forming a properly functional woodland. Mitigation for the losses is 
regarded as ecologically acceptable for the tree losses. A certain amount of landscape 
connectivity will remain post-development, and in the context of the updated bat survey 
GMEU do not consider that the tree losses will affect local bat populations. Further 
comments are referred to in the Observations section below. 
 
Greater Manchester Fire Authority – No comments received 
 
Greater Manchester Pedestrian Association – No comments received 
 
GMP (Design for Security) – No comments received 
 
HSE - Do Not Advise Against, consequently HSE does not advise on safety grounds 
against the granting of planning permission in this case. (Nb. This response is 
generated using the HSE WebApp and is based on the highest risk scenario of there 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 115



 
 

being 100 or more occupants in any individual workplace building). 
 
Historic England – Do not wish to offer any comments and advise that the Council 
seek the views of its specialist conservation and archaeological advisers, as relevant. 
 
LLFA – Comment that the proposed works will not cause flood risk to the development 
or the surrounding area and the application is satisfactory for approval subject to the 
drainage scheme being designed in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy. Also advise that the site is not within a Critical 
Drainage Area; appears to be within Flood Zone 1; part of the development (Unit 1) 
appears to be at high risk from surface water flooding; the development appears to be in 
an area of shallow groundwater; and drainage must be designed as separate systems. 
 
LHA - Initial comments raised a number of issues including in relation to visibility splays 
and internal layouts that resulted in submission of amended plans. Further comments 
on the amended plans will be included in the Additional Information Report. 
 
National Grid – No comments received 
 
Partington Parish Council – No comments received 
 
Peak and Northern Footpaths Society – It does not appear the development will 
interfere with the line of restricted byway on the south western edge of the site, however 
a fence has been erected (outside of the planning application site) which obstructs the 
definitive line of Carrington 24 adjacent to Manchester Road. The developer needs to 
be reminded of the need to avoid obstructing public rights of way. These comments are 
submitted on behalf of the Peak and Northern Footpaths Society and as a Trafford 
resident. 
 
Pollution and Licensing (Nuisance) – Note the Industrial Noise Impact Assessment 
concludes that the units can operate without causing nuisance to neighbouring 
residential occupiers, but further assessments will be necessary once the details for the 
mode of use of each unit is decided. This is particularly relevant to ensure that any 
potential night time disturbance is mitigated. No concerns regarding the submitted 
lighting plan. 
 
TfGM – As this is a reserved matters application TfGM have no comment to make. 
 
United Utilities – No comments received 
 
Waste Management – No comments received 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

National Trust - Note that the principle of development has been established by 
88439/HYB/16 and they have no issue with the proposed design approach. Raise wider 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 116



 
 

concerns about the masterplanning of the wider GMSF New Carrington allocation which 
are not relevant to this proposal, given it is a reserved matters application. . 
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
BACKGROUND AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 

1. The former Shell petrochemicals site is a significant area of previously developed 
land, a substantial amount of which has been vacant since Shell vacated the site. 
The wider Carrington Strategic site, which includes the former Shell plant and 
surrounding agricultural land extends to approximately 670 hectares. It is one of 
the largest previously developed sites in the Greater Manchester Region and has 
been identified as a significant opportunity for redevelopment. It represents one 
of the largest single ownership development opportunities within Greater 
Manchester and has the potential to make a significant contribution towards the 
housing and employment requirements of Trafford and the sub-Region. 

 
Trafford Core Strategy 
 
2. The Core Strategy identifies Carrington as a Strategic Location and states the 

location offers the opportunity to reduce the isolation of both Carrington and 
Partington by creating a substantial new mixed use sustainable community on 
large tracts of former industrial brownfield land. The Place Objectives for 
Carrington relevant to these phases of development include CAO3 and CAO8: 
To maximise the re-use or redevelopment of previously developed/derelict land; 
CAO5 and CAO9: To provide the right conditions for residents of Trafford, but 
particularly Partington and Sale West, to access employment opportunities and 
to attract and retain economically mobile people within Trafford; and CAO10: To 
redevelop the economic capacity of Carrington and attract significant new activity 
to secure its future economic viability.  

 
3. Policy SL5 states a major mixed-use development will be delivered in this 

Location, providing a new residential community, together with employment, 
educational, health and recreational facilities and supported by substantial 
improvements to both public transport and road infrastructure. In relation to 
employment the Policy states that this Location can deliver 75 hectares of land 
for employment activities; new road infrastructure to serve the development area 
to relieve congestion on the existing A6144; and high quality green infrastructure 
within the new community that connects with the surrounding open countryside 
and protects and enhances the existing sites of environmental importance. 

 
4. Policy W1 also identifies Carrington as a location where employment uses will be 

focussed. It states at W1.7 that Carrington has significant potential to 
accommodate large-scale employment development, particularly for general 
industrial, storage and distribution uses and office development, in order to 
complement the offer in Trafford Park. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 117



 
 

PR 
INCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 

 
5. Application ref. 88439/HYB/16 (the ‘Hybrid’ permission) includes up to 

46,450sqm employment floorspace for uses within Use Classes B1, B2 and B8 
on the sites the subject of this application for approval of reserved matters, 
together with a further site on the opposite side of Manchester Road. This 
application therefore represents approximately 44% of this approved total.  

 
6. The Hybrid permission comprises elements for which full planning permission 

was granted and elements for which outline planning permission was granted. 
Relevant to the phases the subject of this reserved matters application, full 
planning permission was granted for new accesses off Manchester Road and the 
A1 road and outline planning permission was granted for up to 46,450sq m 
employment floorspace (Use Classes B1/B2/B8). The principle of employment 
development on these sites, for uses within Use Classes in B1, B2 and/or B8, is 
therefore established through the Hybrid permission and this application relates 
to consideration of detailed matters only, namely appearance, layout, scale and 
landscaping. 

 
7. Although matters of appearance, layout, scale and landscaping were reserved for 

subsequent approval, consideration was given in the Hybrid application to how 
the layout and buildings would relate to the site and its surrounding context. The 
Hybrid application included a number of Parameters Plans which fix the following 
parameters of the scheme for the reserved matters submissions: - 

 

 Land Use 

 Green Infrastructure 

 Building Height 

 Movement and Access 

 Phasing 

 Noise 
 

Condition 11 of the Hybrid permission requires that the reserved matters for each 
phase comply with the development parameters outlined on these plans. The 
Movement and Access, Green Infrastructure and Building Height Parameters 
Plans have since been amended under non-material amendment ref. 
94605/NMA/18. In issuing a non-material amendment to a planning permission, 
the planning authority has to be satisfied that the changes proposed are so minor 
that they can be classed as non-material in the context of the overall 
development. This was considered to be the case with the changes proposed 
under 94605/NMA/18. 
 
 
 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 118



 
 

LAYOUT, SCALE AND APPEARANCE 
8. In assessing the layout, scale and appearance of the development, the 

requirements of Policies SL5 and L7 of the Core Strategy are relevant. Policy 
SL5 states that development must demonstrate high standards of sustainable 
urban design in accordance with Policies L5 and L7 and must protect, enhance 
and preserve heritage assets and their wider settings, including the Listed 
Church of St George. Policy L7 states development must be appropriate in its 
context; make best use of opportunities to improve the character and quality of 
an area; enhance the street scene or character of the area by appropriately 
addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, elevation treatment, materials, 
hard and soft landscaping works, and boundary treatment. Policy L7 also 
requires that development provides sufficient off-street car and cycle parking, 
manoeuvring and operational space and be designed in a way that reduces 
opportunities for crime. 

 
The NPPF also emphasises the importance of achieving well-designed places 
and states that planning decisions should ensure that developments add to the 
overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local 
character including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting; 
establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using building types and materials 
to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit; and 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and public space) (paragraph 
127). 

 
Layout and Scale 

9. The layout of the proposed development has taken account of the approved 
Parameters Plans, various constraints on site including a gas pipeline, existing 
trees and hedgerows where these can be retained, and the potential future 
alignment of the A1 road. The layout has also taken into consideration the aim to 
create a ‘Business Gateway’ in this location, as set out in the Hybrid application. 

 
10. Six buildings are proposed comprising 20,335 sq m in total, each with ancillary 

offices, and associated service yards, car parking and landscaping. The 
proposed buildings vary in footprint and height, summarised as follows: - 
 

Unit Length x 

width (m) 

Height to 

ridge (m) 

Floorspace 

(internal m2) 

1 136.7 x 67.9 16.5 9,659 

2 65.3 x 37.2 12.6 2,491 

3 63.9 x 51.6 11.6 3,405 

4 49.1 x 22.8 9.8 1,145 

5 53.1 x 36.3 9.5 1,993 

6 43.7 x 22.6 9.8 1,015 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 119



 
 

 

Three buildings are proposed on Carrington Gateway 1 to the south of the A1 
road (Units 1, 2 and 3) and three units on Carrington Gateway 2 to the north of 
the A1 road (Units 4, 5 and 6). 

 
11. On Carrington Gateway 1 (land to the south of the A1 road), Unit 1 is proposed 

parallel to the A1 road, set back 12.7m to 13.7m from the existing pavement and 
extending for a length of 137m. A formal avenue of trees within a 12m wide grass 
verge comprising 14no. oak trees is proposed alongside the road for the full 
length of the building. In terms of its scale and siting relative to the road it is 
considered the proposed building would have an acceptable impact. 

 
12. In relation to Manchester Road, Units 2 and 3 would be orientated at an angle 

relative to the road (to account for the potential future alignment of the A1 road). 
Unit 3 would be positioned relatively close to the road, set back approximately 
13m at its closest point with the distance increasing to over 30m due to its angle 
relative to the road. The existing trees on the site alongside Manchester Road 
are to be retained and would screen the side of Unit 3, although its south west 
elevation would be prominent from the south and Unit 2 would also be visible 
from the road although is set back well back into the site. It is considered neither 
building would be obtrusive from Manchester Road given their siting/orientation 
relative to the road and the wider context of the site including the landscaping 
around the buildings. 

 
13. On Carrington Gateway 2 (land north of the A1 road), Units 4 and 6 would be 

positioned parallel to the A1 road, set back 8m and 6.6m respectively from the 
existing pavement, whilst Unit 5 would be positioned further back and at an angle 
relative to the A1. There would be formal tree planting (13no. oak trees) along 
part of the frontage, with other areas in front of the buildings comprising lawn, 
ornamental shrub planting and native hedge. In relation to Manchester Road Unit 
4 would be positioned with gable end facing Manchester Road, set back 8.3m to 
20m into the site with an area of grass and ornamental shrub planting on this 
corner. Unit 5 would be set back over 30m from the road and the existing trees 
along this part of the site boundary with Manchester Road are to be retained. The 
layout of buildings on this part of their site and their impact from Manchester 
Road and the A1 road is considered acceptable, taking into account distance 
retained to the road and existing and proposed landscaping.   

 
14. The height of the proposed buildings varies from 9.5m (Unit 5) to 16.5m (Unit 1).  

The approved Building Height Parameters Plan allows for buildings up to 2 storey 
with a maximum ridge height of 10m on the north side of the A1 road and up to 2 
storey with a maximum ridge height of 20m on the south side of the A1 road 
along with an area for buildings up to 3 storey with a maximum ridge height of 
12m on the front corner. The proposed building heights are all within these 
approved parameters. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 120



 
 

15. The proposed development would generally be open fronted, with grass verges 
along the frontages with Manchester Road and the A1 road and trees, hedges 
and/or shrub planting within the verges. This would retain views into the sites and 
an open aspect with landscaping prominent, although some sections of security 
fencing would be visible from the roads to secure service yards where this is 
necessary. 

 
16. The car parking and service yards have been located behind buildings and away 

from site boundaries where possible. Where these are close to the edge of the 
site soft landscaping has been used to screen these as far as possible. Security 
fencing around the perimeter of the service yards is proposed in the form of a 
2.4m high wire mesh fence with a PPC finish in mid grey. Gates to the service 
yards will be the same material. Sections of the fencing would be visible from 
Manchester Road and the A1 road, including along Manchester Road to secure 
the service yards to Units 2, 3 and 4 and along the A1 road to the service yards 
to Units 5 and 6 and between Unit 1 and the east site boundary. Amended plans 
have been submitted to provide trees alongside the service yards of Units 2 and 
3 where this is possible without affecting visibility splays in order to provide 
increased screening of these areas. In the context of the scheme overall the 
service yards and fencing near the frontages of the site are limited and would not 
be unduly obtrusive in the street scene. 

 
17. Internally the areas between the buildings would predominantly comprise the 

service yards and car parking required for each unit, therefore hardstanding 
would dominate. Landscaping within the site is proposed around these areas in 
the form of trees, hedges, ornamental shrub planting and lawn areas to soften 
the impact of these areas as far as possible and provide an attractive 
environment for the occupiers. Other internal features include a cycle shelter 
adjacent to each unit, two substations and a large drainage swale in the south 
east part of the site. 

 
Appearance 
 

18. In terms of the design approach to the buildings, the Design and Access 
Statement explains that this is the first stage of a longer term plan for HIMOR 
and the design of the buildings is such that it creates a unique identity and brand 
image which then forms the ‘rules’ for all future industrial development in the 
wider Carrington employment area. The appearance of the buildings, as set out 
in the Design and Access Statement, is based on a contemporary agricultural 
and industrial design, intended to reflect the rural area and industrial heritage of 
the site. 

 
19. All six proposed buildings follow a consistent design and palette of materials that 

is intended to give the development a specific identity and which will act as the 
template for future employment phases within Carrington. The buildings all 
feature pitched roofs and would be constructed predominantly in sinusoidal 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 121



 
 

cladding in two principal colours and laid vertically. Sinusoidal cladding is a 
profiled form of steel cladding that will help create a more interesting façade than 
flat panels. The roofs would be pitched with a sinusoidal profiled steel sheet 
covering, indicated as anthracite grey in colour. All gutters will be internal. 

 
20. All buildings would have a strong frame feature to both gable ends which 

protrudes from the building on the front elevation and extends horizontally to 
separate the upper floor from the ground floor. The Design and Access 
Statement explains the buildings are focussed on the front façade and the frame 
will give a feel of arrival and prominence. The frame is anthracite grey and the 
infill would be sinusoidal cladding in goosewing grey. The front of each building 
also contains glazing to the office areas on the first floor within PPC aluminium 
curtain walling and which will wrap around to the side elevation. The office areas 
are positioned on the prominent elevations and corners and comprise aluminium 
curtain walling and glazing which would add a degree of visual interest and 
variation to the otherwise uniform treatment to the elevations. Where the glazing 
wraps around the buildings to the side elevations, this would be set within a 
contrasting sinusoidal cladding (goosewing grey) to that used for the main length 
of building. 

 
21. To the side elevations the buildings comprise sinusoidal cladding laid vertically, 

using different colours between the ground floor and upper floor (anthracite grey 
to the upper floor and goosewing grey to the lower floor) to provide a clear 
horizontal break and break up the massing. The side elevations visible to 
Manchester Road or the A1 road also feature smaller sections of sinusoidal 
cladding in goosewing grey, flat cladding in anthracite grey and/or glazing to the 
upper floors to provide further contrast and break up the large sections of dark 
cladding. Due to the length and height of Unit 1 and long range of visibility along 
the A1 road (and also Unit 3 which will be close to Manchester Road), the plans 
have been amended at the request of officers to further break up these 
elevations. The plans have been amended with the incorporation of contrasting 
recessed strips within the cladding, which are randomly placed throughout the 
length of the façade. In combination with the glazing at one end and signage 
zone at the other it is considered this serves to break up the elevations and the 
impact of the buildings in the street scene would be acceptable. In the case of 
Unit 1 the proposed formal avenue of trees would further break up the massing of 
the building. This design change has been reflected in all the proposed buildings. 

 
22. The proposed materials are considered acceptable and would create a clear 

identity to the development as a whole, rather than a series of unrelated buildings 
of different styles. A condition requiring full details and samples of the proposed 
materials is considered necessary to ensure the texture, colour and quality of the 
cladding is appropriate. 

 
23. These are substantial buildings in scale, particularly Unit 1, however this is in 

accordance with the form of development envisaged in the Hybrid application 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 122



 
 

and the approved Parameters Plans. It is considered the sites are large enough 
to accommodate these six buildings, together with the necessary car parking, 
service yards, landscaping and space between the buildings, without appearing 
an over-intensive form of development. Whilst Carrington is a semi-rural location 
and these sites presently comprise areas of open and/or undeveloped land, there 
are other large industrial buildings in the locality and which form the immediate 
context. These include Basell which includes tall storage tanks south east of the 
site, the Saica plant to the south west, Air Products and Carrington First to the 
north east and Carrington Power Station to the north. There is also infrastructure 
in the vicinity, including pylons and overground pipelines. Furthermore there are 
no residential properties in the immediate vicinity (with the exception of The Old 
Vicarage to the north) and it is not a sensitive landscape. In this context buildings 
of this scale would not be out of place on this site and the layout and architectural 
treatment as considered above ensures a high quality scheme that will be 
appropriate in its context. Importantly the Strategic Location envisages significant 
employment development of this nature which would naturally be accommodated 
in buildings of this type, form and scale. 

 
Listed Building 
 

24. The Church of St George to the north of the site is Grade II* listed. The site 
adjoins the graveyard, with the Church itself situated approximately 42m north 
east of the site. The nearest proposed building to the Church (Unit 5) would 
retain 13.5m to the site boundary and an overall distance of approximately 55m 
to the Church. The Green Infrastructure Parameters Plan, requires an 11m wide 
landscape buffer along the boundary with the Church and this is provided in the 
scheme comprising retention of the existing trees and hedge on the boundary 
and grass. The scheme also includes the addition of 24no. Field Maple trees on 
this part of the site. The height of the building at 9.5m is in accordance with the 
Building Height Parameters Plan which sets a maximum height of 10m to ridge 
for buildings on this parcel of land. The height of 9.5m is intended to fall below 
the height of the top of the tree canopy.  The position of the other buildings 
proposed on this part of the site is such they would not harm the setting of the 
Church, also taking into account their height and intervening boundary 
treatments. The retained and proposed boundary treatment complies with the 
Green Infrastructure Parameters Plan and their height of 9.8m is in accordance 
with the Building Height Parameters Plan. 

 
25. In the Hybrid permission it was considered the proposed development (which will 

also include buildings on the opposite side of Manchester Road) would affect the 
currently isolated and enclosed setting of the Church to an extent that would 
result in ‘less than substantial harm’ in NPPF terms to the significance of the 
designated heritage asset. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires this harm to be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In granting the Hybrid 
permission it was considered the public benefits that will result from the 
development outweighed this harm. These included provision of significant 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 123



 
 

employment space on a site within an area designated a Strategic Location 
capable of delivering up to 75 ha of land for employment activities and creation of 
jobs. The principle of development is established by the Hybrid permission and 
the proposals comply with the approved Parameters Plans. The details submitted 
in respect of the reserved matters do not go beyond what was anticipated at 
Hybrid application stage and therefore do not alter the conclusion with regard to 
the impact of the proposals on heritage assets.  

 
PROPOSED LANDSCAPING, INCLUDING IMPACT ON TREES 
 

26. The approved Green Infrastructure Parameters Plan identify the areas where 
landscaping and open space will be retained and/or provided within the site, 
which for these phases is predominantly along the site boundaries. The 
submitted plans identify a comprehensive landscape scheme including retention 
of existing trees and planting where possible and the following new planting: - 
 

 Amenity Grassland – verges and main lawns throughout the site. 

 Formal Tree Planting – to create a formal avenue approach into the 
development along the A1 road. To consist of semi-mature oak trees 5m-
5.6m high when planted. 

 Native Woodland – woodland planting adjacent to existing tree stock to the 
east of the site, south of the A1 road. Species to consist of oak, birch, 
hawthorn, holly, rowan, hazel and cherry. 

 Native Hedgerow – along the pedestrian routes and adjacent to car 
parks/buildings. Species consist of hawthorn, cherry and field maple. 

 Ornamental Shrub Planting and Non-native Hedgerow – around the edges of 
the buildings and car park. 

 Wildflower Areas – areas at the north east and south west ends of the site, 
adjacent to existing dress stock maintaining connectivity across the site. 

 Drainage Swale – to the side and rear of Unit 1 in the south east part of the 
site. 

 
27. A detailed planting schedule with planting plans is provided for the above 

planting across the site and the Landscape and Habitat Management Plan and 
Design and Access Statement include details for its implementation and 
management. Conditions are recommended to ensure that the landscaping 
scheme is implemented in a suitable timescale and there is a schedule for its on-
going maintenance. 

 
28. The overall approach to landscaping across the site is in accordance with the 

approved Green Infrastructure Parameters Plan. The scheme would provide a 
high quality, attractive setting for the development, soften the impact of these 
large buildings at the edges of the site and help integrate the development into its 
surrounding context. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 124



 
 

29. Hard landscaping includes tarmac for the access roads and car parks and 
concrete for the service yards given the need for durability. Although these 
materials cover significant areas within the site they are predominantly between 
buildings or to the rear of buildings and not prominent from outside the site. 
Landscaping around the perimeter will also screen or soften the impact of these 
areas. The office entrances will be concrete flag paving in three colours (silver, 
charcoal and graphite). Furniture within the site includes timber bollards, lighting 
columns and benches adjacent to the 3 largest units. 
 

30. There are a significant number of trees on the site, with the main groups and 
most substantial trees being the area of woodland to the eastern portion of the 
site south of the A1 road and groups alongside Manchester Road and the A1 
road of both sites. Although some groups are to be retained, a significant number 
of trees are proposed to be removed to facilitate the development. There are no 
Tree Preservation Orders on the site.  

 
31. The application includes an Arboricultural Impact Assessment as required by 

Condition 40 of the Hybrid permission and identifies those trees proposed to be 
removed. The Assessment identifies 14 trees and 6 groups of trees would need 
to be removed (or partially removed in the case of the tree groups) to 
accommodate the proposed development. This includes a significant number of 
trees forming the woodland on the east side of Carrington Gateway 1, tree 
groups along Manchester Road in Carrington Gateway 1 and along Manchester 
Road and the A1 road in Carrington Gateway 2. All trees proposed to be 
removed are identified as Category B or C trees (trees of moderate or low quality 
and value) with the exception of one of the Category A trees (trees of high quality 
and value). The Aroboricultural Impact Assessment states its removal is 
unavoidable due to its direct conflict with proposed Unit 1. In response to the 
required tree losses the Assessment states that the scheme of new soft 
landscaping aims to create a high quality landscaped setting which also 
integrates and reinforces the retained tree features. 

 
32. The application includes an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection 

Plan as required by Condition 40 of the Hybrid permission which identifies Root 
Protection Areas around all retained trees and details how trees will be 
safeguarded during construction. Condition 40 requires the development to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved measures and which shall be 
retained throughout the course of the development. 

 
33. The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objections to the proposals on 

arboricultural grounds, providing the recommendations within the submitted tree 
protection plan and method statement are followed. They comment it is 
unfortunate that only one of the category A trees on the site could be retained, 
however, the proposed planting of a formal avenue of oak trees will, over time 
replace the lost canopy and increase areas of wildlife.  The loss of the majority of 
the woodland area on the east side of Carrington Gateway 1, which is currently 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 125



 
 

dominated by birch, will be mitigated in part by the proposed woodland planting, 
which provides an opportunity for a more mixed range of native species. 

 
HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
 

34. The impact of the proposed development on the Local Road Network and 
Strategic Road Network was considered in the Hybrid application to which this 
reserved matters application relates and found to be acceptable. As such the 
traffic generated by the proposed development does not need to be re-
considered. 

 
35. The Hybrid permission is for a quantum of development up to 725 dwellings, 

46,450sq m employment floorspace, 929 sq m of retail / health floorspace, as 
well as public open space, relocated rugby pitch and new training pitch and 
replacement rugby clubhouse. It was concluded that this quantum of 
development, with the proposed mitigation as set out in conditions (see below) 
would not have a ‘severe’ impact in NPPF terms on the Local or Strategic Road 
Network and was therefore acceptable. The assessment took into account the 
cumulative impact of existing and committed development in the vicinity of the 
site and scenarios including No WGIS, Part WGIS and Full WGIS. The Transport 
Statement includes updated forecasts of the traffic that would be generated by 
these phases (based on B2 use) and demonstrates they would generate less 
traffic than the forecasts in the Hybrid application. 

 
36. The Hybrid permission and S106 agreement requires highway improvement 

works at the following junctions as part of the approved development: - 

 

 Flixton Road/Isherwood Road/A6144 Manchester Road 

 Carrington Lane/Banky Lane/A6144 Manchester Road 

 Common Lane/A6144 Manchester Road 
 

Condition 17 of the Hybrid permission sets out the following trigger points for the 
above approved highway improvements to be completed prior to occupation: - 
No more than: (a) 100 residential units, or (b) 2,322 sq m of B1 Office use, or (c) 
9,290 sq m of B2/B8 uses or (d) a combination of the above. In the case of 
scenario (d) the condition requires a revised threshold schedule to be submitted 
to and approved before any buildings are occupied. The above highway 
improvement works will therefore need to be completed prior to 9,290 sq m of the 
proposed development being occupied, or if residential development has also 
commenced then a revised threshold to take account of both developments will 
need to be agreed with the Council. 

 
37. Condition 19 of the Hybrid permission requires the proposed priority junctions to 

serve the various development sectors from the A6144 Manchester Road to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved drawings and made available for 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 126



 
 

use prior to the occupation of buildings within the relevant phase of the 
development they are intended to serve. 

 
38. The accessibility of the site in public transport terms was considered in the 

Hybrid application and does not need to be re-considered. There are bus stops 
on Manchester Road convenient to the site and the scheme provides pedestrian 
links between these and the buildings. The Hybrid permission is also subject to a 
Travel Plan condition. 

 
Access Arrangements 
 

39. The proposed number and positions of access points are as per the approved 
Hybrid permission and subsequent non-material amendment. The approved 
means of access for the phases the subject of this reserved matters include two 
accesses from Manchester Road and two access points on the north side of the 
A1 road. Carrington Gateway 1 on the south side of the A1 road will have a new 
priority-controlled junction onto Manchester Road which provides access to a 
private estate road serving Units 1, 2 and 3. Carrington Gateway 2 on the north 
side of the A1 will have a new priority-controlled junction from Manchester Road 
providing access to Units 4 and 5, whilst Unit 6 will have two access points from 
the A1 road, one to the service yard and one to the car park.  

 
40. The LHA note the application includes technical proposals for the construction of 

areas of proposed adopted highway. The applicant should be made aware that 
approval of such technical highway matters is part of a separate approval 
process by way of a S278 or S38 Agreement and approval of such matters by 
the LHA is not given by grant of planning permission. 

 
41. The layout and junction designs have taken into account the need for visibility 

splays and amended plans have been submitted in response to the comments of 
the LHA. Further comments from the LHA on the amended plans will be included 
in the Additional Information Report.  

 
Car Parking  
 

42. Condition 20 of the Hybrid permission requires details of a scheme for car 
parking, servicing, loading and other vehicular access arrangements to serve the 
relevant phase of development they relate to, including the number and layout of 
car spaces, secure motorcycle and cycle parking spaces (including accessible 
spaces) and the location of servicing, loading and other vehicular access areas. 
The application includes a plan identifying the above. 

 
43. The Council’s car parking standards as set out in the Core Strategy and SPD3: 

Parking Standards and Design are as follows: - 
 

 B1(b) or B1(c) = 1 space per 30 sq m  

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 127



 
 

 B2 = 1 space per 45 sq m 

 B8 = 1 space per 100 sq m 
 

A total of 283 car parking spaces are proposed, with the breakdown for each unit 
and how this compares to the Council’s standards as follows. As each unit could 
potentially be occupied by a B1(b), B1(c), B2 or B8 use the standard for each 
potential use is included below. The amount required by the ancillary B1 office 
element in each unit is included in the total. 
 

Unit B1(b) 

or 

B1(c) 

B2 B8 No. 

spaces 

proposed 

1 328 225 112 118 

2 86 59 28 41 

3 117 81 40 56 

4 40 28 15 15 

5 69 48 25 33 

6 36 25 13 20 

Total    283 

 
44. The above demonstrates that the proposed level of car parking would exceed the 

Council’s standards if the units were occupied by B8 uses, but would fall below 
the standards if the units were occupied by B1(b), B1(c) or B2 uses. It is unlikely 
all units would be occupied by B1(b), B1(c) or B2 uses, however in a scenario 
where all or a substantial number of the units were occupied by B1(b), B1(c) or 
B2 uses (which would be possible under the terms of the permission), there 
would be a significant parking shortfall based on the Council’s maximum 
standards. 

 
45. In response to this issue the applicant has advised that the level of car parking 

proposed represents a ratio of 1 space per 70 sq m and approximately 65% of 
the maximum set out in the Council’s standards (if the site was 100%  B2 use). 
As the Council’s standards are maximum the applicant states this is in 
accordance with the standards. The applicant has shown that if the proportion of 
B2 use across the site as a whole is 30% or less and the remainder is B8 use 
then the proposal would comply with the Council’s maximum standard. If the 
proportion of B2 use is above 40% with the remainder being B8 use then the 
proposal would require a higher amount of parking than is proposed which, 
depending on the mix of uses, could be significantly below the standard. The 
applicant considers the proposed level of parking provides flexibility to the 
developer in terms of delivery of the development, whilst providing the Council 
with confidence that parking provision will be in accordance with its maximum 
parking standards. The applicant has also referred to industry advice that they 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 128



 
 

work on a rough estimate of 1 space to 1000 sq ft and the proposal comfortably 
meets this market expectation. 

 
46. As noted in the table above, there are potential scenarios where B1(b), B1(c) or 

B2 use of the units could result in a significant shortfall in parking provision 
relative to the Council’s standards. Whilst it is acknowledged the parking 
standards are a maximum and a lower level than the standard can be 
acceptable, in this case the potential shortfall in some instances could result in 
insufficient parking available in the car park provided for that unit, resulting in on-
street parking on the estate roads or parking elsewhere to the detriment of visual 
amenity and/or highway safety and the free flow of traffic, including for cyclists 
and pedestrians.  It is considered this concern could be addressed by a condition 
that requires submission and approval of a revised car park layout in the event 
any units are to be occupied by uses falling within Use Classes B1(b), B1(c) or 
B2. This would enable more car parking spaces to be provided if necessary. This 
could be achieved by potentially taking up some of the service yard area 
currently shown which may not be required for a B1(b), B1(c) or B2 uses 
compared to that required for a B8 use. 

 
Cycle Parking  
 

47. Cycle parking is to be provided in the form of ‘Sheffield type’ stands within a 
covered cycle shelter positioned at the edge of each car park and near to the 
entrance of each unit. The shelter would be an open sided, curved structure with 
PPC finish. The number of cycle spaces provided for each unit would exceed the 
Council’s standard for B8 use, although would fall below the standards for B1(b), 
B1(c) or B2 use. The potential shortfall if units were occupied by uses other than 
B8 would not be significant however, and in the case of most units would only be 
by 1 to 4 cycle spaces. The exception is if Unit 1 was occupied by B1(b) or B1(c) 
use then the shortfall would be 12 spaces, however it is considered unlikely a 
unit of this size would be occupied by this use. As such it is considered the 
proposed level of cycle parking provision is acceptable. Condition 20 of the 
Hybrid permission requires the cycle parking to be made fully available prior to 
the relevant phase of the development being first brought into use and retained 
thereafter. 

 
Servicing 
 

48. Additional plans have been submitted in response to the comments of the LHA to 
demonstrate adequate turning space for each unit is provided. Any further 
comments from the LHA will be included in the Additional Information Report. 

 
A1 Road 
 

49. The proposed layout has taken into consideration the potential future upgrade 
and opening up of the A1 road and its potential alignment where it would join 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 129



 
 

Manchester Road. The proposed layout would allow the A1 scheme to proceed 
in the event this comes forward after development has commenced on this site. 
The Transport Statement includes a plan which demonstrates how the layout 
safeguards an area that will allow Manchester Road to transition smoothly onto 
the future upgraded A1 road. The LHA has shared details of the scheme with the 
A1 Road Design Team to ensure they are aware of this application and that any 
impact on the proposed development is catered for. The LHA are satisfied that 
there would be sufficient land to accommodate the alignment of the A1 road, 
albeit it would require the loss of some of the existing trees on the site which are 
shown as being retained in this application. Whilst this is regrettable from a tree 
loss perspective, the opening up of the A1 road will enable further investment 
and development in the wider Carrington site which, it is considered, must carry 
greater weight. The amount of tree loss required for the A1 road scheme is yet to 
be established and would need to be assessed at the time a detailed proposal for 
the A1 road scheme comes forward. Any amendment to the landscaping 
indicated in this application could be considered either as a non-material 
amendment or could be dealt with through a subsequent reserved matters 
application, or a planning application for the A1 road scheme. 

 
Public Right of Way 
 

50. A Definitive Right of Way (footpath no. 24, Carrington) lies immediately adjacent 
to the south western boundary of the site and extends from Manchester Road for 
a length of approximately 700m along Common Lane. The LHA advise that the 
developer must ensure any planting on the boundary is maintained to ensure it 
does not narrow the right of way. The applicant has acknowledged this 
requirement and the revised landscape plans submitted address this issue. 

 
51. The Peak and Northern Footpaths Society has referred to the small parcel of 

land adjoining the site to the south which has been enclosed by a fence that 
obstructs the definitive line of Carrington 24 across this land. This means that 
users of this PROW must use the pavement on Common Lane alongside this 
land rather than the actual definitive route. This land is outside the application 
site boundary and therefore the application proposals would have no effect on 
this current situation, nevertheless the issue has been brought to the attention of 
the applicant and an informative can be included on the decision notice, as 
requested by the Peak and Northern Footpaths Society to advise the applicant 
any permission does not grant consent or imply approval for any diversion or 
obstruction of the PROW. 

 
AIR QUALITY 
 

52. The impact of the full quantum of development on air quality was considered in 
the Hybrid application to which this reserved matters application relates and was 
found to be acceptable. As such the impact on air quality does not need to be re-
considered in this application. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 130



 
 

 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE STRATEGY 
 

53. Flood risk and drainage was considered in the Hybrid application and the 
proposed development was found to be acceptable subject to conditions 
requiring details to be submitted and approved as part of each application for 
reserved matters. Conditions 25 to 29 of the Hybrid permission relate to drainage 
and require a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, surface water 
drainage scheme, sustainable drainage scheme and foul drainage scheme to be 
submitted with applications for approval of reserved matters. An application to 
discharge Condition 25 is currently under consideration (ref. 95331/CND/18). 

 
54. The application includes a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy which 

includes a surface water drainage scheme, sustainable drainage scheme and 
foul drainage scheme. The LLFA considers that the proposed works will not 
cause flood risk to the development or the surrounding area and the application 
is satisfactory for approval subject to the drainage scheme being designed in 
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. 
Condition 26 of the Hybrid permission requires development to proceed in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. 

 
GROUND CONDITIONS AND CONTAMINATION 
 

55. Condition 22 of the Hybrid permission requires additional investigation and risk 
assessment prior to commencement of development in any phase and a report to 
be submitted and approved, a remediation strategy if necessary and a 
verification report before any buildings are occupied. This will need to be 
complied with prior to commencement of development. 

 
SITE LEVELS 
 

56. Condition 8 of the Hybrid permission requires details of existing and finished site 
levels to be submitted and approved prior to commencement of development. An 
application to discharge this condition has been submitted and is currently under 
consideration (ref. 94952/CND/18). 

 
ECOLOGY AND NATURE CONSERVATION 
 

57. Condition 34 of the Hybrid permission requires a Landscape and Habitat 
Creation and Management Plan that shall incorporate features into the design of 
the development that will enhance the landscape, biodiversity and geodiversity 
value of the relevant part of the site. The application includes a Landscape and 
Habitat Creation and Management Plan and also a bat survey report and badger 
survey report. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 131



 
 

58. The Landscape and Habitat Creation and Management Plan confirms an 
ecological appraisal of the site was undertaken to identify existing habitat types 
including a Phase I habitat survey, new habitats will be created and 
existing/retained habitats will be subject to management recommendations as set 
out in the ES. New planting that will provide habitats include the following: - 

 

 Formal Tree Planting - will provide additional habitat for common bird species 
(providing foraging opportunities and cover).  

 Native Woodland - along the eastern site boundary to consist primarily of 
native tree planting and shrub understorey, which will strengthen habitat 
connections between woodland / tree habitats to the north and south of the 
A1 road. 

 Native Hedgerow - maintains existing and creates new habitat connections 
across the site and to off-site adjacent habitats. Planting native species within 
the new hedgerow enhances site biodiversity and provides foraging, nesting, 
shelter for wildlife including amphibians, birds and other mammals. 

 Ornamental Shrub Planting and Non-native Hedgerow - additional habitat for 
common bird species (providing foraging opportunities and cover). 

 Wildflower - new meadow grassland is intended to provide floristically rich 
grassland that can be maintained to ensure its continued species diversity 
and provide a foraging habitat for local populations of invertebrates and birds. 

 
59. Details for the implementation and management of these areas are included in 

the Landscape and Habitat Creation and Management Plan and Condition 34 of 
the Hybrid permission requires development to proceed in accordance with the 
approved plan. 

 
60. Bats have been considered in the Landscape and Habitat Creation and 

Management Plan with the following measures incorporated: sensitive lighting 
design to ensure minimal light spill onto retained trees and future landscape 
areas; creation and management of woodland, trees, hedgerow and grassland to 
provide enhanced opportunities for invertebrates; cluster of 3 bat boxes to be 
located on an existing mature tree within the site. 

 
61. Birds have been considered with the following measures incorporated: removal 

of woody vegetation to be outside breeding bird season unless first checked for 
active nests and appropriate buffer zone provided; creation and management of 
woodland, trees, hedgerow and grassland to provide enhanced opportunities for 
invertebrates; 10 bird boxes to be erected within retained vegetation. 

 
62. GMEU comment the main ecological impact arising from the development of this 

part of the wider Carrington Village is the loss of trees. However, the trees to be 
lost are mostly pioneer (young) tree species, not forming a properly functional 
woodland. Mitigation for the losses is provided in the detailed Landscape and 
Habitat Plans and in the Landscape and Habitat Management Plan. GMEU 
regard the mitigation (landscaping) proposed as ecologically acceptable for the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 132



 
 

tree losses to be incurred. Although some of the planting plans include species 
that are not native this is not inappropriate given the context of the site and of the 
wider scheme. A certain amount of landscape connectivity will remain post-
development, and in the context of the updated bat survey report submitted with 
the application GMEU do not consider that the tree losses will affect local bat 
populations. 

 
63. GMEU advise that no tree removals should take place during the optimum period 

for bird nesting (March to July inclusive). All nesting birds their eggs and young 
are specially protected under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended). Condition 32 of the Hybrid permission prevents the clearance of 
trees and shrubs during the bird nesting season, unless an ecological survey has 
first been submitted and approved to establish whether the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. 

 
64. Condition 30 of the Hybrid permission requires a further emergence and activity 

survey for bats prior to any demolition works and Condition 31 requires a further 
survey for the possible presence of badgers prior to any development, site 
preparation or groundworks. An application to discharge both these conditions 
has been submitted for these phases and both conditions have been discharged 
(ref. 94951/CND/18). 

 
LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL IMPACT 
 

65. The impact of the proposed development on the Mersey Valley National 
Character Area and local landscape character was considered in the Hybrid 
application. As the proposals are consistent with the approved Parameters Plans, 
including building heights and green infrastructure, the impact on the wider 
landscape is considered acceptable and there is no need to consider further. 

 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

66. The impact of the proposed development on the setting of the Church of St 
George is considered above. With regards to potential archaeological interest, 
the land on the north side of the A1 road has been disturbed through previous 
uses and development whilst the land on the south side of the A1 has not seen 
as much disturbance and a geophysical survey has been undertaken in this area. 
The Archaeology Summary Statement concludes no further works are proposed 
for these phases of development. GMAAS have reservations over the justification 
for not doing further archaeological evaluation as the geophysical survey has 
identified features of potential interest that need evaluating through trenching for 
the avoidance of doubt. Should archaeological remains be encountered then 
further more detailed excavation and recording is likely to follow-on. GMAAS 
recommend that a scheme of evaluation trenching is now put in place. Condition 
35 of the Hybrid permission requires a programme of archaeological works to be 
undertaken in accordance with an approved WSI before any groundworks 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 133



 
 

commence. An application has since been submitted for these phases and the 
condition partially discharged (ref. 94953/CND/18). Further investigations are 
required to comply with this condition i.e. evaluation trenching and submission of 
a WSI. 

 
NOISE 
 

67. The application includes a Noise Impact Assessment as required by Condition 42 
of the Hybrid permission. The Assessment confirms that through appropriate 
design and provision of mitigation where required the site should be suitable for 
B1, B2 and/or B8 use. It also states however, that the assessments are based 
upon several assumptions therefore and assessment may be necessary if the 
end users differ significantly. It states that as the scheme progresses and details 
of prospective tenants and future operations become known further specific 
assessments should be undertaken. 

 
68. Pollution and Licensing note the report concludes that the proposed industrial 

units can operate without causing nuisance to neighbouring residential occupiers, 
but that further assessments will be necessary once the details for the mode of 
use of each unit is decided. This is particularly relevant to ensure that any 
potential night time disturbance is mitigated. This can be required by a condition 
requiring a further noise assessment to be submitted for each unit when the 
occupier is known and before first occupation, requiring details of the proposed 
use and details of any noise mitigation measures necessary. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

69. There are few residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the site and only 
The Old Vicarage to the north is in close proximity. Units 5 and 6 nearest The Old 
Vicarage would be positioned at distances of over 60m (Unit 6) and 80m (Unit 5) 
away. These units are 9.5m and 9.8m high respectively which is in accordance 
with the Building Height Parameters Plan and the landscape buffer comprising 
retained and additional trees along the north east boundary is as per the 
approved Green Infrastructure Parameters Plan as subsequently amended. 
Taking into account the distances retained, height of the buildings and the 
existing and proposed screening, it is considered the proposals would not 
adversely impact on the amenity of this dwelling. 

 
PUBLIC SAFETY (MAJOR ACCIDENT HAZARD SITES) 
 

70. A large proportion of the site falls within the consultation distance of two MAH 
sites; Basell Polyolefins UK Ltd and Air Products (BR) Ltd. The Middle and Outer 
Zones of both MAH sites extend over the site. The site is not within the Inner 
Zones of either MAH site. The HSE ‘Do Not Advise Against’ this proposal. This 
response has been generated using the HSE WebApp and is based on the 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 134



 
 

highest risk scenario of 100 or more occupants in any individual workplace 
building. 

 
ENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE 
 

71. The application includes an Energy and Carbon Reduction Strategy as required 
by Condition 14 of the Hybrid permission. The condition requires this to include 
measures to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from the development hereby 
approved. The target of 5% improvement above building regulations for areas 
outside of the Low Carbon Growth Areas (LCGA) has been used for the 
assessment. In relation to the Building Regulations Part L 2013 and based on the 
building fabric and services efficiencies detailed in the report, the buildings would 
achieve an Actual Annual CO2 Emission Rate which is approximately 19% below 
the Target Annual CO2 Emission Rate. The report also considers low and zero 
carbon technologies and shows that different technologies have been considered 
and of these, air source heat pumps, solar photovoltaics or solar thermal are 
potentially feasible. It concludes that the air source heat pump solution is suitable 
for this site and presents a financially viable solution for Carbon Emission 
Reduction. 

 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

72. Condition 15 of the Hybrid permission requires a Waste Strategy with any 
application for reserved matters and details of refuse and recycling facilities. The 
Design and Access Statement confirms that the units will have a dedicated 
refuse area to facilitate a waste management strategy for the end user, however 
no details can be provided until the occupiers of each unit are known. It is 
therefore considered a condition is necessary to require details for each unit to 
be submitted for approval prior to occupation. Any comments from the Waste 
Management Section will be included in the Additional Information Report. 

 
CRIME AND SECURITY 
 

73. Condition 16 of the Hybrid permission requires any application for reserved 
matters to be designed in accordance with the recommendations contained 
within the submitted Crime Impact Statement and SBD specification listed within 
the submitted Crime Impact Statement. The Design and Access Statement 
outlines measures incorporated into the design to ensure safety and security. 
Any comments from GMP (Design for Security) will be included in the Additional 
Information Report. 

 
LIGHTING 
 

74. Condition 41 of the Hybrid permission requires a scheme for external lighting to 
be submitted and approved prior to any external lighting being provided. The 
application includes a lighting layout specifying the location and type of lighting to 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 135



 
 

be installed throughout the site and including lighting contours. Pollution and 
Licensing have raised no concerns with this plan. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS AND CIL 
 

75. The Hybrid permission is subject to a S106 agreement requiring the following 
relevant to this phase of development: provision of on-site green infrastructure 
and management; financial contribution towards highway improvements to the 
Flixton Road/Isherwood Road/A6144 Manchester Road Junction, Carrington 
Lane/Banky Lane/A6144 Manchester Road Junction and the Common 
Lane/A6144 Manchester Road junction; and Travel Plan Monitoring Fee. These 
obligations remain in place and are unaffected by this application for approval of 
reserved matters. 

 
76. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and comes 

under the category of ‘industry and warehousing’ development, consequently the 
development will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £0 per square metre in line with 
Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014). 

 
CONCLUSION 
 

77. The application site is within the Carrington Strategic Location where the Core 
Strategy seeks to bring forward a major mixed-use development and which will 
include employment activities. The Hybrid planning permission 88439/HYB/16 
approved up to 46,450sq m employment floorspace in Use Classes B1, B2 
and/or B8 across three sites, including the two sites the subject of this application 
for approval of reserved matters. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with adopted policy for the Carrington Strategic Location and the 
Hybrid planning permission to which this application for reserved matters relates. 

 
78. The proposed development would deliver 20,335 sq m of new employment space 

within a range of modern buildings suitable for a mix of employment uses. This 
will contribute significantly towards the Council’s identified employment land 
supply, support the local and sub-regional economy, provide new employment 
opportunities and support the regeneration of Carrington and Partington. 

 
79. The proposed development complies with the Parameters Plans approved as 

part of the Hybrid permission, as subsequently amended. The details of 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are considered to result in a high 
quality scheme that will create a distinctive employment destination and which 
will have acceptable impact on the character of the area. 

 
80. Great importance and weight has been given to the desirability of preserving the 

listed Church of St George, including its setting, in accordance with s66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Paragraph 193 
of the NPPF. In this instance the public benefits generated by the proposals are 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 136



 
 

considered to be substantive, and sufficient to outweigh the less than substantial 
harm that has been identified to the setting of the listed building. 

 
81. The proposed development complies with Policies SL5, L7, W1, R1 and R2 of 

the Trafford Core Strategy and relevant guidance in the NPPF. As such, the 
application is recommended for approval, subject to the conditions listed below. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the following submitted plans: 

 

 B9833-AEW-XX-XX-DR-A-0534 Rev P2 – Location Plan 

 B9833-AEW-XX-XX-DR-A-0500 Rev P5 – Carrington Gateway Site Plan 

 B9833-AEW-01-XX-DR-A-0501 Rev P01 – Unit 1 Floor Plans  

 B9833-AEW-01-XX-DR-A-0502 Rev P02 - Unit 1 Elevations  

 B9833-AEW-01-XX-DR-A-0503 Rev P01 – Unit 1 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-01-XX-DR-A-0504 Rev P01 - Unit 1 Sections 

 B9833-AEW-02-XX-DR-A-0505 Rev P01 - Unit 2 Floor Plans 

 B9833-AEW-02-XX-DR-A-0506 Rev P02 - Unit 2 Elevations 

 B9833-AEW-02-XX-DR-A-0507 Rev P01 - Unit 2 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-02-XX-DR-A-0508 Rev P01 - Unit 2 Sections 

 B9833-AEW-03-XX-DR-A-0509 Rev P01 – Unit 3 Floor Plans 

 B9833-AEW-03-XX-DR-A-0510 Rev P02 - Unit 3 Elevations 

 B9833-AEW-03-XX-DR-A-0511 Rev P01 – Unit 3 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-03-XX-DR-A-0512 Rev P01 – Unit 3 Sections 

 B9833-AEW-04-XX-DR-A-0513 Rev P01 – Unit 4 Floor Plans 

 B9833-AEW-04-XX-DR-A-0514 Rev P02 - Unit 4 Elevations 

 B9833-AEW-04-XX-DR-A-0515 Rev P01 - Unit 4 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-04-XX-DR-A-0516 Rev P01 – Unit 4 Sections 

 B9833-AEW-05-XX-DR-A-0517 Rev P01 – Unit 5 Floor Plans 

 B983-AEW-05-XX-DR-A-0518 Rev P02 - Unit 5 Elevations 

 B9833-AEW-05-XX-DR-A-0519 Rev P01 – Unit 5 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-05-XX-DR-A-0520 Rev P01 - Unit 5 Sections 

 B9833-AEW-06-XX-DR-A-0521 Rev P01 – Unit 6 Floor Plans 

 B9833-AEW-06-XX-DR-A-0522 Rev P02 - Unit 6 Elevations 

 B9833-AEW-06-XX-DR-A-0562 Rev P01 – Unit 6 Roof Plan 

 B9833-AEW-06-XX-DR-A-0563 Rev P01 – Unit 6 Sections 

 10886/P03 Rev C – Tree Loss and Protection Plan 

 10866/P05 Rev D – Landscape General Arrangement 

 10866/P06 Rev D – Landscape Masterplan 

 10866/P07 Rev B – Planting Plan 1 of 5 

 10866/P08 Rev C – Planting Plan 2 of 5 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 137



 
 

 10866/P09 Rev B – Planting Plan 3 of 5 

 10866/P10 Rev C – Planting Plan 4 of 5 

 10866/P13 Rev C – Planting Plan 5 of 5 

 10866/P12 Rev D – Condition 34 Landscape and Habitat Management Plan 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1018 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses New Areas for Adoption & Safeguarded Visibility 
Splays 

 CAR-ARPZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1019 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Road Markings Units 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1021 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Kerbing & Pavement Units 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1023 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses General Arrangement Unit 6 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1024 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Road Markings Unit 6 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1026 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Kerbing & Pavement Unit 6 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1028 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Pavement Build-Up & Kerbing Details 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1029 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Visibility Splays Units 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1030 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Visibility Splays Unit 6 

 HMC-BWB-HDG-XX-SK-D-0500 Rev P4 – Drainage Strategy Drawing 

 HMC-BWB-HDG-XX-SK-D-0502 Rev P3 – Foul Drainage Strategy Drawing 

 HMC-BWB-HGT-XX-SK-D-0600 Rev P1 – Proposed Finished Levels and 
Sections 

 1606-EX-6301 Rev P7 – Plots E1 & E2 External Lighting Layout 
 

Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 

construction works shall take place until samples and a full specification of 
materials to be used externally on the buildings have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
type, colour and texture of the materials. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policies SL5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 138



 
 

3. (a) Prior to any above ground construction works a scheme for the timing / 
phasing of implementation of the landscaping works hereby approved shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(b) The landscaping works hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the 
next planting season following final occupation of the development hereby 
permitted, whichever is the sooner. 
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this permission 
which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the 
next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies 
SL5, L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a schedule of 

landscape maintenance for a minimum period of 5 years has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall 
include details of the arrangements for its implementation. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies 
SL5, L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
5. In the event that any unit hereby approved is to be occupied by a use falling 

within Use Class B1(b), B1(c) or B2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), a revised car parking layout for that unit 
(and revised servicing layout where relevant) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its first occupation. The car 
parking and servicing shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans 
prior to occupation and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a sufficient amount of car parking is provided for each 
unit for its intended use, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy, Supplementary Planning Document 3 - Parking Standards and Design 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. Visibility splays shall be provided in accordance with the following plans prior to 
any part of the development that will utilise the junction to which they relate being 
brought into use and the visibility thus provided shall thereafter be retained: - 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 139



 
 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1029 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Visibility Splays Units 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5 

 CAR-ARP-ZZ-ZZ-DR-PT-1030 Rev P01 – Carrington Gateway – CG1 & CG2 
Proposed New Accesses Visibility Splays Unit 6 

 
Reason: In order to safeguard public and highway safety, having regard to Policy 
L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

7. Prior to the first occupation of each unit a noise assessment and details of 
proposed mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. No building or external area shall be brought into 
use until all approved mitigation relevant to that building and/or use has been 
implemented in accordance with the approved measures and the approved 
mitigation shall be retained and maintained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate noise mitigation measures are provided in the 
interest of residential amenity in accordance with Policies L5 and L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. Prior to the first occupation of each unit details of refuse and recycling facilities 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved facilities shall be completed and made available for use prior to the 
unit being first brought into use and shall be retained thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse and recycling 
storage facilities, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
RG 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 140



Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94601/RES/18

Land Known As Carrington Village On Land Off Manchester Road, Carrington

1:5,000

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 141

bp41546_6
Typewritten Text
MANCHESTER          ROAD

bp41546_7
Typewritten Text
COMMON     LANE

bp41546_8
Typewritten Text

bp41546_9
Typewritten Text

bp41546_10
Typewritten Text

bp41546_11
Typewritten Text



 

 
 

WARD: Broadheath 
 

94632/COU/18 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Change of use of existing public house (Use Class A4) to a residential dwelling 
(Use Class C3). 

 
Bay Malton Hotel, Seamons Road, Altrincham, WA14 5RA 
 
APPLICANT:  Mr Choudhary 
AGENT:  Holborow & Ormesher 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to the Bay Malton Hotel, Altrincham; a presently vacant public 
house.  Situated within a mainly residential area, the application site has residential 
dwellings sited to its southern, northern and eastern sides. To the west of the site lies 
open land. The wider site itself comprises of the main Bay Malton Hotel itself, a 
moderate sized detached Victorian building sited on the south-eastern corner of the site. 
The main hotel building opens out onto Seamons Road, running along the site’s eastern 
side boundary.  
 
Immediately to the north of the hotel lies an open terrace, and a customer car park, 
which is accessed via Seamons Road, and a large open bowling green/beer garden. 
There is also a detached bin store, enclosed by timber fencing to the western side of the 
main hotel building. The whole of the site is situated within Trafford’s designated Green 
Belt. 
 
The Public House, given its Arts and Crafts style and other design features is 
considered to be a Non-Designated Heritage Asset.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application is for the change of use of the application site as a whole from its use as 
a Public House (A4) to a standalone single detached dwelling (C3). 
 
The application would see no external alterations to the main Public House Building. 
The existing car park would be altered to form a private drive and the existing Beer 
Garden would form part of the sites private garden amenity space.  
 
The works would see the erection of a new front boundary wall along Seamon’s Road, 
alongside the erection of new access gates and pillars.  
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 142



 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
The Development Plan in Trafford Comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 
 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L7 – Design 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
R4 – Green Belt, Countryside and Other Protected Open Land 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Green Belt 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016 with a further period of consultation anticipated later in 2018.  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DHCLG published the Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 24th 
July 2018. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 143



 

 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
88137/FUL/16 - Application for the relocation of car park and extension of hard paving 
to Beer Garden – Appeal Dismissed – 26.07.2016.  

85835/FUL/15 - Erection of a single storey side and single storey rear extension, 
alongside other external alterations.  Alterations to the existing beer garden, erection of 
new raised terrace area and bin store. Alongside alterations to the existing car park to 
provide additional spaces and the creation of a new access point – Approved with 
conditions – 16.02.2016. 

 
H/54767 - Extension of existing car park to provide an additional 27 spaces (total 57 
spaces) and formation of new vehicular access to Seamons Road. Closure of existing 
vehicular access to Seamons Road – Refused – 30.09.2002.  
 

APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 

 Design and access statement 

 Greenbelt impact statements  

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Local Highway Authority: 
 
The Local Highways Authority has raised no objection in principle, whilst acknowledging 
that no visibility splay has been indicated on the submitted plans and given the height of 
the proposed front boundary treatment, this will may well be restricted. Therefore this 
and the need for a new footway across the frontage of the site will need to be 
provided/secured by way of condition.  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority: 
 
Raise no objections to the development proposals.  
 
Pollution and Licensing (Noise and Nuisance):  
 
Raise no objections to the development proposals.  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Neighbours: A total of 16 neighbours submitted representations in reference to the 
proposals and raised the following areas of concern: 
 

- Loss of Public House is a loss of a local community asset  
- No benefit to local area from the development  
- There is scope for the site to be reused as a Public House 
- Loss to local economy 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 144



 

 
 

 
A total of 7 neighbours have also written in support of the proposals.  

OBSERVATIONS 
 
Impact on Green Belt  
 

1. The whole of the site, including the main Bay Malton building itself, car park, beer 
garden and outdoor terrace lies within the defined Green Belt. 

2. The purposes of the Green Belt, as outlined within the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Paragraph 134 is: 

 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. 
 

3. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that ‘inappropriate development is, by 
definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in special 
circumstances’.   The guidance goes on to list in paras.145 and 146 certain forms 
of development that are not considered to be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within Green Belt. Such developments 
are broadly categorised in 7 points, of relevance to this application is bullet point 
d, Paragraph 146 which details: the re-use of buildings provided that the 
buildings are of permanent and substantial construction. 
 

4. Core Strategy Policy R4 Green Belt, Countryside and Other Protected Open 
Land, indicates at R4.1 - The Council will continue to protect the Green Belt from 
inappropriate development.  R4.2 New development, including buildings or uses 
for a temporary period will only be permitted within these areas where it is for one 
of the appropriate purposes specified in national guidance, where the proposal 
does not prejudice the primary purposes of the Green Belt set out in national 
guidance by reason of its scale, siting, materials or design or where very special 
circumstances can be demonstrated in support of the proposal.  Paragraph 24.2 
within Policy R4 of the Core Strategy states ‘Within the Green Belt, development 
will be restricted to those uses that are deemed appropriate in the context of 
national guidance and which maintain openness. For all other types of 
development it will be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate very special 
circumstances to warrant the granting of any planning permission for 
development.’ 

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 145



 

 
 

5. The proposal does not involve any additions to the buildings in terms of 
extensions or alterations. The areas of hardstanding proposed will be less than 
existing. It is considered that the proposal would preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and would not conflict with the purposes of including land within the 
Green Belt. It is therefore concluded that the proposed development constitutes 
appropriate development within the Green Belt.  

6. It is recommended that Permitted Development rights for the proposed dwelling-
house be removed as part of any planning consent, in order to ensure that the 
sites existing open nature is retained.  
 

Boundary wall and access gates: 

7. The applicants propose the erection of a new front boundary wall, with railings 
above and stone pillars, together with the erection of new access gates. These 
would be erected to a modest height of 1.5m, with the gates and pillars 
increasing to a length of 1.8m. The proposals are not considered to result in any 
harm to character or space within the site or the wider green belt and are not 
considered to impact upon its openness, taking on the form of ancillary 
structures. Furthermore it should be noted that a 2m fence forming the rear 
boundary of the site, currently exists on site and as such this element of the 
works is also considered to be acceptable.   

 
Proposed change of use from A4 to C3: 
 

8. The site is located within Altrincham and is unallocated on the UDP Proposals 
Map. The site comprises a single part three-storey detached Public House 
building whilst the remainder of the site is open, forming a car-park and beer 
garden. The planning unit is considered to be previously developed land.      

 
9. The application would see the creation of a single dwelling house through the 

change of use of the site. It should however be noted, the site in its current form, 
already comprises a residential use, across its first and second floor levels, 
therefore the principle for a residential use has already been set on site.  

 
10. The proposals need to be considered in light of Policies L1 - L1.8 of the Trafford 

Borough Council Core Strategy. Policy L1.4 states the Councils target for new 
housing will be achieved through a variety of means, including conversions and 
sub-division. Policy L1.7  sets out an indicative target of 80% of new housing 
provision to be built upon brownfield land; and states that in order to achieve this 
the Council will release previously developed land and sustainable urban area 
green-field land, with land within the regional center and inner areas as a priority. 
The first priority which details the release of land within regional centers and 
inner areas for new development of housing does not apply within this case, due 
to the location of the site. Therefore the application will need to be considered 
against the second and third points of Policy L1.7.   

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 146



 

 
 

11. With reference to Policy L1.7 the application site is located within a well-
established mixed use area and is considered to be within a sustainable location, 
close to public transport links and other community facilities. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal will specifically make a positive contribution towards 
Altrincham Place Objective ALO1, in terms of effectively managing high levels of 
residential development pressure within the area.  

 
12. In terms of Policy L2 the application is for a large family dwelling. The proposals 

therefore remain in compliance with policy L2.2 of the Core Strategy, as the 
dwelling would remain of a sufficient size to accommodate the residential use 
proposed and remains appropriately located in what is considered a sustainable 
location, close to public transport links and other local amenities. Policy L2.7 
further states the need for a mix of dwelling types and sizes within the borough in 
order to meet varying housing needs, which the proposal would again help meet.  

 
13. It is noted that the proposed site is not identified within Trafford’s SHLAA 

(Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment). The Council cannot at present 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as such the proposal would need to 
be considered in light of paragraph 11 of the NPPF. Paragraph 11 states that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  In this case, as assessed above, the 
proposal would see the creation of a new dwelling, which albeit of a small nature, 
would contribute in a minor way towards the Council’s ability to meet its overall 
housing land target. Additionally, there is also likely to be a small economic 
benefit during the construction phase of the proposal. 

 
14. Having regard to the appropriate nature of the development within the Green Belt 

and the fact that the site is located within a sustainable location it is considered 
that the principle of developing the site for residential purposes is acceptable in 
principle. There are no specific policies in the Framework which indicate that 
development should be restricted given that the development comprises 
‘appropriate development’ in the Green Belt.  

 
15. The scheme will deliver a three bedroom house providing family sized 

accommodation, contributing towards the creation of a mixed sustainable 
community. The proposed dwelling therefore complies with Core Strategy Policy 
L2.6 and is considered acceptable in this regard. As such the proposed 
development is considered to be in accordance with policies L1 and L2 of the 
TBC Core strategy and the relevant sections of the NPPF.  

 
Loss of designated community asset: 
 

16. In February, 2017, the application site was designated as a Local Community 
Asset by the Council.  
 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 147



 

 
 

17. The site was subsequently marketed for potential buyers, however, the local 
community were unable to take ownership of the site and as such the application 
site was sold to a private buyer. 

 
18. Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that in order to “provide the social, recreational 

and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and 
decisions should  ... guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and 
services, particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day needs (Bullet point c). 

 
19. Local groups have gone through the process of the Community Asset Process 

and have not been able to secure the building. The building was subsequently 
disposed of through a marketing process.  

 
20.  Appeal decisions have noted that “the primary purpose of ACV listing is to afford 

the community an opportunity to purchase the property, not to prevent otherwise 
acceptable development“ 

 
21. Although the loss of this local community asset is regrettable, the application site 

was marketed in line with policy and as such this loss, in this case, is considered 
to be acceptable notwithstanding the advice in the NPPF. The building has not 
been in use as a public house for a number of years, despite planning permission 
being granted for its renovation, and it seems unlikely that it would return to this 
use even if planning permission were to be refused for this development. 
Although on the edge of the built up area, the community is able to access 
facilities and services elsewhere within Altrincham and its surrounds; this is not a 
case where the building comprises the only community facility in an isolated 
settlement.  

 
Design and impact upon non-designated heritage asset: 
 

22. Para 197 of the NPPF details that when dealing with a planning application for a 
Non- Designated Heritage Asset, the impact of the proposals upon the 
significance of the non-designated heritage asset, should be taken into account 
when determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or 
indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset. 
 

23. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in considering applications for 
development within the Borough, the Council will determine whether or not the 
proposed development meets the standards set in national guidelines and the 
requirements of Policy L7.  The relevant extracts of Policy L7 require that 
development is appropriate in its context; makes best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area by appropriately addressing scale, 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 148



 

 
 

density, height, layout, elevation treatment, materials, landscaping; and is 
compatible with the surrounding area.  
 

24. The main Public House is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset, 
given its historic and architectural interest, as an Arts and Crafts property, with 
bay windows, timber detailing and prominent gabled ends. The current works as 
proposed are considered to have a positive impact upon its setting, as the 
development proposals would bring this currently vacant site back into use and 
ensure its long term retention. The works would see no external alterations to the 
main building and as such would see its original features and detailing retained. 

 
25. The applicants propose the erection of a new front boundary wall, with railings 

above and stone pillars, together with the erection of new access gates. These 
would be erected to the sites southern side boundary, fronting Seamons Road. 
The proposed front boundary wall would have a height of 0.75m, with railing 
above. Stone pillars would also be erected with a height of 1.5m. The front 
boundary would then taper northwards to create new access, increasing got a 
height of 2.5m. The proposed form, style and scale of boundary treatment is 
considered acceptable. Details of the proposed materials will however be 
secured by way of condition, as would full details for the proposed access gates 
design.  
 

26. The current proposal would see no external alterations to the main building itself, 
and would see the erection of a new front boundary wall and access gates. The 
proposals are considered to be of acceptable size and scale and as such are 
found to be in compliance policies L7 and R4 from the TBC Core strategy and 
the relevant policies within the NPPF.   

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY   

 
27. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity 

protection development must not prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the 
development and/or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise or disturbance, odour or in 
any other way. 

 
Overlooking: 

 
28. The application proposals would not see the erection of any new window or door 

openings.  

 
29. The site is bound to by residential units to its south and west, while to the north 

and east of the site lies open land.  

 
30. The applicants propose the existing ground floor openings, sited within the 

dwellings south facing side elevation to be used to serve a main habitable room. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 149



 

 
 

The Councils guidelines detail that in such instances a 21m separation distance 
should be retained between two interfacing dwellings, in order to avoid 
overlooking. In this case the interfacing distance would be far short of this 
distance, at 7m. In this case, it is considered that this is an existing building, the 
nature of the previous use and that other dwellings within the area have similar 
interfacing distances, this relationship is considered acceptable and is not 
considered to result in any new undue loss of amenity for existing neighbouring 
land users.  

 
31. The sites rear boundary is formed from a 1.8m brick wall, with soft landscaping 

present to the rear of this and as such the ground floor rear facing openings are 
not considered to result in any new undue amenity concerns; above and beyond 
the existing situation on site. At first floor level only bathroom windows would be 
sited to the rear elevation of the building and these will be conditioned to be fitted 
with obscure glazing and as such are also considered acceptable.   

 
32. The first and second floors of the site were previously used as residential 

accommodation. The current proposals would therefore see a residential use 
reinstated and as no further openings are proposed, this element of the works is 
also considered not to result in any new amenity concerns.  

 
Overbearing and visual intrusion: 
 

33. The proposed change of use would not alter the height of the existing building on 
site or it’s foot-print/ scale and as such would not result in any new overbearing 
harm to neighbouring land users 

 
Impact on light: 
 

34. The proposed works, given their form are not considered to result in any undue 
loss of light impacts for neighbouring residential occupiers.  

 
Noise and nuisance: 

 
35. It should be noted that the proposed use of the site as a single residential, 

dwelling, within this existing residential area, is considered to better the level of 
amenity on offer to neighbouring residents. The proposed use would be much 
less intensive and as such is considered to be an improvement over the 
previous/lawful situation on site.  
 

Impact upon local highway network and pedestrian/highway safety: 
 

36. Policy L4 of the Trafford Core Strategy which relates to sustainable transport and 
accessibility, seeks to ensure that all new developments do not adversely affect 
highway safety.  

 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 150



 

 
 

Appropriateness of Access  
 

37. The site has two existing accesses off Seamon’s Road to its eastern side. The 
application proposals would see the southernmost access closed off and the 
northern most access altered. Full details of this altered access have however 
not been submitted, and as such will be conditioned for approval as part of any 
subsequent planning consent. This will include details for the visibility splays 
proposed, alongside the details of how these were calculated.       

 
Servicing Arrangements  
 

38. Servicing arrangements are to remain unchanged, with service bins being left on 
the kerbside on Seamon’s Road.  

 
Car Parking  
 

39. Sufficient space within the site would be retained for the parking of private 
vehicles. This would be able to accommodate in excess of 4no. vehicles which is 
considered to be sufficient for a large family dwelling within this location.   

 
Conclusion: 
 

40. Subject to the attachment of the above planning condition, the proposals are 
considered to be acceptable and are not considered to result in any new undue 
highway or public safety concerns and are considered to be in line with Policy L4 
of the TBC Core strategy and the relevant sections of the NPPF. It should be 
borne in mind that the site has an existing lawful use as a Public House together 
with the traffic associated with a use of this nature and therefore there will be a 
significant reduction in traffic flows to the site.   

 
CONCLUSION 
 

41. The proposed development would bring much needed investment to a vacant 
site within this area of the borough. The works are not considered to impact upon 
the character of the site itself or the wider Green Belt and the proposal comprises 
appropriate development within the Green Belt.  It is further considered that any 
development impacts associated with the scheme can be mitigated through the 
use of planning conditions, where necessary. In accordance with paragraph 11 of 
the Framework, it is considered that the proposed development represents a 
sustainable form of development which complies with all relevant and up-to-date 
policies set out in the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF.    

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions:-  
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 151



 

 
 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 

2. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and / or full specification of 
materials to be used externally on the boundary wall, pillars and gates (including: 
finish and materials) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the 
materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, 1886/18/01, 1886/18/02, 
1886/18/03, 1886/18/05, 1886/18/06 submitted to the Council on 18 May 2018 and 
1886/18/04A (insofar as it relates to the parking area) submitted to the Council on 12 
June 2018.  
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
windows in the first and second floors on the rear elevation facing west shall be fitted 
with, to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor level, non-opening lights 
and textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the Pilkington 
Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 Schedule 2 Part 1 and 2 (or any equivalent 
Order following the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) : 
 
*(i) no extensions to the building or outbuildings shall be erected  
*(ii) no garages or carports shall be erected within the curtilage of the dwelling  
*(iii) no vehicle standing space shall be provided within the curtilage of the 
dwelling(s)  
*(iv) no buildings, gates, wall fences or other structures shall be erected within the 
curtilage of the dwelling 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 152



 

 
 

*(v) no means of access or areas of hard surfacing shall be constructed in the 
curtilage of the dwelling 
*(vi) no windows or dormer windows shall be added to the dwelling(s) other than 
those expressly authorised by this permission, unless planning permission for such 
development has first been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: Having regard to the sites location within the Green Belt and to preserve 
openness having regard to advice within the NPPF. 
 

6. Notwithstanding the development as hereby approved, no above ground works shall 
take place until full details of the visibility splay and footway for the proposed 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall then be implemented in full prior the 
development coming into first use and retained as such thereafter.    
 
Reason: In order to safeguard public and highway safety, having regard to Policy L4 
and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

7 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of any works of 
conversion hereby approved a plan showing the residential curtilage of the dwelling 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its approval. The plan shall 
also include details, including elevations and location, of any proposed boundary 
treatment. The dwelling shall not be occupied other than in accordance with the 
approved details and the agreed residential curtilage and boundary treatments shall 
be retained at all times thereafter  

 
 Reason: To define the residential curtilage of the property having regard to its 

location within the Green Belt and advice within the NPPF. 
 
 
IG 

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 153



EEE

7

1

2

8

5

1615

D
ef

ESS

P
A

C
IF

IC
 R

O
A

D

Pacific Court

S
E

A
M

O
N

'S
 R

O
A

D

1 to 3

Pipe

East View

Ward Bdy

El Sub Sta

Wellsprings

Mooring Post

Rose Cottage

2
1

7

1
D

ef

Bridgewater Canal

Farm

Century Park Industrial

Bridg

Seamon's Moss

Seamon's M

(PH)

Track

25.9m

Pipe Gantry

Century Hous

Bay Malton Hotel

Bay Malton CottageBay Malton Cottage

CASPIAN RO

DRIVE

W
ard B

dy

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

94632/cou/18

Bay Malton Hotel, Seamons Road, Altrincham

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
13th September 18

Trafford Council

30/08/2018

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee - 13th September 2018 154



  

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Planning and Development Management Committee 
Date:    13 September 2018 
Report for:   Decision 
Report of:  Head of Planning and Development 
 
Report Title 
 

 
Revision of Application Validation Checklist 
 

 
Summary 
 

 
This report is to inform the Planning and Development Management Committee of 
the latest revision to the Application Validation Checklist and the key proposed 
changes and updates to the Checklist and to seek approval of the draft Application 
Validation Checklist for consultation purposes. 
 

 
Recommendation  
 

 
1) That Members of the Planning and Development Management Committee 

note the contents of this report and approve the draft Application 
Validation Checklist for consultation purposes. 

2) That the Head of Planning and Development be authorised to adopt the 
revised Validation Checklist in the event that following consultation, there 
are no significant alterations to the consultation draft.  

 
. 

 
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:  Stephen Day 
Extension: 4512 
 
1.0 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 Paragraph 39 of the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) category, 

“Making an application”, states that “A local planning authority may request 
supporting information with a planning application. Its requirements should be 
specified on a formally adopted “local list” which has been published on its website 
less than two years before the application is submitted. Local information 
requirements have no bearing on whether a planning application is valid unless 
they are set out on a local list. 

 
1.2 Paragraph 40 states that “The local list is prepared by the local planning authority 

to clarify what information is usually required for applications of a particular type, 
scale or location. In addition to being specified on an up to date local list published 

Agenda Item 5



  

on the local planning authority’s website, information requested with a particular 
planning application must be: 

 

 reasonable having regard, in particular, to the nature and scale of the 
proposed development; and 

 about a matter, which it is reasonable to think will be a material 
consideration in the determination of the application. 

 
1.3 Paragraph 43 states that “A local list should be reviewed at least every two years.” 

It is therefore necessary to review the existing Application Validation Checklist and 
revise and update this where necessary. This is the second review of the checklist 
since it was first adopted in 2013, the most recent being in 2016. Paragraph 43 
states that “Where a local planning authority considers that changes are 
necessary, the proposals should be issued to the local community, including 
applicants and agents, for consultation…Consultation responses should be taken 
into account by the local planning authority when preparing the final revised list. 
The revised local list should be publicised on the local planning authority’s 
website.”  
 

1.4 Once adopted, if the information that is required by the checklist is not included 
with an application and is considered by the Local Planning Authority to be 
reasonable and necessary in order to properly assess the application, the authority 
will be entitled to declare the application invalid. Conversely, applications which 
are validated are likely to contain sufficient information for a decision to be made 
and this should enable the Council to achieve a greater percentage of decisions 
within government timescales. However, it must be recognised that there may still 
be situations where a validated application will not contain all the information 
required for a decision to be made and the Council may seek additional 
information post-validation under the existing statutory provisions set out in the 
Town and Country Planning (Application) Regulations 1988. 
 

1.5 A draft updated Application Validation Checklist (September 2018) has now been 
produced and is available to view on the Council’s website and is appended to this 
report. The overarching structure of the document has not been altered and it is 
split into three parts. Part one comprises a list of national requirements for all 
planning applications. Part two outlines a list of local requirements and part three 
outlines a short checklist for the most common types of applications. It is proposed 
that the Council now consults on the revised Application Validation Checklist for a 
period of six weeks and that any comments received are then taken into account 
in preparing the final version of the document.  

 
2.0 Key Proposed Changes  

 
2.1 The key proposed changes (to the 2016 document) are summarised below. 

 
2.2 References to the NPPF have been updated throughout the document to refer to 

the revised NPPF (July 2018). 
 

2.3 National Requirements 
 

 The introductory paragraphs have been updated to take account of 
guidance in the revised National Planning Policy Framework and National 
Planning Practice Guidance. 

 



  

 Additional information has been included in relation to streetscene 
elevations. 

 

 Additional information has been included in relation to the content of Design 
and Access Statements accompanying applications for listed building 
consent.  

 
2.4 Local Requirements 

 

 Air Quality Assessments – The thresholds have been updated, having 
regard to the Institute of Air Quality Management guidance document: 
Planning for Air Quality (2017). 
 

 Crime Impact Statement – The thresholds and requirements have been 
updated, having regard to comments from the GM Police Design for 
Security Unit. 

 

 Environmental Impact Assessment – The requirements have been updated 
having regard to the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017. 

 

 Landscape/ Townscape Visual Impact Assessment – The requirement for a 
Landscape / Townscape Visual Impact Assessment has been included in 
respect of developments of over 100 residential units within the urban area, 
or 10 residential units outside the urban area, over 10,000 square metres of 
non-residential floorspace or buildings of over 6 storeys or 20 metres in 
height, unless the development is sited wholly within the Trafford Park Core 
Industrial Area. 

 

 Viability Assessment – The requirements have been updated to incorporate 
recent guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework and National 
Planning Practice Guidance including the requirement that viability 
assessments will be published on the Council’s website to aid transparency 
in the process. The requirements have also been updated to state that the 
costs of reviewing the viability assessment, including that of appointing a 
specialist consultant, will be met by the applicant. This charge has been set 
at a fixed rate of £4,800, except in circumstances where a greater fee is 
necessary and justified.  A new Appendix to the Validation Checklist is 
included which sets out detailed guidance for the Council’s expectations in 
the production of viability assessments. .  

 

 Summary Report – The previous requirement for a summary report has 
been omitted (other than in the case of EIA applications where this is a 
requirement of the EIA Regulations 2017) as this is no longer referred to in 
National Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
3.0    Conclusion 
 
3.1  The proposed amendments are intended to ensure that the above validation 

requirements are in accordance with up to date national and local planning 
guidance and the up to date advice of relevant consultees and are reasonable and 
necessary in order to allow the proper assessment of planning applications. 

 
  



  

4.0    Recommendation 
 
4.1 That the Planning and Development Management Committee note the contents of 

this report and approve the draft Application Validation Checklist for consultation 
purposes. 
 

4.2 That the Head of Planning and Development be authorised to adopt the revised 
Validation Checklist in the event that following consultation, there are no significant 
alterations to the consultation draft.  
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

1 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 
 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICE 

 
 
 
 

Application Validation Checklist 
 

 
 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

2 SEPTEMBER  2018 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Trafford Council has produced this Application Validation Checklist in accordance 
with Planning Practice Guidance and paragraph 44 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Paragraph 44 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities 
should publish a list of their information requirements for applications, which should 
be kept to the minimum needed to make decisions and should be reviewed at least 
every two years.  Paragraph 44 states that local planning authorities should only 
request supporting information that is relevant, necessary and material to the 
application in question. Planning Practice Guidance states that, in addition to being 
specified on an up-to-date local list published on the local planning authority’s 
website, information requested with a particular planning application must be: 

 reasonable having regard, in particular, to the nature and scale of the 
proposed development; and 

 about a matter which it is reasonable to think will be a material consideration 
in the determination of the application. 

 
Once adopted, if the information which is required by the checklist is not included 
with an application and is considered by the Local Planning Authority to be 
reasonable and necessary in order to properly assess the application, the authority 
will be entitled to declare the application invalid.  Conversely applications which are 
validated are likely to contain sufficient information for a decision to be made and this 
should enable the Council to achieve a greater percentage of decisions within 
government timescales. However, it must be recognised that there may still be 
situations arising where a validated application will not contain all the information 
required for a decision to be made and the Council may seek additional information 
post-validation under the existing statutory provisions set out within the Town and 
Country Planning (Application) Regulations 1998. 
 
In circumstances where applicants do not agree with the Council’s request for 
information or plans set out within this list, they may wish to challenge the decision 
not to validate an application. In such cases, applicants may have the right of appeal 
for non-validation under Section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The 
relevant grounds for the appeal would be non-determination within the 8 or 13 week 
determination period (depending upon whether the application is minor or major). 
Similarly the right to complain to the Local Government Ombudsman on the grounds 
of maladministration also remains. 
 
This document is split into three parts.  Part one comprises a list of national 
requirements for all planning applications; Part two outlines a list of local 
requirements and Part three outlines a short checklist for the most common type of 
applications.  Notes are provided to clarify and indicate threshold requirements which 
are likely to apply.  However, the Council would encourage applicants to seek pre-
application advice. This is particularly useful for larger and more complex schemes. 
 
If the Council declares an application invalid, it will normally set out its reasons in 
writing to the applicant or agent within 5-10 working days.  If all the information 
required has been received the application will be considered as valid from the date 
of its receipt.   
 
General Points: 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

3 SEPTEMBER  2018 

1. Plans and Elevations will be checked for consistency.  Any significant 
discrepancies will result in the application being invalid;  

2. Plans must be marked with a recognisable standard metric scale; 
3. Plans should be clearly drawn, numbered, dated and identify the address to 

which they relate; 
4. Plans that are marked “do not scale” or with similar disclaimers will not be 

accepted and will result in the application being invalid; 
5. If an apparently valid application is later found to be invalid following 

registration, the original start date for processing the application will be 
disregarded and the time from application to decision will start again. 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

4 SEPTEMBER  2018 

PART ONE – NATIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
Requirements for all applications for Full Planning Permission: 
 

 1 copy of the completed Standard Application Form (1APP).  The forms 
are available electronically and can be submitted via the planning portal.  If 
the applicant wishes to submit a paper application, these can be provided by 
the Council or can be printed off from the Council’s website 
(http://www.trafford.gov.uk/environmentandplanning/planning/planningapplicat
ions).  The applicant must provide 3 copies, one of which should be the 
original signed copy.  The electronic standard application form allows 
applicants to apply for multiple consents at the same time: for example, to 
apply for planning permission and listed building consent, or planning 
permission and conservation area consent. The form has been designed so 
that the questions that appear do not duplicate information requests for more 
than one consent regime. A fee (where applicable) applies for each consent 
sought. Use of the form for multiple applications which come under different 
consent regimes is intended to streamline the application process. However, 
it does not alter the fact that these applications are legally distinct and their 
validity and determination will be treated as such by the authority. 

 1 copy of a Site Location Plan, based on an up to date map at a scale of 
1:1250 or 1:2500.  Plans should wherever possible show at least two named 
roads and the surrounding buildings. The properties shown should be 
numbered or named to ensure that the exact location of the application site is 
clear.  The application site must be edged clearly with a red line. It should 
include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 
example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, visibility 
splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around buildings. A blue line 
must be drawn around any other land owned by the applicant, close to or 
adjoining the application site. 

 

 1 copy of a Site Plan, drawn at a scale of at 1:500 or 1:200 and should 
accurately show: 
a)  The direction of North; 
b)  The proposed development in relation to the site boundaries and other 

existing buildings on the site, with written dimensions including those to the 
boundaries; 

c)  All the buildings, roads and footpaths on land adjoining the site including 
access arrangements; 

d)  The species, position and spread of all trees within 12 metres of any 
proposed building works; 

e)  The extent and type of any hard surfacing; 
f)  Boundary treatment including walls or fencing where this is proposed 
 

 1 copy of Other Drawings (dependent on the type of application – refer to 
the relevant section in Part 3 for specific requirements) and may include: 

 
A Block Plan of the site at a scale of 1:100 or 1:200 showing the 
proposed development; any site boundaries; the type and height of 
any boundary treatment (e.g. walls and fences etc); the position of any 
building or structure on the other side of such boundaries and with any 
proposed extensions clearly identified to scale. 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

5 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Existing and Proposed Elevations to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100.  
These should show clearly the proposed works in relation to what is 
already there. All sides of the proposal must be shown in full (not part) 
and these should indicate, where possible, the proposed building 
materials and the style, materials and finish of windows and doors. 
Blank elevations must also be included; if only to show that this is in 
fact the case.   
 
Where a proposed elevation adjoins another building or is in close 
proximity, the drawings should clearly show the relationship between 
the buildings, and detail the positions of the openings on each 
property. 
 
Existing and Proposed Floor Plans drawn to a scale of 1:50 or 
1:100.  These should explain the proposal in detail. Where existing 
buildings or walls are to be demolished these should be clearly shown. 
The drawings submitted should show details of the existing building(s) 
as well as those for the proposed development. New buildings should 
also be shown in context with adjacent buildings (including property 
numbers where applicable). 
 
Existing and Proposed Site Sections and Finished Floor and Site 
Levels drawn to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100.  These should show a cross 
section(s) through the proposed building(s). In all cases where a 
proposal involves a change in ground levels, illustrative drawings 
should be submitted to show both existing and finished levels to 
include details of foundations and eaves and how encroachment onto 
adjoining land is to be avoided. Full information should also be 
submitted to demonstrate how proposed buildings relate to existing 
site levels and neighbouring development. Such plans should also 
show the proposals in relation to the adjoining buildings. This will be 
required for all applications involving new buildings. 
 
In the case of householder development, the levels may be evident 
from floor plans and elevations, but particularly in the case of sloping 
sites it will be necessary to show how proposals relate to existing 
ground levels or where ground levels outside the extension would be 
modified. Levels should also be taken into account in the formulation 
of design and access statements. 
 
Roof plans drawn to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100.  A roof plan is used to 
show the shape of the roof and is typically drawn at a scale smaller 
than the scale used for the floor plans. Details such as the roofing 
material and their location are typically specified on the roof plan. 
 
Streetscene elevations drawn to a scale of 1:100 or 1:200. A 
streetscene elevation should be submitted in all cases where the 
proposal is for an infill development between existing buildings or for 
an increase in the height of an existing property within a row of other 
buildings. 
 

All drawings should have a scale bar and should be clearly referenced with a 
drawing title, reference number and details of any revisions. 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

6 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 A completed Ownership and Agricultural Holdings Certificate.  Under 
section 65(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, read in conjunction 
with Articles 13 and 14 of the DMPO, the Local Planning Authority must not 
entertain an application for planning permission unless the relevant 
certificates concerning the ownership of the application site have been 
completed. All applications except those for approval of reserved matters, 
discharge or variation of conditions, tree preservation orders and express 
consent to display an advertisement must include the appropriate certificate 
of ownership. The certificate also requires confirmation of whether or not the 
site relates to an agricultural holding. If the site does relate to an agricultural 
holding, all agricultural tenants must be notified prior to the submission of the 
application. 
 
Certificate A is applicable when the applicant is the sole owner and when 
none of the land to which the application relates is, or is part of, an agricultural 
holding; Certificate B is applicable when the owner and /or agricultural tenant 
is known to the applicant; and Certificates C and D are applicable when none 
or only some of the owners and / or agricultural tenants of the site are known. 
For this purpose an ‘owner’ is anyone with a freehold interest, or leasehold 
interest, the unexpired term of which is not less than 7 years.  If Certificates B 
or C are relevant, the applicant must complete and serve notice of the 
proposals on the owners and /or agricultural tenants of the application site in 
accordance with Article 13 of the DMPO. 

 

 The correct fee (where one is necessary – see the Council’s fee schedule) 
 

 1 copy of a Design and Access Statement must accompany all applications 
for both outline and full planning permission in accordance with Article 9  of 
the DMPO, as amended, in respect of the following categories of application: 
 

 Development which is major development; 
 

 Where any part of the development is in a “designated area”, development 
consisting of  
 
(i) the provision of one or more dwellinghouses; or  
(ii) the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space created 

by the development is 100 square metres or more.  
 

In this context, “designated area” means a World Heritage Site or a 
Conservation Area. Design and Access Statements are also not required for 
planning applications for variation of conditions, extension of time limits, 
engineering or mining operations, the material change of use of land or 
buildings and waste development or for applications relating to advertisement 
control, tree preservation orders or storage of hazardous substances. Neither 
are they required for applications for prior approval for proposed 
development, or non-material amendments to existing planning permissions. 
Design and Access Statements are required for applications for listed building 
consent. 

 
The level of detail required in a design and access statement will depend on 
the scale and complexity of the application, and the length of the statement 
will vary accordingly. However, the following topics should be addressed. 

 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

7 SEPTEMBER  2018 

(a) explain the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the 
development; 

(b) demonstrate the steps taken to appraise the context of the development 
and how the design of the development takes that context into account; 

(c) explain the policy adopted as to access and how policies relating to 
access in relevant local development documents have been taken into 
account; 

(d) state what, if any, consultation has been undertaken on issues relating to 
access to the development and what account has been taken of the 
outcome of any such consultation; and 

(e) explain how any specific issues which might affect access to the 
development have been addressed. 

 

Design and Access Statements accompanying applications for listed building consent 
must include an explanation of the design principles and concepts that have been 
applied to the proposed works, and how they have taken account of: 

(a) the special architectural or historic importance of the building; 

(b) the particular physical features of the building that justify its designation as a 
listed building; and 

(c) the building’s setting. 

Unless the proposed works only affect the interior of the building, Design and Access 
Statements accompanying applications for listed building consent must also explain 
how issues relating to access to the building have been dealt with. They must explain 
the applicant’s approach to access, including what alternative means of access have 
been considered, and how relevant Local Plan policies have been taken into account. 
Statements must also explain how the applicant’s approach to access takes account 
of matters (a)-(c) above. 

Design and Access Statements accompanying applications for listed building consent 
must provide information on any consultation undertaken, and how the outcome of 
this consultation has informed the proposed works. Statements must also explain 
how any specific issues which might affect access to the building have been 
addressed. 
Requirements for Permitted Development Prior Approval applications under Parts 1 
and 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (as amended) 
 
Submission requirements are set out in the relevant part of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended). Sufficient 
information needs to be submitted to enable the authority to establish whether the 
proposed development complies with any conditions, limitations or restrictions 
specified in the relevant part of the Order as being applicable to the development in 
question and to allow the authority to determine whether prior approval is required, 
and if so, whether it should be granted, in respect of the matters set out in the 
relevant part of the Order. 

 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

8 SEPTEMBER  2018 

PART TWO – LOCAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
In addition to the national requirements, Trafford Council also requires the 
submission of additional supporting information to accompany certain types of 
planning applications. The following section sets out further clarification of what 
information is required from each of the supporting documents: If more than on 
statement is required, one or more of these can be combined into a Planning 
Statement where appropriate. 
 

1.   AIR QUALITY ASSESSMENT 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

9 SEPTEMBER  2018           

 
Threshold Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications for the 
following: - 
 
Developments affecting waste handling facilities (including sewerage 
treatment works or poultry farms); 
 
Any industrial activity which is regulated by the Local Authority or 
Environment Agency; 
 
Developments that introduce new exposure close to existing sources of air 
pollutants, including road traffic, industrial operations, agricultural 
operations etc. 
 
Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications for the 
following: 

 
In addition to the above, an Air Quality Assessment will be required if any of 
the criteria in A below apply together with any of the criteria in B and any of 
the criteria in C: 
 
A. 
• 10 or more residential units or a site area of more than 0.5ha 
• more than 1,000 m2 of floor space for all other uses or a site area greater 
than 1ha 
 
B.  
• the development has more than 10 parking spaces 
• the development will have a centralised energy facility or other centralised 
combustion process 
 
C. Where the proposed development will: 
 
1. Cause a significant change in Light Duty Vehicle (LDV) traffic flows on 
local roads with relevant receptors. (LDV = cars and small vans <3.5t gross 
vehicle weight) 
A change of LDV flows of: 
-- more than 100 AADT (annual average daily traffic) within or adjacent to an 
AQMA 
-- more than 500 AADT elsewhere 
 
2. Cause a significant change in Heavy Duty Vehicle (HDV) flows on local 
roads with relevant receptors. (HDV = goods vehicles + buses >3.5t gross 
vehicle weight) 
A change of HDV flows of 
-- more than 25 AADT within or adjacent to an AQMA 
-- more than 100 AADT elsewhere 
 
3. Realign roads, i.e. changing the proximity of receptors to traffic lanes. 
Where the change is 5m or more and the road is within an AQMA 
 
4. Introduce a new junction or remove an existing junction near to relevant 
receptors. 
Applies to junctions that cause traffic to significantly change vehicle 
accelerate/decelerate, e.g. traffic lights, or roundabouts. 
 
5. Introduce or change a bus station. Where bus flows will change by: 
-- more than 25 AADT within or adjacent to an AQMA 
-- more than 100 AADT elsewhere 
 
6. Have an underground car park with extraction system where the 
ventilation extract for the car park will be within 20 m of a relevant receptor 
coupled with the car park having more than 100 movements per day (total in 
and out) 
 
7. Have one or more substantial combustion processes where there is a risk 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

10 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 
Required by Policy L5 of Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

 

The Air Quality Assessment must demonstrate how a development would affect 
pollution concentrations in relation to health based statutory and proposed air quality 
standards and objectives. This would normally involve screening and where 
appropriate dispersion modelling to: 
 

 Assess the existing air quality in the study area (existing baseline); 

 Predict the future air quality without the development in place (future baseline 
which may or may not include the contribution of committed development); 

 Predict the future air quality with the development in place (with 
development); 
 

 The cumulative impact of developments should be considered.  It may be 
necessary to model another future scenario, with committed development 
excluded, to allow the cumulative impact of all such future developments with 
planning permission to be assessed as one combined impact at sensitive 
receptors. In most circumstances, it is more likely that committed 
development would be included in the future baseline where the information 
exists to facilitate this. 

 
Further details can be found in the NPPF, NPPG, the Institute of Air Quality 
Management guidance document: Planning for Air Quality (2017) and the Greater 
Manchester Air Quality Action Plan. For further guidance or advice please contact the 
Council’s Public Protection Department on 0161 9121377 or 
environmental.protection@trafford.gov.uk 
 

2. CARBON BUDGET STATEMENT 
 

Required by Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

 
This report must outline the measures to be implemented by the developer to ensure 
the development proposed reduces gross CO2 emissions.  Further guidance is 
provided within the Core Strategy and SPD1: Planning Obligations.  
 

3. CRIME IMPACT STATEMENT  
 

 
of impacts at relevant receptors.  

 

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline planning applications for: 
 

 All residential developments equal to or greater than 100 units 

 All non residential developments proposing 10,000 sq.m 
floorspace or above 

mailto:environmental.protection@trafford.gov.uk


Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

11 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Required by Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 
   

Having considered the principles of Crime Prevention through Environmental Design 
(CPTED), and having referenced Police approved security products and standards, 
the Crime Impact Statement should demonstrate that a development has been 
designed to minimise the risk of crime and disorder affecting both the development 
and its immediate surroundings. Developers are strongly advised to discuss the 
proposals with Greater Manchester Police Design for Security.  
 
The Crime Impact Statement should: 
 

 Be prepared by a suitably qualified and experienced professional that is 
able to offer impartial and objective crime prevention advice. 

 Highlight all relevant crime and disorder issues currently experienced in 
the neighbourhood in which the development site is located, and any 
crime and disorder issues that the proposed development may generate 
or attract. 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline and Reserved Matters 
applications for the following: 
 

 Residential developments (Classes C1, C2, and C3  and HMOs where 10 
or more units are created (to include new development and changes of 
use), or the development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 
0.5 hectares or more and it is not known whether 10 houses or more will 
be developed. 
 

 Development falling within Classes A1, A2, A5, B1, B2, B8, D1, D2 and sui 
generis uses, where 1000m2 gross or more of floorspace is proposed (to 
include new development, extensions of 1000m2 or more and changes of 
use). 
 

 Licensed food and beverage developments (Classes A3, or A4) where 
200m2 gross or more of floorspace is proposed (to include new 
development, extensions of 200m2 or more, and changes of use). 
 

 Casinos and amusement arcades (to include new development, 
extensions of 500m2 or more, and changes of use). 
 

 Development carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more 
where the nature and amount of floorspace to be developed is not known. 
 

 Car parks where 50 or more parking spaces are created. 
 

 Development involving the creation of significant, utility infrastructure e.g. 
water, gas, electricity. 
 

 Major transport infrastructure e.g. airport development, train/tram/bus 
stations. 

 

 New developments, changes of use and extensions (of any size) where 
the development may have the potential to generate or attract crime and 
disorder.  
 

  

  



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

12 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 Consider the crime and disorder issues, and include a review of how 
these issues might affect future both users of the development and the 
local community, and identify design solutions that will reduce the 
development’s and the local community’s vulnerability to crime and 
disorder, and promote a safe and secure development. 

 
Where appropriate this statement can form part of a Design and Access Statement.  

 
4.   ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY SURVEY (INCLUDING BAT 
SURVEY) 
 

Required by Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF   

 
The detail in the statement must be relative to the size of development and its 
proximity to natural assets. It must clearly demonstrate the impacts of the proposed 
development on any wildlife or biodiversity interests, and explain how existing natural 
assets will be protected in the construction phase. It must identify how it will enhance 
biodiversity and identify any required mitigation/compensation measures and any 
proposals for long-term maintenance and management. Where appropriate 
accompanying plans should indicate any significant wildlife habitats or features and 
the location of habitats of any species protected under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981, the Conservation (Natural Habitats etc) Regulations 1994 or the Protection 
of Badgers Act 1992. 
 

5.   EMPLOYMENT LAND ASSESSMENT  
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline or Householder applications for 
the following: 
 

 Development (including householder) within or adjacent to a 
designated site (European Site, Site of Special Scientific Interest, Site 
of Biological Importance)  

 Non-householder developments within or adjacent to Sites of 
Geological and Geomorphological Importance, Local Nature 
Conservation Sites, Local Nature Reserves, and Wildlife Corridors 

 All applications (including householder) involving: 
– Works within the roofspace of an existing building 
– The demolition of a building 
– The conversion of a building (e.g. barn or mill conversion) 
– Alterations or works to cellars, bridges, culverts, large stone 
 walls, caves or mines 

 Developments relating to derelict land 
 Non-householder development adjacent to a river, stream, canal, 

brook, pond, reservoir, or other water body 
 Development affecting woodland (particularly Ancient woodland), 

hedgerows and hedgerow trees and trees including street trees and 
ancient trees 

 Development within all areas of strategic importance as identified in 
The Greater Manchester Ecological Framework 

 Development within all Historic Parks and Gardens and historic 
landscapes including Dunham Massey 

 Development within Habitats identified in the Greater Manchester 
Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

13 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Required by Policy W1 of the Trafford Core Strategy  

  
The Employment Land Assessment must be able to demonstrate that: 
 
a. There is no need for the site to be retained for employment purposes and it is 

therefore redundant 
b. There are no suitable alternative sites, within the locality, to meet the identified 

need for the proposed development 
c. The proposed redevelopment would not compromise the primary function of the 

locality or the operations of neighbouring users and 
d. The proposed redevelopment is in accordance with other policies in the 

Development Plan 
  
The assessment should include: 
 

 The length of time over which the site and buildings have been marketed, 
ideally this should be for a minimum of 12 months 

 Where and how the site and buildings have been marketed for sale or rent 

 Details of all expressions of interest or offers received, including rental 
interest, and an explanation as to why any offers received were not accepted; 
and 

 Confirmation that land/premises have been registered on the Evolutive 
land/property database for a minimum continuous period of 12 months. 
Registration is via Trafford Council’s Economic Development Section or 
Manchester’s Inward Investment agency, MIDAS 

 
In circumstances where employment premises are currently occupied, the statement 
should also indicate clearly why the occupier is looking to vacate the premises and 
demonstrate that reasonable lease negotiations have taken place. 
 
An ‘employment use’ may be defined as uses falling within Use Classes B1, B2 and 
B8, as well as Sui Generis uses of a similar nature which may normally be found 
within employment areas.  
 

6.  ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 
 

Required by the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations (2017).    

 
Where an EIA is required, an Environmental Statement in the form set out in 
Schedule 4 to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline Planning applications for: 
 
Development/Change of use which would result in the loss of a site/building 
currently in employment use (or where vacant, last used for non-retail 
employment uses). 
 

 Unallocated employment sites; 
 Outside of strategic locations and; 
 Employment places identified in Policy W1.3 of the Trafford Core 

Strategy 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline and Reserved Matters 
applications for the following: 
 

 Development listed in Schedule 1 of EIA Regulations 
 Development listed in Schedule 2 of EIA Regulations where it is 

considered likely to give rise to significant environmental effects 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

14 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Regulations 2017  must be provided. Further guidance is provided in National 
Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
Screening Opinion - If you suspect a proposal may need an EIA you can submit a 
request to the Local Planning Authority for a ‘Screening Opinion’. You will need to 
include information as set out in Article 6 of the EIA Regulations 2017 with your 
request: 

  
 

On receipt of a request for a screening opinion, Trafford Council will consult the 
relevant internal departments and external organisations and respond to the request 
in writing within a period of 3 weeks unless a longer time period has been agreed in 
writing with the person making the request. 
  
 
In addition to the above, Trafford Council will undertake a screening opinion on all 
relevant applications when submitted. It may be at this time that an EIA is requested. 
Where an applicant disagrees with the Council’s decision they may appeal to the 
Secretary of State for a screening opinion. 
 
Scoping Opinion - If you are clear that an EIA is required (by virtue of either Schedule 
1 or Schedule 2) or this has been confirmed by way of a formal screening opinion 
then a request for a ‘Scoping Opinion’ can be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority to determine the range of information which should be included in the 
Environmental Statement.  A scoping opinion should include information as set out in 
Article 15 of the EIA Regulations 2017.  The Local Planning Authority will consult the 
relevant organisations and respond to requests within .5 weeks unless a longer time 
period has been agreed in writing with the person making the request. 
 
All Environmental Statements (ES) should be prepared by a competent expert and 
be supported by a non-technical summary. Technical appendices should also be 
included where relevant.  
 

7.   FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 
 
FLOOD RISK INFORMATION 

 
Required by Policy L5 of Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework   

 

Threshold – . All Development 
 
Formal Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is a specific requirement for Full and 
Outline Planning applications for the following: 
 
Development Proposals in High Probability (Flood Zone 3) 
Development Proposals in Medium Probability (Flood Zone 2) 
Development Proposals on sites of 1ha. or above within Low Probability 
(Flood Zone 1)  
 
Development Proposals on sites of 0.5ha. or above within Critical Drainage 
Areas as identified in the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
 
Development Proposals within Canal Hazard Zones or where flood risk from 
canals is otherwise considered to be an issue as identified in the Council’s 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

15 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Details of Flood Zones can be found on the Environment Agency’s website.  
www.environment-agency.gov.uk. The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA) is available via www.trafford.gov.uk. The National Planning Policy 
Framework can be accessed at www.gov.uk.    
 
All developers should provide information to demonstrate that:- 
 

(i) account has been taken of flood risk from all sources (including rivers, canals, 
sewers, surface water run-off and groundwater), as identified in the Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment; 

(ii) the proposed development incorporates flood mitigation and management 
measures appropriate to the use and location; 

(iii) water efficiency will be improved and surface water run-off reduced through 
the use of appropriate measures such as rain water harvesting, water 
recycling and other Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) appropriate to the 
location, as mapped in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.  

 
The Council has produced a checklist to assist applicants further in submitting the 
required flood risk information alongside planning applications.  
 
Where formal Flood Risk Assessments (FRAs) are required it is acknowledged that 
they will vary in their detail and technical complexity to reflect the scale, nature and 
location of the proposed development. Whilst FRAs will need to cover the same 
general matters applicable to all development proposals, they will normally be 
expected to contain a much greater degree of information – including supporting 
survey and modelling data, incorporating allowances for climate change - and to 
have been undertaken under the supervision of an experienced flood risk 
management specialist. The Environment Agency has prepared Standing Advice, 
available via its website, to assist developers with the specific information that should 
be included in formal FRAs submitted to local planning authorities.  
 
The attention of all applicants is drawn to the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (paragraphs 157 – 162 ) relating to the need for a flood risk 
Sequential Test and Exception Test to be undertaken, where necessary, for 
development proposals.   
 
DRAINAGE STRATEGY / STATEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Required by Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
Full and Outline Planning applications for major development should be 
accompanied by a site-specific drainage strategy or statement that demonstrates that 
the drainage scheme proposed is in compliance with both the NPPF / NPPG and the 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards. 

Threshold – Requirement for full and outline applications for the following:- 
 

 Residential development consisting of 10 dwellings or more or with a 
site area of 0.5 hectares or more where the number of dwellings is not 
yet known. 

 Non-residential development with provision of a building or buildings 
where the total floorspace to be created is 1000 sqm or more or, 

where the floor area is not yet known, a site area of 1 hectare or more. 

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/


Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

16 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 
A Drainage Statement should make reference to the surface water / SUDS 
hierarchy: - 
 
Discharge to a surface water body 
Infiltration 
Discharge to a surface water sewer 
Discharge to a combined sewer. 
 
A Drainage Statement should incorporate the following:  
 

 Topography of the development site, showing existing surface water flow 
routes, drains, sewers and watercourses  

 Geological and soil types.  

 Initial scoping of flood risk issues to inform where applicable the flood risk 
assessment which may include any of the following:  
Flood risk from main river  
Surface water  
Groundwater flood risk  
 

A Site Specific Drainage Strategy should include:  
 

 Preliminary sustainable drainage proposals  

 Outfall locations  

 Discharge rates  

 On-site storage requirements  

 
In respect of full or reserved matters applications, the following information 
is also required: - 
 
Site and Drainage Layout 
 
Proposed site plan showing exceedance flow routes and  identification of 
catchment areas. 
 
Drainage Layout Plan including: - 
 

 Sustainable drainage system 

 Sewers 

 Drains 

 Watercourses 
 
Site Investigation Report including the results for each sustainable 
drainage system feature of: - 
 

 Boreholes or trial pits 

 Infiltration (Permeability) Testing 

 Factual Ground Investigation Report (GIR) 

 Geotechnical Design Report (GDR) 
 
Sustainable drainage system flow calculations (PDF files showing the input 
and output data for flow calculations) and storm simulation plan for:: - 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

17 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 1 in 1 year; 

 1 in 2 year; 

 1 in 30 year, and: 

 1 in 100 year + 30% climate change 
 
 
 

 

 
 

8.  GREEN BELT IMPACT STATEMENT 

 
Required by Policy R4 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

 

Only limited types of development are considered to be ‘appropriate’ in the Green 
Belt (See paragraphs 145 – 147 of the NPPF) for definitions of ‘appropriate’ 
development).  
 
If your proposal is not one of the purposes listed as ‘appropriate’ development in the 
NPPF, it will be considered ‘inappropriate’. If this is the case and the application site 
falls within the designated Green Belt then you must include in your application a 
statement of the ‘very special circumstances’ that you consider justify the 
development. The LPA will not treat an application for ‘inappropriate development’ in 
the Green Belt as valid unless accompanied by a Green Belt Impact Statement which 
outlines the ‘very special circumstances’. Further advice is provided within the NPPF. 
 

9. GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A Supporting Statement is required detailing any on site green infrastructure 
proposed. This will be used to assess any further contribution to green infrastructure 
required by a development in accordance with Policies R3, R5 and L8 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy. 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline and Householder applications for 
the following: 
 

 Development involving the demolition or the extension of dwellings 
located within the green belt 

 Development involving the demolition and replacement of dwellings 
located within the green belt 

 All inappropriate development located within the Green Belt 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications for all 
developments where required by the Revised Supplementary Planning 

Document 1, Planning Obligations.  



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

18 SEPTEMBER  2018 

10.  HABITAT REGULATION ASSESSMENT (HRA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
European designated sites within 5km of Trafford include the Manchester Mosses 

SAC and Rixton Claypits SAC. Details of these sites and advice concerning the types 

of development that may affect them can be found at http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/  

 
11.   HERITAGE ASSESSMENT 

 

Required by Policy R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

 
The Heritage Assessment must include a description of the significance of the 
heritage asset affected and the contribution of setting to that significance. As a matter 
of course, paragraphs 189 – 202 “Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment” of the National Planning Policy Framework should be consulted and 
referenced in the submitted document. The Historic Environment Good Practice 
Advice published by Historic England should also be consulted when undertaking a 
Heritage Assessment to accompany an application. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the importance of the heritage asset and applications should not be 
validated unless the extent of impact on significance is clear from the information 
available. As a minimum, the relevant historic environment record held by the 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service should have been consulted 
and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. 
Where a site on which a development is proposed includes or has the potential to 
include heritage assets with archaeological interest, applicants will be required to 
submit a desk based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. The 
applicant may also find it helpful to consult Historic England’s “Charter for Advisory 
Services” available at 
https://historicengland.org.uk/servicesandskills/ourplanningservices/CharterforAdviso
ryServices and the Historic England document “Conservation Principles, Policies and 
Guidance”, published 2008.  
 
The assessment may include:  

 Schedule of works, method statement and materials to be used for the 
proposals; 

 Any relevant professional assessments (accredited) of the property that  will 
assist the proposal i.e. Structural Report; 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline, Householder and Listed Building 
Consent applications for the following: 
 

 Development which involves alterations to a Listed Building 
 Development affecting the setting of a Listed Building 
 Development within or affecting the setting of a Conservation Area 
 Development that involves the alteration of  a non-designated 

heritage asset 
 Development within historic parks or gardens 
 Development on sites that are of archaeological interest 
 Development of any other site which includes any 

buildings/structures considered to be a Heritage Asset. 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications where it 
is considered that the project is likely to have a harmful impact on the 
special nature conservation interest of European designated sites (Special 
Protection Areas, Special Areas of Conservation and Ramsar sites). 
 
 

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/
https://historicengland.org.uk/servicesandskills/ourplanningservices/CharterforAdvisoryServices
https://historicengland.org.uk/servicesandskills/ourplanningservices/CharterforAdvisoryServices


Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

19 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 Any information provided by contractors/companies supplying materials; 

 Labeled photographic record if relevant/historic plans; 

 A copy of the listing description.  Listing descriptions can be obtained from the 
National Heritage List for England available to search on the following 
website: http://list.english-heritage.org.uk/ 

The assessment should explain how the principles and concepts referred to have 
been applied to the aspects of scale, massing, height, siting, layout, appearance, 
character and materials and have taken account of the special historic, 
archaeological, architectural or artistic interest of the building, structure and/or site; 
the particular physical features of the building or structure that justify its designation 
as a listed building; the setting of the building, structure or site affected by the 
proposal and indicate clearly how the proposal will positively contribute to local 
character and distinctiveness.  
 
Development which involves alterations to a Listed Building or a Non-designated 
Heritage Asset 
Appraisals to support applications for Listed Building Consent or planning permission 
are required to describe the purpose and need for the proposed alterations, justifying 
why this option has been adopted as opposed to possible alternatives. They should 
include a statement of significance which demonstrates an understanding of the 
special historic, archaeological, architectural or artistic interest of the building and 
site. It should include the details of the design principles and concepts that have 
been applied to the works including consideration of the impact, scale, massing, 
height, siting, layout, appearance, character and materials any potential new use.  
 
It should demonstrate how the proposals are designed to minimise the impacts on 
the layout and architectural detailing and complement the external and/or internal 
features of the historic original building. Any proposals affecting the special 
architectural or historic interest of the interior of a listed building will require an 
application for listed building consent. Where consent is sought for a number of 
proposals a detailed schedule of works, method statement and list of materials in 
addition to the relevant measured drawings, should be submitted with the application.   
Where the demolition or rebuilding of a listed building is proposed, the application 
should be accompanied by relevant professional assessments (accredited) i.e. a 
detailed survey of the building or structure affected, a full structural assessment, any 
relevant timber and damp surveys with accompanying recommendations and a 
specification of works. In addition to the assessment of significance, a statement of 
justification will be required. The statement of justification should explain why the 
proposed works are desirable or necessary and ultimately will achieve the optimum 
viable use of the listed building. The justification will assist in understanding the 
reasons for the application. The justification should take into account the relevant 
paragraphs 189 – 202  in “Conserving and enhancing the historic environment” of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the Historic Environment Good Practice 
Advice published by Historic England.   
 
Proposed works to specific elements of a building or structure such as windows, 
doors, eaves details, shop fronts, or for example, internal decorative plasterwork, 
joinery, fireplaces, floor coverings, boundary treatments or building construction 
methods especially where they are unusual in some way, will require detailed 
measured drawings. Depending on the feature being illustrated, the scale should be 
at 1:5, 1:10 or 1:20. 
 
The scope and degree of detail necessary in the written justification will vary 
according to the particular circumstances of each application.  
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

20 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Development within the curtilage of or affecting the setting of Listed Buildings, 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Historic Parks and Gardens 
Assessments for developments which are proposed within the curtilage of or affect 
the setting of a Listed Building, scheduled Ancient monument, Historic Parks and 
Gardens (within or affecting the setting of) must include a statement of any impacts. 
The assessment must include design principles and concepts that have been applied 
including consideration of the impact, scale, massing, siting, layout, appearance, 
character, materials and any potential new use. They should include a statement of 
significance, which demonstrates an understanding of the historical, archaeological, 
architectural and artistic interest of the affected buildings or site and demonstrate 
how the proposals preserve and enhance the character. In addition to the measured 
drawings required, streetscene plans may also be required, where new development 
is proposed, to clearly illustrate the local context, the potential impact of the 
development on the skyline, roofscape views and vistas as well as proposed 
boundary treatments. 
 
Applications for development within or affecting the setting of a Conservation Area 
Assessments for development affecting (within or adjacent to) Conservation Areas 
should address how the proposal has been designed to have regard to the character 
and/or appearance of the conservation area and to explain how the proposal 
enhances or preserves its character or appearance with reference to the relevant 
Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) and Conservation Area Management Plan 
(CAMP). The applicant should clearly demonstrate how new development will make 
a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. The assessment must 
include design principles and concepts that have been applied including 
consideration of the impact, scale, massing, height, siting, layout, appearance, 
character, materials and any potential new use. In addition to the measured drawings 
required, streetscene plans may also be required where new development is 
proposed to clearly illustrate the local context, the potential impact of the 
development on the skyline, roofscape views and vistas as well as proposed 
boundary treatments. 
 
Where the demolition of a building, structure or boundary treatment sited within a 
Conservation Area is proposed, a planning application will be required. There are 
certain exceptions to this requirement. In addition to the assessment of significance, 
a statement of justification will be required. In a conservation area, the onus is on 
safeguarding the future of buildings which make a positive contribution to the 
character or appearance of the designated heritage asset. The statement of 
justification should explain why the proposed works are desirable or necessary. The 
justification will assist in understanding the reasons for the application. The 
justification should take account of the relevant paragraphs 189 – 202 in “Conserving 
and enhancing the historic environment” of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and the Historic Environment Good Practice Advice published by Historic England. 
 
A structural survey will be required in support of the demolition of any buildings in 
Conservation Areas and, where relevant, a financial appraisal, which should include 
an analysis of the current value, an analysis of the detailed costs of repair, alteration 
and extension and the likely end value of the building. A financial comparison should 
be provided between this option and the option for redevelopment including 
demolition. Where an applicant is seeking to justify the demolition of a building on the 
basis that a replacement building will contribute more positively to the area than the 
building being removed, the statement must include a justification of how the design 
of the new building is more successful than the building being replaced.    
 
Applications for development on sites which contain Archaeological remains 
A heritage assessment may also be required where a development site is thought 
likely to contain archaeological remains.  This statement will detail what site 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

21 SEPTEMBER  2018 

assessment (including an appraisal of standing buildings) and evaluation has been 
carried out and detail what mitigation measures are proposed, should the scheme be 
permitted.   
 

12. HOUSING DEVELOPMENT STATEMENTS 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING STATEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Required by Policy L2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 

This statement should include the following elements: - 
 

 The number of affordable residential units; 

 The mix of affordable units in terms of type, (intermediate / social rented) and 
size (number of bedrooms and gross floorspace); 

 Plans showing the location of affordable housing units; 

 How the affordable housing units are to be managed and, where this involves 
an RSL, their details. 

 
Where the developer proposes a lower proportion of affordable housing or a different 
mix to that outlined within Policy L2 of the Trafford Core Strategy, then detailed 
justification should be provided to support the proposal within this statement. 
 
For outline applications where it is not possible to specify the affordable housing 
provision in detail, a statement of intent should be submitted outlining how affordable 
housing is intended to be provided and whether the site will comply with the 
provisions set out.   
 
Further details can be found within the Council’s SPD1: Planning Obligations. 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT ON GREENFIELD LAND (INCLUDING DOMESTIC GARDENS) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Statement should demonstrate how the provisions of Paragraph L1.7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy have been met. 
 
 
 
 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications for 
housing developments proposing 11 or more residential units or which have 
a combined gross floorspace of more than 1000 sqm in “hot” market 
locations (Altrincham and open countryside) and “moderate” market 
locations (Sale, Urmston and Stretford) and 15 or more residential units in 
“cold” market locations (Partington, Carrington and Old Trafford). 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline Planning Applications for 
housing developments on greenfield land within the urban area. 
 
Residential development consisting of 10 dwellings or more or with a site 
area of 0.5 hectares or more where the number of dwellings is not yet 
known. 
 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline Planning Applications for 

housing developments on greenfield sites outside of the urban area 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

22 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 
The statement should demonstrate the following elements: - 
 

a. How the development will create sustainable communities; 
b. How the development will contribute to the Plan’s overall objectives 

including the economic growth of the City Region and the provision of 
affordable housing; 

c. How the development of the land will not compromise the Council’s 
achievement of its brownfield land target over the Plan period. 

 
The statement should also demonstrate that the development would satisfy the tests 
set out at L1.7 – L1.9 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
 
MEETING HOUSING NEEDS 
 

  

  

  

  

  
f dwellings is not yet known. 

 
 
The statement should outline how the proposed development will: 
 

 Make a contribution to the creation of mixed and sustainable local 
communities; 

 Be adaptable to the needs of its residents over time; 

 Contribute to meeting the target split between small and large 
accommodation; 

 Increase the provision of family homes 
 
13. LANDSCAPE / TOWNSCAPE VISUAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Landscape / Townscape Visual Impact Assessment should identify the effects of 
the development on landscape and townscape as a resource in its own right and on 
specific views and general visual amenity experienced by people, including the 
cumulative effects of the proposed development in conjunction with other 
developments.  
Further guidance can be found in the Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessment 3rd Edition – May 2013 

  

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline planning applications for the 
following: 
 
Residential development consisting of 10 dwellings or more or with a site 
area of 0.5 hectares or more where the number of dwellings is not yet known. 
 
 
 

Threshold - Requirement for full and outline applications for the following: 
 

 All residential developments equal to or greater than 100 units 
within the urban areas 

 All residential developments of more than 10 units outside the 
urban areas; 

 All non residential developments proposing 10,000 sq.m 
floorspace or above;  

 Buildings of over 6 storeys or 20m in height; 
 
except where the development would be sited wholly within the Trafford 
Park Core Industrial Area.  
 
 
 

 . 

  
 
 
 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

23 SEPTEMBER  2018 

13.   NOISE ASSESSMENT 

Required by Policy L5 of Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

For further technical advice regarding the scope and content of a noise assessment, 
please contact the Council’s Public Protection Department on 0161 912 4916 or 
environmental.health@trafford.gov.uk 
 

14.   OPEN SPACE ASSESSMENT 
 

Required by Policy R5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 
 

Open space, sports and recreational buildings and land should not be built on unless 
an assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the land/buildings to be 
surplus to requirements.  For open space, 'surplus to requirements' should include 
consideration of all the functions that open space can perform.  In the unlikely 
circumstance that a specific sport or recreation facility or provision has not been 
assessed in the Council's Green & Open Space: Assessment of Need (June 2009), 
the applicant must provide an independent assessment which should be 
accompanied by plans showing any areas of existing or proposed open space within 
or adjoining the application site.  Applicants will need to agree the scope of any such 
assessment with the council, and consult the local community to demonstrate that 
their proposals are widely supported by them.   Reference should be made to the 
Council’s Green and Open Spaces - An Assessment of Need dated June 2009.  
Further guidance is available within the NPPF.   
 

15.  PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 
LEVY (CIL)  
 
PLANNING OBLIGATION DRAFT HEADS OF TERMS  
 

 Required by Core Strategy Policy L8 and the NPPF 

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline planning applications for the 
following: 
 

 Development that generates high levels of noise, such as industrial 
developments using noisy machinery (e.g. joinery workshops, 
refrigeration and extraction plant and equipment), noisy sports, bars 
and nightclubs etc. 

 Development of noise sensitive uses (e.g. housing) adjacent to major 

sources of noise such as roads, railways and industrial premises 

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline Planning applications for the 
following: 
 

 Development affecting land allocated as Protected Open Space or 
any other recreational (formal and informal) open space and 
buildings    

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline planning applications for the 
following: 
 

 Implementation of any off-site mitigation measures as identified within 
a Transport Assessment 

 Delivery mechanism for affordable housing as identified within an 
Affordable Housing Assessment 

 Any other developments where it is deemed necessary for a legal 
agreement to be used to secure infrastructure or services 

mailto:environmental.health@trafford.gov.uk


Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

24 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Planning obligations (or section 106 agreements) are private agreements negotiated 
between local planning authorities and persons with an interest in a piece of land (or 
developers), and are intended to make acceptable development which would 
otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. 
 
Where a legal agreement is needed to secure infrastructure or affordable housing in 
line with revised SPD1 Planning Obligations 2014, a planning obligation draft heads 
of terms should be submitted with the planning application. The applicant must 
provide their solicitor’s full contact details, proof of title and identification of other 
ownership interests with their submission. 
 
A payment will be required to cover the administrative costs of the Council’s Legal 
Team. 
 
Copies of SPD1 are available to download from the Council’s website 
www.trafford.gov.uk. 
 
VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS 
 

 
In accordance with guidance in NPPF and NPPG and to improve accountability, the 
Local Planning Authority will make the viability assessment publically available by 
publishing it in full on its website alongside other documents that form part of the 
planning submission. Planning applications will not be validated without a viability 
assessment, where one is required. 
 
Viability information should be presented in accordance with the guidance in 
Appendix 1. Where additional clarity is required, during the application process, 
applicants should expect to provide evidenced justification for specific inputs and 
outputs underpinning the viability assessment.  
 
Where an exemption from publication is sought for specific inputs, this information 
should be aggregated in the main viability assessment for publication and a 
breakdown provided under separate cover with a supporting document providing full 
justification for the exemption. Whether an exemption is granted will be at the 
discretion of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
A payment of £4,800 (exclusive of VAT) will be required to cover the Council’s costs 
in assessing the viability information, including appointing a suitably qualified 
professional to analyse and interrogate the contents of the viability assessment and 
any supporting documentation. Details of the entity to be invoiced and an email 
address to direct the invoice to should therefore accompany the submission of the 
planning application. Applicants will be invoiced on validation of the planning 
application. If an unusual level of input is required into the assessment of viability, a 
further payment may need to be made. Where this is the case, the need for and 
amount of the payment would be discussed with the applicant in advance of an 
invoice being raised.  
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) – QUESTION FORM 
 
 
 
 

All planning applications that comprise any of the following: 

 Development in excess of 100 square metres (GIA) 

 Householder application for works or extension to a house 

 The creation of a new dwelling 

 The conversion of a building 
 

All planning applications where a developer considers that, on viability 
grounds, a reduced level of planning obligations should be provided in 
respect of a development. 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

25 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 
 
 

 
CIL Charging Schedule approved by full council 26 March 2014 

 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows Local Authorities in England and 
Wales to set a financial levy on developments to provide essential infrastructure to 
support planned growth. Trafford’s CIL Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 
Schedule was approved by Council on 26 March 2014 and became effective on 07 
July 2014. 
 
All submissions that are for the above types of application must be accompanied by a 
completed CIL Question Form in order for the CIL Charging Authority to determine if 
an application is chargeable or not.   
 

16.   STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 

Required by the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2015)  

 
This statement should outline the process undertaken, any views which have been 
sought and how these have influenced the development proposals.  Small scale 
developments such as house extensions will not require community involvement but 
applicants are encouraged to discuss their proposals with neighbours and people 
who are affected.  Further guidance on the type and nature of consultation required is 
outlined within the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
 

17.   TELECOMMUNICATIONS SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 

Required by Code of Practice on Mobile Network Development (2002). 
 

Planning applications for mast and antenna development by mobile phone network 
operators in England should be accompanied by a range of supplementary 
information including the area of search, details of any consultation undertaken, 
details of the proposed structure, and technical justification and information about the 
proposed development.  Planning applications should also be accompanied by a 
signed declaration that the equipment and installation has been designed to be in full 
compliance with the requirements of the radio frequency (RF) public exposure 
guidelines of the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection 
(ICNIRP). Further guidance on the information that may be required is set out in the 
Code of Best Practice on Mobile Network Development in England (2016). 
 

18.  TOWN CENTRE STATEMENT (Sequential Assessment, Impact 
Assessment) 

 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline planning applications for the 
following: 

 Development proposals for 10 residential units and above 
 Development proposals for 1,000 sq.m and above of non residential 

floorspace 

Threshold – Requirement for all applications for mast and antenna 
development 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

26 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Required by Policy W2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF.  

 
Full details of what should be included are set out in paragraphs 86 – 90  of the 
NPPF. 
 

19.   TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT (TA)/TRANSPORT STATEMENT (TS) 
/TRAVEL PLAN (TP) 
 

Threshold – Requirement for Full and Outline Planning Applications for the 
following: 

Land use Size No 
assessment 

TA/TS TP 

Food retail 
(A1) 

GFA <250sq. m  >250sq.m = TS 
 >800sq.m = TA 

>800sq. m 
 

Non-food 
retail (A1) 

GFA <800sq.m >800sq.m = TS 
>1500sq.m =TA 

>1500sq.m 

Financial and 
Professional 
Services (A2) 

GFA <1000sq.m >1000sq.m  = TS 
>2500sq.m = TA 

>2500sq.m 

Restaurants 
and Café (A3) 

GFA <300sq.m >300sq.m =TS 
>2500sq.m = TA 

>2500sq.m 

Drinking 
Establishmen
ts (A4) 

GFA <300sq.m >300sq.m =TS 
>600sq.m = TA 

>600sq.m 

Hot food 
Takeaway 
(A5) 

GFA <250sq.m >250sq.m = TS 
>500sq.m = TA 

>500sq.m 

Business (B1) GFA <1500sq.m >1500sq.m = TS 
>2500sq.m = TA 

>2500sq.m 

 

Threshold – Requirement for Full or Outline planning applications as 
follows: 

 Sequential Assessment for all main town centre development (retail, 
office, leisure and hotel) in an edge of centre or out of centre location 
where it is not in accordance with an up to date development plan 
document 

 Impact Assessment for all retail and leisure developments above 
2,500 sq,m gross floorspace in an edge of centre or out of centre 
location  where it is not in accordance with an up to date 
development plan policy 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

27 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Required by Policy L4 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the NPPF 

A TP is a package of measures produced by developers/employers to encourage 
staff to use alternatives to single-occupancy car-use whilst a TA is a comprehensive 
and systematic process that sets out any transport issues relating to the proposed 
development. This document should identify what measures will be taken to deal with 
the anticipated transport impacts of the scheme and to improve accessibility and 
safety for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, 
cycling and public transport.  In some cases, the transport issues arising out of 
development proposals may not require a full TA and in these instances, a simplified 
report in the form of a TS will be required.  If a TA is required, this should consider 
the level of traffic to be generated and its potential impact on existing highways and 
identify any necessary mitigation measures. It should also demonstrate that the 
development has made adequate provision for access by walking and cycling and 
has considered links to public transport and any necessary public transport 
improvements. 

 

Cont’d 

General 
Industrial (B2) 

GFA <2500sq.m >2500sq.m =TS 
>4000sq.m =TA 

>4000sq.m 

Storage or 
Distribution 
(B8) 

GFA <3000sq.m >3000sq.m =TS 
>5000sq.m =TA 

>5000sq.m 

Hotels (C1)  
 

Beds <75 beds >75beds =TS 
>100 beds =TA 

>100 beds 

Residential 
Institutions 
(C2) –
Hospitals, 
nursing 
homes 

Beds <30 beds >30 beds = TS 
>50 beds =TA 

>50 beds 

Residential 
Institutions 
(C2) – 
Education 

Students <50 
students 

>50 students =TS 
>150 students = 
TA 

>150 students 

Residential 
Institutions 
(C2) – 
institutional 
hostels 

Residents <250 
residents 

>250 residents 
=TS 
>400 residents 
=TA 

>400 
residents 

Dwelling 
Houses (C3) 

Dwelling 
Unit 

<50 units >50 units =TS 
>80 units =TA 

>80 units 

Non 
residential 
Institutions 
(D1)  

GFA <500sq.m >500sq.m =TS 
>1000sq.m =TA 

>1000sq.m 

Assembly 
and leisure 
(D2) 

GFA <500sq.m >500sq.m =TS 
>1500sq.m =TA 

>1500sq.m 

Others  
 

To be 
discussed 

Discuss 
with 
appropriate 
highway 
authority 
 

Discuss with 
appropriate 
highway 
authority 
 

Discuss with 
appropriate 
highway 
authority 

Table based on DfT :Guidance on Transport Assessment 
GFA – Gross Floor Area 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

28 SEPTEMBER  2018 

If you would like to discuss the scope of a required TA, TS or TP, please contact the 
Council’s Highway Department at traffordtrafficlhaconsultations@amey.co.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
Relevant details (e.g. numbers of staff / pupils / bedrooms / amount of floorspace 
etc.) will be required to allow the proposals to be properly assessed against the 
Council’s car, cycle and motorcycle parking standards. These are contained within 
SPD3: Parking Standards and Design, which is available on the Council’s website. 
 

20. TREE SURVEY  
 

Required by Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy 

 
Information will be required on which trees are to be retained and on the means of 
protecting these trees during construction. This information should be prepared by a 
suitably qualified and experienced arboriculturist. Full guidance on the survey 
information, protection plan and method statement that should be provided with the 
application is set out in the current BS5837 ‘Trees in relation to construction’. 
 

21. TREES – APPLICATION FOR TREE WORKS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The following must be provided: 
 
Completed and dated application form, with all [mandatory] questions answered 
Sketch plan showing the location of all tree(s): - 
 
A full and clear specification of the works to be carried out 
Statement of reasons for the proposed work; and 
Evidence in support of statement of reasons, where required by the standard 
application form. 
 
For works to trees in conservation areas, it is important to supply precise and 
detailed information on your proposal. You may, therefore, wish to provide the 
following: 
Completed and dated form, with all questions answered; 
Sketch plan at scale 1:200 showing the precise location of all tree(s); and 
A full and clear specification of the works to be carried out. 
 
Whether the trees are protected by a TPO or in a conservation area, please indicate 
which of the following types of additional information you are submitting: 

Threshold – Requirement for Full, Outline, Reserved Matters, and Tree 
Preservation Order applications for the following: 
 
Where there are trees within the application site, or on land adjacent to it 
that could influence or be affected by the development (including street 
trees). 

Threshold – Any development that falls below the thresholds set out in the 
box above but generates additional parking demand  
 

Threshold - Applications for tree works: works to trees subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) or notification of proposed works to trees in 
Conservation Areas (CA) 
 

mailto:traffordtrafficlhaconsultations@amey.co.uk


Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

29 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Report by a tree professional (arboriculturist) or other (surveyor or engineer for 
alleged subsidence). 
Details of any assistance or advice sought from a Local Planning Authority officer 
prior to submitting this form 
 

 
 
 
 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

30 SEPTEMBER  2018 

PART THREE – CHECKLIST 

 
The table below provides a quick checklist for the most common types of 
applications.  Where an item may or may not be required (C), please refer to Parts 1  

and 2 above. 

F
u
ll 

P
la

n
n

in
g
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 

O
u

tl
in

e
 P

la
n
n

in
g
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 

R
e

s
e
rv

e
d
 M

a
tt
e

rs
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 

H
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
e
r 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 

L
is

te
d
 B

u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
s
e

n
t 
A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
A

d
v
e
rt

is
e

m
e

n
t 
C

o
n
s
e

n
t 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
P

ri
o

r 
N

o
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o
n

 o
f 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 a
g
ri
c
u

lt
u

ra
l 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

A
p
p

lic
a

ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
L

a
w

fu
l 
D

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

C
e

rt
if
ic

a
te

 (
e
x
is

ti
n

g
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

) 

 

Application Form R R R  R R R R R 

Ownership Certificate R R   R R   R R 

Notice to owner R R   R R   R R 

Fee C C R C   R R R 

Design and Access Statement C C C C R       

Location Plan R R R R R R R R 

Site Layout Plan C C C R C R R C 

Existing and Proposed Elevations C C C R C R R C 

Existing and Proposed Floorplans C C C R C   R C 

Existing and Proposed Site Sections, 
Floor and Site Levels C C C C C   C C 

Roof Plans C C C C C   C C 

Streetscene elevations C C C C C  C C 

Affordable Housing Statement C C             

Air Quality Assessment C C             

Carbon Budget Statement C C             

Crime Prevention Plan C C             

Ecological and Biodiversity Survey C C   C         

Employment Land Assessment C C             

Environmental Impact Assessment C C C           

Flood Risk Assessment C C   C         

Green Belt Impact Statement C C   C         

Heritage Assessment C C C C R C C   

Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment C C C      

Noise Assessment C C             

Open Space Assessment C C             

Planning Obligations Draft Heads of 
Terms C C             

Viability Assessment C C       

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Question Form  C C  R     

Town Centre Statement C C             

Statement of Community Involvement C C C           

Summary Report C C C           

Telecommunications Supporting C               



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

31 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Information 

TA/TS/TP C C             

Tree Survey C C C C C   C   

 
R – Required;    C – Conditional see Parts 1 and 2 above;     -Not Required  

    

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
p

ri
o
r 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o
n

 f
o
r 

T
e
le

c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 o

p
e
ra

to
rs

 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
P

ri
o

r 
N

o
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o
n

 f
o
r 

D
e
m

o
lit

io
n

 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
H

e
d
g

e
ro

w
 R

e
m

o
v
a

l 
N

o
ti
c
e
 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
T

re
e
 W

o
rk

s
: 
W

o
rk

s
 t
o

 T
re

e
s
 

S
u

b
je

c
t 

to
 a

 T
re

e
 P

re
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 O
rd

e
r 

(T
P

O
) 

o
r 

N
o

ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
P

ro
p
o
s
e

d
 W

o
rk

s
 t

o
 T

re
e
s
 i
n

 

C
o

n
s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
 A

re
a
s
  

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

s
 f

o
r 

re
m

o
v
a
l 
o

r 
v
a
ri
a

ti
o
n

 o
f 

a
 

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 g

ra
n

t 
o

f 
p

la
n
n

in
g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 

D
is

c
h

a
rg

e
 o

f 
c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 g

ra
n

t 
o

f 
p

la
n
n

in
g
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

 f
o

r 
n

o
n

 m
a

te
ri
a

l 
a

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
t 
to

 

e
x
is

ti
n

g
 p

la
n
n

in
g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
  

 

Application Form R R R  R R R R 

Ownership Certificate R R R       R 

Notice to owner R R R       R 

Agricultural Certificate R R R       R 

Fee R R R R R R R 

Design and Access Statement C             

Location Plan R R R R R C C 

Site Layout Plan R R R R C C C 

Existing and Proposed Elevations C       C C C 

Existing and Proposed Floorplans C       C C C 

Existing and Proposed Site Sections, 
Floor and Site Levels   C C C C C C 

Roof Plans         C C C 

Streetscene elevations C C   C C C 

Affordable Housing Statement         C C   

Air Quality Assessment         C C   

Carbon Budget Statement           C   

Crime Prevention Plan         C C   

Ecological and Biodiversity Survey         C C   

Employment Land Assessment         C C   

Environmental Impact Assessment         C C   

Flood Risk Assessment         C C   

Green Belt Impact Statement C       C C   

Heritage Assessment 
 C C C C C C   

Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment     C   

Noise Assessment         C C   

Open Space Assessment         C C   

Planning Obligations Draft Heads of 
Terms         C C   

 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

32 SEPTEMBER  2018 

Viability Assessment     C   

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Question Form        

Town Centre Statement         C C   

Statement of Community Involvement         C     

Summary Report         C     

Telecommunications Supporting 
Information R       C     

TA/TS/TP         C C   

Tree Survey C   C R C C   

 
R – Required;    C – Conditional see relevant section above;   -Not Required 
 
 
 

 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

33 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL APPLICATION VALIDATION CHECKLIST: SEPTEMBER 2018  
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
GUIDANCE FOR THE PRODUCTION OF A VIABILITY APPRAISAL 
 
 

Viability Method  The production of appraisals and evidence is wholly the applicant’s responsibility. It is not the Local Planning 
Authority’s role to produce evidence and their own appraisal, but to assess the evidence and appraisals 
produced by the applicant and determine whether the information provided is sufficiently robust and evidence 
based to be able to come to a conclusion on the financial viability of the scheme and whether on that basis 
the scheme can provide a policy compliant level of planning obligations. 

 As set out in the RICS guidance it is the role of the advisor, working on behalf of the applicant, to analyse the 
development appraisal produced by the applicant and form a judgement on viability. A viability appraisal 
presented as part of a planning application will only be accepted by the Local Planning Authority if the inputs 
and outputs of that appraisal are those generated by the applicant. 

 The RICS guidance is clear that the ‘residual’ method should be used in viability appraisals. The output of the 
residual method should be the Residual Land Value, after all costs and a predetermined profit margin are 
deducted from the Gross Development Value.  

 The applicant should provide a minimum of two appraisals. One should demonstrate the outputs from a fully-
policy compliant scheme and one should represent the applicant’s position on submission. . This will enable 
the LPA to calculate the impact planning obligations would have on the Residual Land Value and profit 
generated. 

 The viability appraisals should be presented in an industry standard appraisal format including a summary 
page and supporting cash flow. 

 All inputs and assumptions used in the viability appraisal should be evidenced and justified on a scheme 
specific basis. 

Profit Margin  Profit Margin is a risk adjusted return as stated in the RICS guidance: “A ‘Competitive Return’ in the context 
of a developer bringing forward development should be in accordance with a ‘market risk adjusted return’ to 
the developer in viably delivering a project.” (pg. 43). 

 Guidance is clear that the onus is on the applicant to identify an appropriate profit margin for the scheme 
they are promoting on a site by site basis. Only in the event that the profit margin falls below a site specific 
‘benchmark’ is a viability challenge deemed appropriate.   



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

34 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 This will be determined through the applicant making their case for the appropriate margin they should 
receive having regard to the development’s risk profile, including their intention regarding sales. The 
applicant should submit their case including the full development risk profile with evidence and justification 
for why their profit margin is appropriate.  

Land Value  A benchmark land value reflecting Development Plan Polices should be established in order to assess 
whether the Residual Land Value is below market expectations for comparable schemes. 

 The new PPG is clear in how this benchmark land value should be estimated. The methodology approach 
suggested by the PPG combines the existing use value (EUV), plus a premium for the landowner (EUV+) 
with the RICS guidance approach of comparable method but the value (and comparables) have regard to 
development plan policies. 

 The new PPG states that the new benchmark land value should: 
o “be based upon existing use value 
o allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those building their own homes) 
o be informed by market evidence including current uses, costs and values wherever possible. Where 

recent market evidence is used to inform assessment of benchmark land value this evidence should 
be based on developments which are complaint with policies, including affordable housing. Where 
this evidence is not available plan makers and applicants should identify and evidence any 
adjustments to reflect the cost of policy compliance. This is so that historic benchmark land values of 
non-policy compliant developments are not used to inflate values over time” (Para: 014 Reference ID: 
01-014-20180724). 

 The new PPG is also clear that “where viability assessment is used to inform decision making under no 
circumstances will the price paid for land be a relevant justification for failing to accord with relevant policies 
in the plan. Local authorities can request data on the price paid for land (or the price expected to be paid 
through an option agreement).” (Para: 014 Reference ID: 01-014-20180724). 

 The new PPG is clear how benchmark land values should be assessed, and this assessment also reflects 
the RICS guidance that the land value should have regard to development plan policies. 

 The applicant should be requested to provide the land acquisition price or price expected to be paid through 
an option as well as purchasers costs including legal fees and agent fees. This should all be evidenced. 

 Each land asset should be treated on its merits. For example if a commercial site is being brought forward for 
development via change of use then the particular circumstances of the site need to be considered. If the 
long term owner and developer of a site are one and the same then all outputs from the appraisal exercise; 
land value and profit will be regarded as ‘return’.   

GDV – Sales 
Values 

 Detailed comparable evidence should be provided with justification for the predicted Sales Values. 

 The comparable evidence should be from projects that compare with the subject development in terms of 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

35 SEPTEMBER  2018 

location, quality and age of the product. 

 If there is a lack of new-build comparable evidence, second-hand comparables can be used, though it should 
be noted that there is a premium in Sale Values with new-builds. 

 Comparables should include the price per square foot and date of sale/asking price. 

 A schedule of unit sizes and estimated Sale Values should accompany the viability case. 

 Estate agent (those appointed by the Developer to market and sell the new homes) estimations are not 
independent and will not be accepted as evidence, unless they are supported with detailed comparable 
evidence with narrative. 

GDV – Ground 
Rent 

 An allowance for the Investment Value attributed to the income from the ground rent should be included in 
the viability appraisals. 

 The yields and ground rent levels should be supported by detailed evidence and comparable evidence. 
 

GDV – Commercial 
Investment Value 

 Detailed comparable evidence should be provided with justification for the predicted rents and yields 

 The comparable evidence should be for projects that compare with the subject development in terms of 
location, quality and age of the product 

 If there is a lack of new-build comparable evidence, second-hand comparables can be used, though it should 
be noted that there is a premium in rents and yields with new-builds. 

 Comparable evidence should include the annual rental value per square foot and date of investment sale or 
rent review. 

 All assumptions made when valuing the investment should be listed and justified with evidence. 
Affordable Houses  The assumption should be that all Affordable Houses are sold to a Registered Provider (RP) at a discount to 

Open Market Value (OMV) unless an alternative policy compliant mechanism, considered appropriate by the 
LPA is identified and fully evidenced in the appraisal.  

 Intermediate product should be valued at around 60 - 70% OMV. 

 Affordable Rent should be valued at 60% OMV. 

 Social Rent should be valued at 50% OMV. 

 The assumption should be that Affordable Houses are transferred to a RP at point of completion of the 
dwelling, this should be reflected in the cash flow. 

 The profit margin on the affordable element should be lower than the market element due to these units 
being pre-sold which results in reducing the risk associated with the product. A profit margin of 6% for 
affordable housing product has been considered appropriate in a number of recent Inspector’s decisions.  

Build Costs  Build Cost Rate should be evidenced and benchmarked by comparable schemes and widely recognised 
databases such as BCIS. For the avoidance of doubt BCIS does include for Preliminaries and Overhead and 
Profit. 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

36 SEPTEMBER  2018 

 If the Build Cost Rate is at the upper end of the comparable schemes, a detailed justification is required, . 

 A detailed cost plan should be produced by the applicant to support their viability case including Preliminary 
costs and Overheads and Profit referenced as percentages. 

Abnormals  Abnormal costs are those that the developer perceives to be in addition to ‘normal’ costs that would be 
expected to be incurred in the delivery of development. The Abnormal element will be a treatment over and 
above standard, primarily to deal with difficult ground conditions. 

 Detailed evidence and justification should be provided as to why the identified Abnormal costs are needed 
including any site investigation reports. 

Finance Cost  A cash flow, showing spend and revenue received, should be submitted by the applicant. 

 The applicant should also state and justify the build period and sale period for the scheme, including the 
estimated percentage of pre-sales. 

 The applicant is required to evidence and justify the finance rate used. 

 The applicant should also provide a debt profile, explaining where the capital is sourced to fund the 
development. 

Professional fees  A detailed list of appointments and fees is required with detailed justification. 

 Professional appointments and agreed fees to be included, with supporting evidence. 

 Professional fees should also be stated as a percentage of total build cost. 
Sales & Marketing 
& Legal Fees 

 Sales, Marketing and Legal Fees should only be applied to any market housing element of the scheme. 

 A detailed list of appointments and fees is required. 

 A breakdown of Sales, Marketing and Legal Fees per property should be produced. 

  
Projection Model  If a development cannot fund its planning obligations due to viability, then the LPA will enter into an overage 

with the developer based on a Projection Model. 

 A Projection Model will be used to capture the ‘super profit’1 as outlined in the RICS guidance note, in section 
3.6.5 and Box 17 ‘Validity of projection models for capturing future market growth’: 

 “Projection (growth) models are an alternative to current day and reappraisal approaches for assessing the 
viability of a site. A ‘looking forward’ approach for the LPA and applicant can provide certainty in terms of 
defining planning obligations for both at the time of granting a planning permission.” (Financial Viability in 
Planning, RICS, Box 17, pg. 22). 

 The relevance of the Projection Model is to pick up any enhanced sale value from the schemes units in the 
form of a clawback once all costs have been fixed. This would capture any ‘super profit’ generated from the 

                                                           
1
 ‘Super profit’ is any additional value from the sale of apartments that generate an outturn that is greater that the predicted Sales Values in the applicant’s  viability 

assessment. 



Trafford Council  Application Validation Checklist  

37 SEPTEMBER  2018 

sale of the units which are above and beyond the stated sale prices estimated by the developer. 100% of this 
‘super profit’ would be used to fund any outstanding affordable housing and S106 contributions to the point 
that the development meets its planning policy requirements.  After this, all ‘super profit’ would go to the 
developer. 

  
 

 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 81115/O/13 
 86755/RES/15 
WARD: ALTRINCHAM 90432/RES/17 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 – SECTION 247 

PROPOSED STOPPING UP OF HIGHWAY AT THOMAS STREET AND 
ADJOINING FOOTWAY, OAKFIELD ROAD CAR PARK, ALTRINCHAM WA15 
8EP 

OS GRID REFERENCE:  E:377082 N:387914 and E:377082, N:387890 

Highway proposed to be stopped up under S247 of the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990 to enable development to be carried out in accordance with planning 
permission applied for under references 81115/O/13, 86755/RES/15 and 
90432/RES/17 which have been granted. 

APPLICANT:   Nikal Limited 

RECOMMENDATION:  THAT NO OBJECTION BE RAISED 

SITE 

Development proposal by Nikal Limited on land at Thomas Street and the whole of 
Oakfield Road Car Park, Altrincham WA15 8EP. 

 

PROPOSAL 

The Department for Transport has advised the Council (the Local Highway Authority 
for the area of highway referred to and therefore a statutory consultee) of an 
application made to the Secretary of State for Transport under S247 of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 to stop up an area of highway in Altrincham described 
below in the Schedule and shown on the applicant’s plan (copy attached ref 
NATTRAN/NW/S247/3382). 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

The stopping up, if approved, will be authorised only to enable the development to 
be carried out in accordance with the planning permission granted to the Council 
under reference 81115/O/13, 86755/RES/15 and 90432/RES/17. 

 

THE SCHEDULE 

Description of highways to be stopped up: The whole of Thomas Street and the 
whole of Oakfield Road Car Park. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The recommendation is that the Committee raise no objection to this application for 
stopping up the areas of highway described in the Schedule and shown on the 
attached plan. 

Agenda Item 6



Background Papers: 

Public Notice 

Draft Order 

NATTRAN/NW/S247/3382 



A

1

A

2

A

3

B

1

B

2

B

3

B

4

O
a
k
f
i
e
l
d
 
R

o
a
d

T

h

o

m

a

s
 
S

t
r
e

e

t

A1

A2

A3

B1

B2

B3

B4

O

a

k

f
i
e

l
d

 
R

o

a

d

T

h

o

m

a

s

 

S

t

r

e

e

t

DRAWING NUMBER:

SCALES:

DRAWN: CHECKED:

REVISION:

DATE:

DRAWING TITLE:

PROJECT:

CLIENT:

REV. DETAILS DRAWN DATECHECKED

Notes:

NOTE: THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN VECTOS (NORTH) LTD.

IT MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

HF

VN80999-100 B

As Shown
RW 10.04.18

A Extent of adoption amended HF RW 26.04.18

Nikal

Altair, Altrincham

Thomas Street Stopping Up Order:
Area to be Stopped Up

1.
2.

This is not a construction drawing and is intended for illustrative purposes only.
White lining is indicative only.

transport planning specialists

4th Floor Oxford Place, 61 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6EQ

0161 228 1008 e: manchester@vectos.co.uk

1:500 at A3

1:2500 at A3

B
Amendments following DfT comments
rec'd via email 26/06/18 NM RW 03.07.18

Highway to be Stopped Up

Existing Highway to be Improved

New Footpath to be Provided

Legend:-

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Altrincham Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Altrincham Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Sports Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Metrolink

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
Metrolink

PHARRISO
Text Box

PHARRISO_1
Text Box

PHARRISO_2
Text Box

PHARRISO_3
Text Box

PHARRISO_4
Placed Image

PHARRISO_5
Placed Image

PHARRISO_6
Text Box



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	4 APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC
	Agenda Item 4 - Applications for permission to develop etc
	93960D
	93960P
	94004D
	94004P
	94048D
	94048P
	94049D
	94049P
	94128D
	94128P
	94206D
	94206P
	94601D
	94601P
	94632D
	94632P


	5 REVISION OF APPLICATION VALIDATION CHECKLIST
	Agenda Item 5 - Appendix - Application Validation Checklist

	6 PROPOSED STOPPING UP OF HIGHWAY AT THOMAS STREET AND ADJOINING FOOTWAY, OAKFIELD ROAD CAR PARK, ALTRINCHAM WA15 8EP
	Agenda Item 6 - Proposed Stopping Up Plan
	Sheets and Views
	D100 General Arrangement






